

UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones

5-1-2015

# Beryllium is a potent and unique GSK-3 $\beta$ inhibitor with potential to differentially regulate glycogen synthase and $\beta$ -catenin

Ata Ur Rahman Mohammed Abdul University of Nevada, Las Vegas, rahmanm5@unlv.nevada.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations

Part of the Biochemistry Commons, and the Chemistry Commons

#### **Repository Citation**

Mohammed Abdul, Ata Ur Rahman, "Beryllium is a potent and unique GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor with potential to differentially regulate glycogen synthase and  $\beta$ -catenin" (2015). UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones. 2391.

https://digitalscholarship.unlv.edu/thesesdissertations/2391

This Dissertation is protected by copyright and/or related rights. It has been brought to you by Digital Scholarship@UNLV with permission from the rights-holder(s). You are free to use this Dissertation in any way that is permitted by the copyright and related rights legislation that applies to your use. For other uses you need to obtain permission from the rights-holder(s) directly, unless additional rights are indicated by a Creative Commons license in the record and/or on the work itself.

This Dissertation has been accepted for inclusion in UNLV Theses, Dissertations, Professional Papers, and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Digital Scholarship@UNLV. For more information, please contact digitalscholarship@unlv.edu.

## BERYLLIUM IS A POTENT AND UNIQUE GSK-3β INHIBITOR WITH POTENTIAL TO DIFFERENTIALLY REGULATE GLYCOGEN SYNTHASE AND β-CATENIN

By

Ata Ur Rahman Mohammed Abdul

Bachelor of Science in Microbiology, Botany and Chemistry

Kakatiya University

2001

Master of Science in Biotechnology University College of Sciences Osmania University

2004

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Doctor of Philosophy - Chemistry

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry

**College of Sciences** 

The Graduate College

University of Nevada, Las Vegas May 2015



We recommend the dissertation prepared under our supervision by

### Ata Ur Rahman Mohammed Abdul

entitled

## Beryllium Is a Potent and Unique GSK-3 $\beta$ Inhibitor with Potential to Differentially Regulate Glycogen Synthase and $\beta$ -catenin

is approved in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

## **Doctor of Philosophy - Chemistry**

Department of Chemistry

Ronald K. Gary, Ph.D., Committee Chair Ernesto Abel-Santos, Ph.D., Committee Member Bryan L. Spangelo, Ph.D., Committee Member Balakrishnan Naduvalath, Ph.D., Committee Member Helen J. Wing, Ph.D., Graduate College Representative Kathryn Hausbeck Korgan, Ph.D., Interim Dean of the Graduate College

May 2015

#### ABSTRACT

## Beryllium is a potent and unique GSK-3β inhibitor with potential to differentially regulate glycogen synthase and β-catenin

By

Ata Ur Rahman Mohammed Abdul

Dr. Ronald K Gary Examination Committee Chair Associate Professor Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry University of Nevada, Las Vegas

Glycogen Synthase Kinase-3 $\beta$  (GSK-3 $\beta$ ) is an important serine/threonine kinase that phosphorylates/regulates diverse and metabolically important proteins. Some of the important substrates of GSK-3 $\beta$  are glycogen synthase, tau,  $\beta$ -catenin, cyclin D1, axin, c-jun, c-myc, Heat Shock Factor–1, BCL-3, CREB, Histone H1.5, mdm2, p21 (CIP1), pyruvate dehydrogenase and many more. De-regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  has been implicated in diseases like cancer, Alzheimer's disease, bipolar disorder and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Currently, GSK-3 $\beta$  is one of the most widely studied proteins and there is a great interest in developing potent and efficient GSK-3 $\beta$ inhibitors for research as well as therapeutic purposes. We demonstrate that beryllium in the form of BeSO<sub>4</sub> salt is a much more potent GSK-3 $\beta$ -inhibitor compared to LiCl.

We observed that one of the unique properties of beryllium is its modus operandi to regulate the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in a cell type specific manner. Our study for the first time validates the potential of beryllium to function as a biologically relevant GSK-3 $\beta$ - inhibitor. Beryllium induces a decrease in the phosphorylation of glycogen synthase in cultured NIH/3T3 cells. This decrease in phosphorylated form of glycogen synthase demonstrates the ability of beryllium to inhibit GSK-3 $\beta$ 's kinase activity in treated cells. One of the most important substrates in relation to GSK-3 $\beta$ 's inhibition is  $\beta$ -catenin – one of the downstream effector molecules of the Wnt signaling pathway. Our results in NIH/3T3 and A172 cells indicate that beryllium has minimal effect on Wnt signaling/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway compared to other established GSK-3 $\beta$ -inhibitors. The minimal effect of beryllium at physiologically effective concentrations on Wnt signaling/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway indicates that it could be a more pathway specific inhibitor. One of the most intriguing discoveries of our study has been the lithium induced increase in the phosphorylated form of  $\beta$ -catenin, which is against the "accepted dogma". Here we propose an alternative model explaining the regulation of the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway by lithium.

Use of GSK-3 $\beta$ -inhibitors for therapeutic purposes presents the risk of inducing cancer in patients due to accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin, an oncogene activator. The unique ability of beryllium to repress the kinase activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  without inducing a heavy nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin might provide an opportunity to develop a potentially potent, efficient, pathway-specific and biologically active GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor with minimal adverse effects.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I moved to Las Vegas in September of 2008 and since then many people have helped and influenced me in different ways.

First and foremost I would like to thank Dr. Ronald K Gary, my advisor for not only teaching me how to do research but also inculcating a thought process in me. He has been an extremely patient mentor who gave me all the freedom to do what I wanted to do.

I would like to thank my Ph.D committee members; Dr. Bryan L Spangelo, Dr. Ernesto Abel-Santos, Dr. Balakrishnan Naduvalath and Dr. Helen Wing for their support and time. I would like to thank (late) Dr. Dennis Lindle, Dr. David Hatchett (Chair, Department of Chemistry) and Dr. Kathleen Robins (graduate co ordinator) for supporting me.

I would like to thank Dr. Priyatham Gorjala for being an amazing colleague. I would like to thank Carlos Atrian and Ekram Yusuf (undergraduate research fellows) for helping me conduct my research. I would like to thank Casey Hall, Shirley Shen from genomics core lab and Sophie Choe from confocal imaging facility.

I have met many amazing people at UNLV and would like to thank them all Chelsea Ross, Padma Priyatham, Swapna Mudireddy, Dr. Van Vo, Surbhi Sharma, Rohit Asuri, Kamal Kaiser, Gaurav Kovvori, Kranthi Kumar, Nagur, Amit Sharma, Spandana, Hassan Rizvi and many more.

I would like to thank my family for their unflinching support.

Finally I would like to thank my wife Tabassum Fatima for understanding and accommodating me. It would have been extremely difficult for me to carry on with my graduate studies without her support.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

### Page

ABSTRACTiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv
LIST OF TABLESxii
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURESxvi
LIST OF SCHEMATIC DIAGRAMSxvii
CHAPTER 1 OVERVIEW
Research purpose
Research questions
CHAPTER 2 GSK-3β: An important Ser/Thr kinase
GSK-3 family5
$GSK-3\beta - A$ brief introduction
GSK-3β and the Wnt signaling12
GSK-3β and its role in insulin signaling15
GSK-3β and the Hedgehog pathway15
GSK-3β and diseases16
Alzheimer's disease16
Insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus type 217
Cancer17
Regulation of GSK-3β18
Inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β18
Regulation of GSK-3β by protein complex formation
Competitive inhibition
GSK-3β inhibitors21

Lithium – an efficient GSK-3β inhibitor	22
GSK-3β: A therapeutic target	25
Beryllium: An unsung anti-hero	26
The route of beryllium administration plays a critical role in inducing its toxic effects	27
CHAPTER 3 Dose Response Curve – survey of different cell lines to analyze their sensitivity towards BeSO <sub>4</sub>	30
Introduction	30
Materials and methods	31
Cell lines	31
Cell culture media	31
Dose response curve – cell counting	31
Data analysis	32
Results	32
Discussion	37
CHAPTER 4 Beryllium a potent GSK-3β inhibitor	40
Introduction	40
Materials and methods	42
Cell culture	42
Cell viability assay	42
FRET-based assay for analyzing in vitro kinase activity of enzymes	43
Western blotting	45
Antibody information	46
TR-FRET assay for quantifying pSer-9 of GSK-3β	47
Flow cytometry	48
Microscopy	49
Data analysis	49

Results	49
BeSO <sub>4</sub> inhibits the kinase activity of purified recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$ in vitro	49
Specificity of Be <sup>2+</sup> towards other kinases	53
Effect of Be <sup>2+</sup> and Li <sup>+</sup> on the viability of cells	56
Beryllium has little effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$	60
Quantitative analysis of the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$	62
Discussion	69
CHAPTER 5 Differential regulation of glycogen synthase and $\beta$ -catenin by beryllium: a uniquinhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$	<sub>l</sub> ue 74
Introduction	74
Materials and methods	79
Cell culture	79
Serum starvation	79
Salt treatment	79
Small molecule inhibitors of GSK-3β	80
Western blotting	80
Fractionation of cytoplasmic and nuclei proteins	81
Antibodies	82
Secondary antibodies for flow cytometry and immunofluorescence experiments.	84
Stable nuclei isolation from mammalian cells for flow analysis	84
Immunofluorescence microscopy	85
p53 knock down using stealth RNAi in A172 cells	86
p53 knock down using shRNA(h) lenti viral particles in A172 cells	87
Addgene clone transfection	87
Results	88
2	

<ul> <li>A. Beryllium does not cause an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK- 3β in A172 (Human glioblastoma) and U87MG cells (Human glioblastoma astrocytoma)</li></ul>
<ul> <li>B. Beryllium induces an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β in NIH/3T3 (murine fibroblast) and Caki-1(human kidney carcinoma) cells 92</li> </ul>
Different GSK-3 inhibitors induce an identical or matching effect on the phosphorylation status of GSK-3β, whereas beryllium's effect on Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β is cell type specific
Induction of Ser-9 phosphorylation on GSK-3 $\beta$ by BeSO <sub>4</sub> is not random salt
effect
Investigating the credentials of beryllium as a biologically active GSK-3 $\beta$
inhibitor
Be <sup>2+</sup> induced downregulation in the phosphorylated form of glycogen synthase
enzyme validates its intracellular effect
Selecting the best cell line for glycogen synthase studies
Effect of Be <sup>2+</sup> on pGS in murine fibroblasts (NIH/3T3 cells) 106
Closely spaced pGS bands in murine fibroblasts samples
Beryllium has little effect on the Wnt signaling pathway compared to other GSK-3β inhibitors
Compared to $Li^+$ , $Be^{2+}$ -treatment induces negligible nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin in NIH/3T3 cells
Be <sup>2+</sup> induces minimal nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin in A172 and A172 cells over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$
Nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin in stable nuclei isolated from A172 cells – A flow cytometric approach
Be <sup>2+</sup> treatment did not have a profound effect like $Li^+$ on the nuclear localization of $\beta$ - catenin
Be <sup>+</sup> treatment failed to induce clear nuclear translocation of β-catenin in A172, U87MG, Caki-1 and NIH/3T3 cells
Beryllium has no effect on the stability of axin – a possible mechanism for the inabilit
of beryllium to induce nuclear localization of β-catenin
Activation of p53 could be responsible for down regulating nuclear localization of
β-catenin132

	Down regulation of p53 expression upregulates nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin 134
	p53 "knock down" using RNAi and its effect on the nuclear localization of
	β-catenin134
	p53 knock down using shRNA – Lentiviral vector system
	p53 knock down using shRNA and its effect on the nuclear localization of
	β-catenin
	Down regulation of endogenous p53 using the HPV E6 protein
	Beryllium and lithium have contrasting effects on the phosphorylation status of β- catenin
	MG132 - a proteasome inhibitor, leads to accumulation of phospho β-catenin in A172 cells
	Down regulation of p53 has no effect on phospho-β-catenin
	Beryllium in combination with MG132 (a proteasome inhibitor) induces an increase in the phospho-β-catenin levels in p53 KO A172 cells
D	Discussion

CHAPTER 6 Beryllium could be involved in the regulation of BTG2, DDB2 and FAM III B	
gene products	8
Introduction16	8
Materials and methods16	8
Cell culture	8
Beryllium treatment16	8
Real time PCR	9
IR treatment	0
Statistical analysis	0
Results17	0
Discussion17	7
CHAPTER 7 RESEARCH SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	8
Summary	8

CHA	PTER 8 Alternate hypothesis – possible mechanism of Be <sup>2+</sup> transport into the cells	182
	Calcium ion	182
	Magnesium ion	184

## APPENDIX I Statistical Analysis

In vitro kinase activity of pure recombinant GSK-3β	198
In vitro kinase activity of pure recombinant PKA	199
Validation of the z-lyte assay using PKA inhibitor H89	200
TR-FRET assay to quantify the pSer9-GSK-3β signal	201
Flow analysis of nuclear β-catenin in stable nuclei	202
Flow analysis of nuclear p53 in stable nuclei	203
APPENDIX II Physiologically relevant concentration of lithium is more cytotoxic to cells compared to beryllium at 24 hr	204
APPENDIX III Quatitative analysis of Ser-9 phsophorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ in A172 cells culture in the presence of BeSO <sub>4</sub> or LiCl at 48 hr	ed 211
APPENDIX IV Measuring beryllium induced up regulation of p53 expression using nuclei flow Analysis	w 215
APPENDIX V Validation of A172 cells over expressing wild type GSK-3β, GSK-3β S9A and GSK-3β K85A	217
APPENDIX VI DRC analysis to investigate the effect of SB216763 on NIH/3T3, A172 and Ca 1 cells	aki- 220
APPENDIX VII Quantification of pGS bands from fig 15a	223
APPENDIX VIII Quantification of pGS bands from fig 16	225
APPENDIX IX Expression of glycogen synthase isoforms in NIH/3T3 cells	228
APPENDIX X Validation of FRET based kinase assay	230
REFERENCES	232
CURRICULUM VITAE	258

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1a. Important events in the field of GSK-3 research from 1963 to 1993	6
Table 1b. Important events in the field of GSK-3 research from 1994 to 2014	7
Table 2a. Proposed GSK-3β substrates	9
Table 2b. Proposed GSK-3β substrates	10
Table 3a. List of GSK-3β inhibitors	23
Table 3b. List of GSK-3β inhibitors	24
Table 4. IC <sub>50</sub> values of BeSO <sub>4</sub> for different cell lines	36
Table 5. General information about cell lines used in this study (www.atcc.org)	39
Table 6. Analysis of mean fluorescence/cell (Ser-9 phosphorylation) at 24 hr	65
Table 7. Effect of GSK-3 $\beta$ inhibitors and CaCl <sub>2</sub> salt on the Ser-9 phosphorylation status of	
GSK-3β	100
Table 8. Ionic radii of bivalent ions	185
Table 9. In vitro kinase activity of purified recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$	198
Table 10. In vitro kinase activity of pure recombinant PKA	199
Table 11 Validation of the z-lyte assay using PKA inhibitor H89	200
Table 12. TR-FRET assay to quantify the pSer9-GSK-3β signal	201
Table 13. Flow analysis of nuclear β-catenin in stable nuclei	202
Table 14. Flow analysis of nuclear p53 in stable nuclei	203

## LIST OF FIGURES

Fig. 1a Day 3 dose response curve	3
Fig. 1b Day 6 dose response curve	\$4
Fig. 1c Day 9 dose response curve	35
Fig. 2a Effect of beryllium on the in vitro kinase activity of GSK-3β5	51
Fig. 2b Effect of lithium on the in vitro kinase activity of GSK-3β5	52
Fig. 3a Effect of Be <sup>2+</sup> on the in vitro kinase activity of protein kinsae A5	54
Fig. 3b Effect of Li <sup>+</sup> on the in vitro kinase activity of protein kinsae A (PKA)	55
Fig. 4a Effect of BeSO <sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells viability at 24 hr	57
Fig. 4b Effect of BeSO <sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells viability at 48 hr	58
Fig. 4c Effect of BeSO <sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells viability at 72 hr	59
Fig. 5 Li <sup>+</sup> treatment caused an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ and Be <sup>2+</sup>	
does not6	51
Fig. 6a Analyzing the effect of $Be^{2+}$ treatment on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ using flow cytometry	53
Fig. 6b Analyzing the effect of $Li^+$ treatment on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ using flow cytometry	7 54
Fig. 7a Be <sup>2+</sup> treatment has no effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$ fusion	
protein	57
Fig. 7b $\text{Li}^+$ treatment induces an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$ fusion protein	58
Fig. 8 Beryllium does not cause induction of GSK-3β Ser-9 phosphorylation in A172 cells at 24 hr	90
Fig. 9 Beryllium does not cause induction of GSK-3 $\beta$ Ser-9 phosphorylation in U87MG	
cells	)1
Fig. 10 $Be^{2+}$ induces an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ in NIH/3T3 and Caki-1	1
cells	)3
Fig. 11 Be <sup>2+</sup> treatment induces an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ in NIH/3T3 cells – a flow cytometric approach	95
Fig. 12 Unique effect of beryllium on the Ser-9 phosphorylation status of GSK-3 $\beta$ compared to other established GSK-3 $\beta$ inhibitors and CaCl <sub>2</sub> salt	)9

Fig. 13 Beryllium induced Ser-9 phosphorylation in NIH/3T3 is not random salt effect 102
Fig. 14 Murine fibroblasts are responsive to LiCl induced GS dephosphorylation
Fig. 15a GSK-3β inhibitors and beryllium induce a decrease in the phospho-GS
Fig. 15b phospho-GS band intensity quantification108
Fig. 16a Identification of the correct pGS band in the multiple pGS bands cluster
Fig. 16b Effect of different GSK-3β inhibitors on phospho-GS
Fig. 17a Effect of $Be^{2+}$ on the nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin in NIH/3T3 cells
Fig. 17b The effect of $Be^{2+}$ on nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin in A172 cells
Fig.17c Effect of $Be^{2+}$ on the nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin in A172 cells over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$
Fig. 18 FSC analysis of stable nuclei and formalin fixed A172 cells
Fig. 19a The effect of Be $^{2+}$ on nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin is minimal compared to Li <sup>+</sup> 123
Fig. 19b $Li^+$ has a profound effect on the nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin
Fig. 20 Be <sup>2+</sup> treatment seems to have minimal effect on the nuclear translocation of $\beta$ -catenin. 127
Fig. 21 $Be^{2+}$ had no effect on the stability of the important $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex constituent protein – axin
Fig. 22 Down regulation of p53 expression using RNAi causes nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin
Fig. 23 Down regulation of p53 by the shRNA lentivirus vector
Fig. 24 Down regulation of p53 protein via the shRNA lentivirus vector aids $Be^{2+}$ in inducing nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin
Fig. 25 Effect of down regulated p53 on the β-catenin levels in total cell lysates of U87MG E6 cells
Fig. 26 Effect of down regulated p53 on the $\beta$ -catenin levels in total lysates of A172 E6 cells 143
Fig. 27 Effect of down regulated p53 on the nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin in U87MG E6 cells.
Fig. 28 Effect of down regulated p53 on the nuclear localization of β-catenin in A172 E6 146
Fig. 29 $Be^{2+}$ has no effect on the phosphorylation status of $\beta$ -catenin
Fig. 30 Proteasome inhibitor (MG132) leads to an increase in the phospho $\beta$ -catenin level in Be <sup>2+</sup> treated samples but not in the Li <sup>+</sup> samples
Fig. 31 Down regulation of p53 has no effect on the phospho-β-catenin levels

Fig. 32 Down regulation of p53 coupled with proteasome inhibiton causes accumulation of phospho- $\beta$ -catenin in p53 KO A172 cells	154
Fig. 33 Beryllium at 10 µM concentration caused an increase in p21	172
Fig. 34 Beryllium at 10 $\mu$ M concentration caused a significant decrease in FAM III B mRNA	173
Fig. 35 Beryllium at 10 $\mu$ M concentration caused no significant effect on the DDB2 mRNA	174
Fig. 36 Beryllium at 10 $\mu$ M concentration had no significant effect on the BTG2 mRNA	175
Fig. 37 Beryllium at 10 $\mu$ M concentration has no significant effect on the actin mRNA levels.	176

## LIST OF SUPPLEMENTARY FIGURES

Supplementary figure Ia: Untreated NIH/3T3 cells 1	.86
Supplementary figure Ib: NIH/3T3 cells treated with 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr 1	.87
Supplementary figure Ic: NIH/3T3 cells treated with 20 µM SB216763 for 24 hr 1	.88
Supplementary figure Id: NIH/3T3 cells treated with 100 $\mu$ M BeSO <sub>4</sub> for 24 hr1	.89
Supplementary figure Ie: NIH/3T3 cells induced with 100 nM insulin for 30 – 60 min post serus tarvation	m .90
Supplementary figure IIa: A172 cells untreated 1	.91
Supplementary figure IIb: A172 cells treated with 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr	.92
Supplementary figure IIc: A172 cells treated with 100 $\mu$ M BeSO <sub>4</sub> for 24 hr	.93
Supplementary figure IId: A172 cells treated with 20 µM SB216763 for 24 hr 1	.94
Supplementary figure IIIa: A172 P1B cells untreated 1	.95
Supplementary figure IIIb: A172 P1B cells treated with 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr	.96
Supplementary figure IIIc: A172 P1B cells treated with 100 $\mu$ M BeSO <sub>4</sub> for 24 hr 1	.97

## LIST OF SCHEMATIC DIAGRAMS

Schematic diagram 1: De-regulation of GSK-3β activity towards its substartes has serious consequences
Schematic diagram 2: Dissecting the role of GSK-3β in insulin and Wnt Pathway14
Schematic diagram 3: GSK-3β-TIMAP-PP1 positive feedback loop model proposed by Zhang et al
Schematic diagram 4: Differential regulation/inhibition of GSK-3β by beryllium
Schematic diagram 5: Upregulation of p53 leads to down regulation of $\beta$ -catenin via
miRNA-34
Schematic diagram: Hypothetical model explaining the increase of phospho-β-catenin in the presence of lithium

## LIST OF APPENDIX FIGURES

## APPENDIX II

Fig. 1a Effect of BeSO <sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells cytotoxicity at 24 hr 205
Fig. 1b Effect of BeSO <sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells cytotoxicity at 48 hr 206
Fig.1c Effect of BeSO <sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells cytotoxicity at 72 hr 207
Fig. 2.1 Be <sup>2+</sup> doesn't produce any extreme morphological changes in A172 cells at 24 hr 209
Fig. 2.2 Li <sup>+</sup> treatment leads to extreme morphological changes in A172 cells at 24 hr 210
APPENDIX III
Fig. 1a Flow cytometric analysis of the Be <sup>2+</sup> treatment effect on Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β at 48 hr
Fig. 1b Flow cytometric analysis of the $Li^+$ treatment effect on Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ at 48 hr
APPENDIX IV
Fig. 1 Detection of increase in p53 level after beryllium treatment at 24 hr in A172 cells 216
APPENDIX V
Fig. 1 Western analysis of A172 clones expressing wt GSK-3β and its variants
APPENDIX VI
Fig. 1 Dose response curve of A172, NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells for SB216763
APPENDIX VII
Quantification of phospho-GS bands from fig 15a
APPENDIX VIII
Quantification of pGS bands from fig 16
APPENDIX IX
Expression of glycogen synthase isoforms in NIH/3T3 cells
APPENDIX X
Fig. 1 H-89 inhibits the in vitro kinase activity of PKA but not GSK-3β

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### **OVERVIEW**

#### **Research purpose**

GSK-3β is an important Ser/Thr kinase, which is involved in various physiologically important cellular pathways (Frame and Cohen, 2001; Doble and Woodgett, 2003; Grimes and Jope, 2001). De-regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  is directly linked to the development of different diseases such as type 2 diabetes milletus, Alzhemier's disease and cancer (Grimes and Jope, 2001; Henriksen and Dokken, 2006; Smalley and Dale, 1999; Peifer and Polakis, 2000). There is great deal of interest in understanding the precise role of GSK-3 $\beta$  in the signaling pathways. Inhibitors act as an irreplacable tool to examine the role of an enzyme/protein in different signaling networks. Different categories of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors are available and the most important among them is the small metal cations group. Lithium is a monovalent cation and is the most well characterized metal cation inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  with an IC<sub>50</sub> value of 12 mM (Ryves et al., 2002; Mudireddy et al., 2014). Li<sup>+</sup> is a fairly specific GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor but is physiologically effective only at millimolar concentrations.  $Be^{2+}$  is a divalent cation capable of inhibiting GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ryves et al., 2002). We have used beryllium in the form of BeSO<sub>4</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O and documented some of the different outcomes it induces in mammalian cell cultures in its role as a GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor. Emphasis was laid to understand and validate the effect of beryllium on GSK-3 $\beta$ -substrates or target proteins.

The present study can be summarized as follows:

- Chapter 1 Overview and research questions.
- Chapter 2 A brief introduction and information available about GSK-3β.

- Chapter 3 We have analyzed the effect of beryllium salt on the different mammalian cell lines. This information was used in selecting cell lines that are most suitable for studies involving beryllium. Cell lines that are resistant or too sensitive to beryllium salt were not used for further studies.
- Chapter 4 The effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> on the kinase activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  was analyzed and Be<sup>2+</sup> was found to be a more effective GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor compared to Li<sup>+</sup>. Emphasis was laid on understanding the effect of beryllium on the Ser-9 phosphorylation status of GSK-3 $\beta$ . It is also observed that unlike lithium, beryllium cannot induce a clear increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in certain cell lines.
- Chapter 5 In this study we demonstrate the intra cellular effects of beryllium on GSK-3 $\beta$  substrates like glycogen synthase and  $\beta$ -catenin for the first time ever in cell culture. This study will be helpful in validating the ability of Be<sup>2+</sup> to function as a biologically active GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor.
- Chapter 6 We have used RT-PCR to analyze the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment on the expression of certain genes. Genes which seems to be responding to beryllium were selected for this study depending on the microarray data available in our lab.
- Chapter 7 Research summary and future directions.

#### **Research questions**

Beryllium is a known GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor, which competes for the Mg<sup>2+</sup> and ATP binding sites of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ryves et al., 2002). There is a great dearth of information regarding the role of beryllium as a GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor. This study is an attempt to establish whether Be<sup>2+</sup> is an efficient GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor. Following are few important research questions we tried to address through this study. 1. Is  $Be^{2+}$  a potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor and how well is it tolerated by mammalian cell lines?

Test: Inhibitory effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on the in vitro kinase activity of pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  will be analyzed using a FRET based kinase assay. The cyto toxicity of  $Be^{2+}$  can be examined using a live/dead cell protease assay.

- 2. Is  $Be^{2+}a$  specific GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor?
  - Test: The effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on pure recombinant protein kinase A (PKA a kinase involved in insulin signaling pathway) can be analyzed using a FRET based kinase assay. PKA phosphorylates GSK-3 $\beta$  (Fang et al., 2000; Li et al., 2000; Tanji et al., 2002) suggesting that PKA and GSK-3 $\beta$  work closely to one another. Hence PKA is a suitable candidate to analyze the specificity of beryllium towards other related kinases.
- 3. What is the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ ?

Test: Increase in the phosphorylation of Ser-9 residue on GSK-3 $\beta$  is closely associated with its regulation. The impact of Be<sup>2+</sup> on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  will be investigated using western blotting. The effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  can be quantified by using flow cytometry and TR-FRET based methods.

4. What is the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  treatment on the proteins downstream of GSK-3 $\beta$  (if  $Be^{2+}$  is a potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor)?

Test: GSK-3 $\beta$  is an important Ser/Thr kinase, which phosphorylates its substrates and plays an important role in their regulation. If Be<sup>2+</sup> is a potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor in treated cells – then its inhibitory effects can be validated by analyzing the phosphorylation status of the GSK-3 $\beta$ – substrates. The phosphorylation status of important GSK-3 $\beta$ -substrates like glycogen synthase,  $\beta$ - catenin or tau will be investigated via western blotting.

5. Can  $Be^{2+}$  regulate the Wnt signaling pathway like  $Li^+$ ?

Test: GSK-3 $\beta$  is an important constituent of the Wnt signaling pathway. Inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  can cause nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin, which in turn leads to activation of some oncogenes. It is necessary to investigate the effect of a GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor on Wnt signaling pathway. The role of Be<sup>2+</sup> in regulating the Wnt signaling pathway will be investigated by studying the nuclear localization pattern of  $\beta$ -catenin via immunofluorescence, flow analysis and western blotting.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### GSK-3β: An important Ser/Thr kinase

Glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3) is an important serine/threonine kinase found in all eukaryotes. GSK-3 was first isolated in its homogenous form from rabbit skeletal muscle cells (Embi et al., 1980). The name glycogen synthase kinase refers to its ability to phosphorylate glycogen synthase, a key regulatory element of glycogen synthesis and insulin signaling pathway.

#### **GSK-3** family

There are two isoforms of mammalian GSK-3: GSK-3 $\alpha$  and GSK-3 $\beta$  encoded by distinct genes (Woodgett, 1990). GSK-3 $\alpha$  is 51 kDa and GSK-3 $\beta$  is 47 kDa, the difference in the size of the isoforms is due to the presence of a glycine rich extension on the N-terminus of GSK-3 $\alpha$ . The two isoforms of GSK-3 share only 36% identity in their last 76 residues on the C-terminal but their kinase domains are highly identical (98%) (Woodgett, 1990). The GSK-3 homologues are found in almost all eukaryotes and shares highly similar kinase domains (Ali et al., 2001). In spite of their identical kinase domains GSK-3 $\alpha$  and GSK-3 $\beta$  are not functionally identical. The deletion of exon 2 of GSK-3 $\beta$  causes the death of mouse embryos at day 16 due to the extreme hepatocyte apoptosis induced liver degeneration. Functional GSK-3 $\alpha$  cannot alleviate the lethality induced in mouse embryos due to homozygous deletions of exon 2 of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Hoeflich et al., 2000). The lethality observed in GSK-3 $\beta$  null mouse embryos cannot be alleviated by a functional GSK-3 $\alpha$  indicating the importance of the protein/enzyme GSK-3 $\beta$ . However animal models representing GSK-3 $\alpha$  knock out are viable but display enhanced insulin sensitivity (MacAulay et al., 2007).

## Table 1a Important events in the field of GSK-3 research from 1963 to 1993

(Adapted from Cohen and Frame, 2001) – Reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [nature reviews molecular cell biology] (Cohen P, Frame S. 2001). The renaissance of GSK3. *Nature reviews Molecular cell biology* **2**: 769-776), copyright (2001))

Year	Research related GSK-3	Refrences
1963	Glycogen synthase was found to exist in active and inactive forms	Friedman and Larner, 1963.
1964	Insulin promotes the conversion of glycogen synthase to its active form	Craig and Larner, 1964.
1978	Insulin could inhibit the activity of GSK-3	Cohen, 1979.
1980	GSK-3 purified	Embi et al., 1980.
1983	Insulin induced dephosphorylation of glycogen synthase occurs at serine residues, which are targets of GSK-3	Parker et al., 1983.
1986	Li <sup>+</sup> treatment caused duplication of dorsal axis in <i>Xenopus</i> oocytes	Kao et al., 1986.
1987	A "priming phosphate" is required for GSK-3 to recognize its substrates	Fiol et al., 1987.
1990	Two isoforms of GSK-3: GSK-3 α and β idetified	Woodgett, 1990.
1991	GSK-3 phosphorylates Jun family proteins in vitro and negatively regulates them	Boyle et al., 1991.
1992	<ul> <li>Insulin inactivates GSK-3</li> <li>GSK-3 phosphorylates Tau</li> <li>Wingless (WNT homologue) found to inactivate GSK-3</li> </ul>	Hughes et al., 1992. Hanger et al., 1992. Siegfried at al., 1992.
1993	eIF2B identified as a GSK-3 substrate	Welsh et al., 1993

 Table 1b: Important events in the field of GSK-3 research from 1994 to 2014

1994	<ul> <li>Protein kinases activated by mitogen leads to inactivation of GSK-3α</li> </ul>	Sutherland and Cohen, 1994.
	PI3K inhibition found to hamper GSK-3 inhibition	Cross et al., 1994.
1995	<ul> <li>Insulin induced inactivation of GSK- 3β through the Ser-9 phosphorylation</li> <li>PKB/AKT phosphorylates GSK-3 in vitro at appropriate sites</li> </ul>	Cross et al., 1995.
1996	<ul> <li>Li<sup>+</sup> ions inhibit GSK-3</li> <li>GSK-3 regulates sub cellular distribution of β-catenin</li> </ul>	Klein and Melton, 1996. Stambolic et al., 1996. Rubinfeld et al., 1996.
1998	Axin shown to exist in a complex with GSK-3β and β-catenin and promotes GSK-3βdependent phosphorylation of β-catenin	Ikeda et al., 1998.
1999	FRATtide inhibits GSK-3 mediated phosphorylation of axin and β-catenin, but not glycogen synthase.	Thomas et al., 1999.
2000	<ul> <li>Disruption of GSK-3β is lethal to mouse embryos</li> <li>Specific small molecule inhibitors of GSK-3β developed</li> <li>Insulin and Wnt regulates GSK-3β differentially</li> </ul>	Hoeflich et al., 2000. Coghlan et al., 2000. Ding et al., 2000.
2001	<ul> <li>GSK-3 inhibitors shown to hamper neuronal apoptosis</li> <li>Crystal structure of GSK-3 solved</li> <li>Li<sup>+</sup> competes for the Mg<sup>2+</sup> binding sites of GSK-3β</li> </ul>	Cross et al., 2001. Dajani et al., 2001. Ryves and Harwood, 2001.
2002	Be <sup>2+</sup> is a GSK-3β inhibitor and could be competing for Mg <sup>2+</sup> and ATP binding sites of GSK-3β	Ryves et al., 2002.
2003	<ul> <li>GSK-3β interacts and positively regulates p53 activity</li> <li>GSK-3β-TIMAP-PP1 feedback loop plays a critical role in the regulation of GSK-3β</li> </ul>	Watcharasit et al., 2003. Zhang et al., 2003.
2007	Phosphorylation of TIMAP by GSK-3β activates PP1	Li et al., 2007
2014	Be <sup>2+</sup> is a 1000 times more potent GSK-3 $\beta$ inhibitor compared to Li <sup>+</sup>	Mudireddy et al., 2014.

#### $GSK-3\beta - A$ brief introduction

GSK-3 $\beta$  is a fascinating enzyme playing a central role in extremely diverse intra cellular signaling pathways like Wnt signaling and hedgehog pathway. GSK-3ß regulates glycogen synthesis, gene transcription, apoptosis, protein synthesis and cellular differentiation in various cell types (Frame and Cohen, 2001; Doble and Woodgett, 2003; Grimes and Jope, 2001). The moniker glycogen synthase kinase doesn't justify the ability/range of GSK-3 $\beta$  to phosphorylate various metabolically and structurally important proteins. There is overwhelming evidence which establishes a plethora of different proteins as validated substrates of GSK-3 $\beta$  and they are tau,  $\beta$ catenin, Cyclin D1, Axin, c-jun, c-myc, Heat Shock Factor-1, BCL-3, CREB, Histone H1.5, mdm2, p21(CIP1), pyruvate dehydrogenase and many more (reviewed in Sutherland, 2011). Phylogenetically GSK-3 $\beta$  is closely related to the cyclin dependent protein kinases, however a major difference is the preference of GSK-3 $\beta$  for primed substrates. The GSK-3 $\beta$  substrates have to be primed at n + 4 position with a phosphate moiety in order to be recognized by the enzyme (*n* is the site of phosphorylation by GSK- $3\beta$ ) (Fiol et al., 1987). The common consensus sequence that serves as the phosphorylation site of GSK-3ß is Ser/Thr-Xaa-Xaa-Xaa-pSer/pThr (where pSer/pThr are the primed residues, Xaa – any amino acid and Ser/Thr is the target site of GSK-3β) (Fiol et al., 1987).

## Table 2a. Proposed GSK-3β substrates

Proposed substrate	Target residue(s)	Priming residue(s) and kinase	Effect of GSK-3β induced	Refrences
Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC)	1501 1503	1505 (CK1) 1507 (CK1)	Regulates degradation	Ferrarese et al, 2007. Ikeda et al, 2000.
Axin	Ser-322 Ser-326 (putative)	Ser-330	Regulates stability	Ikeda et al, 1998. Yamamoto et al, 1999.
BCL-3	Ser-394	Ser-398 (ERK putative)	Regulates degradation	Viatour et al, 2004.
β-catenin	Ser-33 Ser-37 Thr-41	Ser-45 (CK1)	Regulates degradation	Ikeda et al, 1998.
Cyclin D1	Thr-286	NONE	Nuclear transport and degradation	Diehl et al, 1998.
Glycogen Synthase	Ser-640 Ser-644 Ser-652	Ser-658 (CKII)	Reduces activity	Rylatt et al, 1980. Parker et al, 1983.
Heat shock factor 1	Ser-303	Ser-307 (MAPK)	Reduces DNA binding	Chu et al, 1996.
Histone HI.5	Thr-10	NONE	Coincides with chromosome condensation	Happel et al, 2009.
c-jun, Jun B, Jun D	The-239	Thr-243	Reduces DNA binding	Boyle et al, 1991. Nikolakaki et al, 1993.

(Adapted from - What are the bonafide GSK-3 substrates, Sutherland, 2011 ; open access journal, International journal of Alzheimer's disease, 2011, 505607)

Table 2b	. Proposed	GSK-3β	substrates
----------	------------	--------	------------

Proposed	Target	Priming	Effect of GSK-3β	Refrences
substrate	residue(s)	residue(s)	induced phosphorylation	
mdm2	Ser-240 Ser-254	Ser-244 Ser-258 (CKI)	Promotes activity towards p53, reduces activity p53 levels.	Kulikov et al, 2005
c-myc, L- myc	Thr-58 Thr-62 (c- myc)	Ser-62 (ERK1/2)	Promotes degradation	Sears et al, 2000. Henriksson et al, 1993. Saksela et al, 1992.
p53	Ser- 33(GSK-3β only)	Ser-37 (DNA-PK)	Increases transcriptional activity	Turenne and Price, 2001.
p21 CIP1	Thr-57	ND	Induces degradation	Rossig et al, 2002.
Protein phosphatase 1 G-submit	Ser-38 Ser-42 (human)	Ser-46 (PKA or p90RSK)	Not clear	Dent et al, 1989.
Protein phosphatase	Thr-72	Ser-86 (CKII)	Inhibits inhibitor thereby activating	Soutar et al, 2010.
inhibitor 2			PP1	Aitken et al, 1984 DePaoli-Roach, 1984.
Tau	Ser-208 Thr-231	Thr-212 (DYRK)	Some phosphorylation sites	Woods et al, 2001.
	Thr-235 Ser-396		regulate microtubule binding	Hanger et al, 1992.
				Yang et al, 1993.

Schematic diagram 1: De-regulation of GSK-3β activity towards its substartes has serious consequences



#### GSK-3β and the Wnt signaling

Whats are a family of cysteine-rich, glycosylated, secreted protein ligands found in a wide variety of organisms ranging from hydra to humans (Miller, 2002). One of the pathways regulated by Wnt ligands is known as the canonical Wnt pathway or the Wnt/β-catenin pathway (Polakis, 2000; Seidensticker and Behrens, 2000; Sharpe et al., 2001). The Wnt signaling pathway is important for embryonic development, homeostatis, and development of central nervous system. (McMohan and Bradley, 1990; Patapoutian and Reichardt, 2000; Woodarz and Nusse, 1998; Moon et al., 1997; Polakis, 2000). GSK-3 $\beta$  is an important constituent of the Wnt signaling pathway and also the highly homologous wingless signaling pathway of drosophila. GSK- $3\beta$ forms the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex along with APC (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli), axin, case kinase 1 (CK1), protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and E3-ubiquitin ligase  $\beta$ -TrCP (Zeng et al., 1997; Behrens et al., 1998; Hart et al., 1998, Ikeda et al., 1998; Itoh et al., 1998; Salic et al., 2000; Kikuchi, 1999).  $\beta$ -catenin is an important substrate of GSK-3 $\beta$  and the GSK-3 $\beta$  mediated phosphorylation on the N-terminal region of  $\beta$ -catenin (Pefifer et al., 1994; Yost et al., 1996) marks it for ubiquitin-mediated proteosomal degradation (Hart et al., 1998, 1999; Behrens et al., 1998; Oxford et al., 1997; Winston et al., 1999; Kitagawa et al., 1999; Latres et al., 1999; Liu et al., 1999).  $\beta$ -catenin is one of the most important downstream effectors' of the Wnt signaling pathway.

In the absence of Wnt ligands, the active GSK-3 $\beta$  in concert with axin and adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) phosphorylates  $\beta$ -catenin targeting it for ubiquitinylation and proteasomal degradation (Hart et al., 1998; Peifer and Polakis, 2000; Oxford et al., 1997; Aberle et al., 1997)

Wnt ligands bind to the extracellular domain of their receptor called frizzled protein thereby activating the Wnt signaling pathway. The activation of Wnt signaling cascade destabilizes axin which has a detrimental effect on the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex (Willert et al., 1999;

reviewed in Kikuchi, 1999). Wnt activation also blocks the phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin by GSK-3 $\beta$  (Bilic et al., 2007; MacDonald et al., 2009; Metcalfe and Bienz, 2011) Thus Wnt activation inhibits GSK-3 $\beta$  phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin and causes accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin. These events ultimately lead to stabilization of  $\beta$ -catenin (Cook et al., 1996; Willert et al., 1999) and the accumulated  $\beta$ -catenin is translocated into the nucleus where it interactes with the TCF/LEF (Tcell factor/lymphocyte enhancer factor) proteins to form a protein complex (Huber et al., 1996; Molenar et al., 1996; Behrens et al., 1996). The  $\beta$ -catenin-Tcf/Lef protein complex binds to DNA and regulates the transcription of TCF/LEF target genes (Behrens et al., 1996; Dale, 1998; Brantjes et al., 2002). It is important to note that some of the target genes of  $\beta$ -catenin are proto oncogenes (Dale, 1998; Brantjes et al., 2002).

The relationship between GSK-3 $\beta$  and Wnt signaling pathway can be summarized as follows - a stable  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex is required for the GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme to phosphorylate  $\beta$ catenin and it happens in the absence of Wnt signaling/ligands. Inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  by Wnt ligands prevents the phosphorylation and proteasomal degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin. Schematic diagram explaining the role of GSK-3 $\beta$  in insulin pathway and Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway



Schematic diagram 2: Dissecting the role of GSK-3 $\beta$  in insulin and Wnt pathway. Lithium induced destability of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction comeplex could be the possible reason for the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in Li<sup>+</sup> treated cells. Whether beryllium can destabilize the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction comeplex or not is worth investigating further. It can be summarized that probably GSK-3 $\beta$  occurs in two cellular forms "free GSK-3 $\beta$ " and "bound GSK-3 $\beta$ " and beryllium seems to be mostly targeting the "free GSK-3 $\beta$ " for inhibition

#### GSK-3β and its role in insulin signaling

One of the primary functions of GSK-3 $\beta$  is to phosphorylate and inactivate the enzyme glycogen synthase (GS) (Parker et al., 1983; Roach, 1990, Zhang et al., 1993). GSK-3β is constitutively active in cells and insulin mediated regulation/inhibiton of GSK-3ß leads to the activation of glycogen synthase. In the presence of insulin, sequential activation of Insulin Receptor Substrate (IRS-1), PI3-kinase and Akt/PKB takes place, which eventually causes inactivation of GSK-3β (Sutherland et al., 1993; Cross et al., 1994, 1995; Stambolic and Woodgett, 1994). Akt/PKB mediates the GSK-3β inactivation by phosphorylating the N-terminal Ser-9 residue (Sutherland et al., 1993; Cross et al., 1994, 1995; Stambolic and Woodgett, 1994). Glycogen synthase and IRS-1 are important constituents of the insulin signaling pathway and both are putative substrates of GSK-3β enzyme (Rylatt et al., 1980; Parker et al., 1983; Liberman and Eldar-Finkelman, 2005). Like glycogen synthase; IRS-1 is phosphorylated and inactivated by GSK-3β thus imparing the insulin signaling pathway (Eldar-Finkelman and Krebs, 1997; Liberman and Eldar-Finkelman, 2005). GSK-3 $\beta$  plays a critical role at multiple steps in the insulin signaling pathway. Various studies indicate that GSK-3 $\beta$  acts as a negative modulator of insulin signaling and plays an important role in maintaining glycogen synthase in a repressed state. Hence deregulation or hyper activation of GSK-3 $\beta$  has been implicated in the development of diabetes mellitus type 2 (formerly known as non insulin dependent diabetes mellitus – NIDDM) (Henriksen and Dokken, 2006).

#### GSK-3β and regulation of Hedgehog pathway

Hedgehog (Hh) signaling is involved in important cellular functions like cell division and cell survival and its deregulation is linked to the development of different disorders (reviewed in Murone et al., 1999; Briscoe and Pascal, 2013). Hedgehog signaling is a complex pathway and GSK-3β plays an important role in it along with other kinases (Jia et al., 2002; Jiang et al., 1995;

Price and Kalderon, 2002, Lum et al., 2003). The downstream effector of the Hh signaling pathway in drosophila is called as Cubitus interruptus (Ci) and it is responsible for the regulation of target genes in response to Hh stimulation. (Alexandre et al., 1996; Von Ohlen et al., 1997; Methot and Basler, 2001). Ci appears in two forms called as  $Ci_{155}$  and  $Ci_{75}$  (a truncated form of  $Ci_{155}$ ) and in relation to the regulation of Hh target genes -  $Ci_{155}$  is the active form and  $Ci_{75}$  is the repressor form (Aza-Blanc et al., 1997). GSK-3 $\beta$  is involved in the conversion (truncation) of  $Ci_{155}$  into its repressor form along with other kinases. In the absence of Hh stimulation or Hh ligands, Protein Kinase A (PKA) phosphorylates Ci thus priming it for further phosphorylation by GSK-3 $\beta$  and caesin Kinase 1 $\delta$  (CK1 $\delta$ ) followed by the partial proteasomal degradation to yield  $Ci_{75}$  (Jia et al., 2002; Jiang et al., 1995; Price and Kalderon, 2002). In vertebrates the final downstream effector of the Hh pathway is called as Gli and recently it was shown that PKA is involved in the multi site phosphorylation of Gli (Niewiadomski et al., 2014). In the presence of Hh ligands the conversion of Ci into its repressor form i.e.  $Ci_{75}$  is inhibited (Methot and Basler, 1999). It can be summarized that Hh stimulation down regulates the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$ .

#### GSK-3β and diseases

#### **Alzheimer's disease**

Since GSK-3 $\beta$  plays a critical role in the regulation and stability of various important proteins, deregulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  has been associated with many diseases. There is enough evidence to directly link GSK-3 $\beta$  with the neuropathological mechanisms associated with Alzheimer's disease (AD). GSK-3 $\beta$  induces phosphorylation of microtubule associated tau protein, which resembles the Alzhemer's disease-like induced tau-phosphorylation. (Hanger et al., 1992; Yang et al., 1993; Woods et al., 2001). Increased levels of GSK-3 $\beta$  have been found in AD compared to normal human brains and immunohistochemical studies have detected GSK-3 $\beta$  in the neurofibrillar tangles of the AD brain tissue (Yamaguchi et al., 1996; Imahori and Uchida, 1997; Pei et al., 1997, 1999). These studies indicate that GSK-3 $\beta$  has a role to play in the etiology of Alzheimer's disease.

#### Insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus type 2

Role of GSK-3 $\beta$  in the development of insulin resistance and diabetes mellitus type 2 has been established in various studies (Henriksen and Dokken, 2006). Elevated GSK-3β has been implicated in the development of insulin resistance in skeletal muscle cells. Increased levels of GSK-3 $\beta$  is found in the tissues of insulin resistant obese rodent models like high fat fed mice (Eldar-Finkelman et al., 1999), obese zucker rats (Dokken et al., 2005). Enhanced GSK-3 $\beta$  is also found in type 2 diabetic humans (Nikoulina et al., 2000). At the molecular level it has been observed that GSK-3ß can hamper insulin signaling by interfering with the important components of the insulin signaling pathway. GSK-3 $\beta$  can phosphorylate Ser-332 of IRS-1*in vitro* which could hinder its interaction or communication with insulin receptor (Liberman and Eldar-Finkelman, 2005; Aguirre et al., 2002). The disruption of interactions between insulin receptor and IRS-1 could have a detrimental effect on insulin signaling pathway and protect GSK-3ß from the inhibitory action of insulin. GSK-3 $\beta$  phosphorylates glycogen synthase enzyme (GS) on multiple serine residues and leads to its inactivation (Parker et al., 1983; Roach, 1990, Zhang et al., 1993). Inactive glycogen synthase leads to decrease in glycogenesis (glycogen synthesis), which in turn would lead to an increase in the blood glucose levels (Cross et al., 1997; Summers et al., 1999). These observations demonstrate that deregulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  could play an important role in development of type 2 diabetes mellitus.

#### Cancer

GSK-3 $\beta$  is an important constituent of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex along with APC (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli), axin, casein kinase 1 (CK1), protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and
E3-ubiquitin ligase  $\beta$ -TrCP (Zeng et al., 1997; Behrens et al., 1998; Hart et al., 1998, Ikeda et al., 1998; Itoh et al., 1998; Salic et al., 2000; Kikuchi, 1999). The GSK-3 $\beta$  mediated phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin marks it for ubiquitin-mediated proteosomal degradation (Pefifer et al., 1994; Yost et al., 1996; Rubinfeld et al., 1996; Hart et al., 1996; Behrens et al., 1998; Oxford et al., 1997; Farr et al., 2000). GSK-3 $\beta$  and  $\beta$ -catenin are important members of the Wnt signaling pathway. Wnt activation results in the inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Bilic et al., 2007; MacDonald et al., 2009; Metcalfe and Bienz, 2011) leading to stabilization of  $\beta$ -catenin (Cook et al., 1996; Huber et al., 1996; Willert et al., 1999). The  $\beta$ -catenin translocates into the nucleus where it interacts with TCF/LEF proteins to form a complex; this complex binds to DNA and regulates the transcription of TCF/LEF target genes (Huber et al., 1996). Abnormal or constitutive repression of GSK-3 $\beta$  activity could lead to accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin in the nucleus. Several studies have directly linked the de-regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin with development of various cancers (Smalley and Dale, 1999; Peifer and Polakis, 2000; Thakur and Mishra, 2013).

## **Regulation of GSK-3β**

GSK-3 $\beta$  controls diverse cellular processes like gene expression, apoptosis, cell viability and development. Hence GSK-3 $\beta$  is regulated by complex regulatory mechanisms in order to avoid any unwanted consequences on the normal cellular functions. It has been observed that GSK-3 $\beta$  is regulated by multiple regulatory mechanisms.

## Inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β

The activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  is down regulated by an increase in the phosphorylation of its Ser-9 residue on the N-terminal region (reviewed in Plyte et al., 1992). Some GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors induce an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  thereby inhibiting it (Frame and Cohen, 2001; Grimes and Jope, 2001; Doble and Woodgett, 2003). Phosphorylated Ser-9 residue on the

N-terminal tail of GSK-3 $\beta$  acts as a pseudo substrate thus blocking the access of the substrates to GSK-3 $\beta$ 's catalytic site (Frame et al., 2001; Dajani et al., 2001). There are many different kinases that can phosphorylate GSK-3 $\beta$  at Ser-9 position depending on specific stimuli. Some of the kinases known to induce an increase in Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  are p70 S6 kinase (Armstrong et al.,2001; Krause et al., 2002; Terruzzi et al., 2002), p90Rsk (also called as MAPKAP kinase-1) (Brady et al., 1998; Saito et al., 1994), Akt (also called protein kinase B) (Sutherland et al., 1993; Shaw, et al., 1997; Cross et al., 1994, 1995; Stambolic and Woodgett, 1994), certain isoforms of protein kinase C (Ballou et al., 2001; Fang et al., 2002), and cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase (protein kinase A) (Fang et al., 2000; Li et al., 2000; Tanji et al., 2002).

Insulin is a well characterized GSK-3 $\beta$ 's indirect inhibitor and in response to insulin an increase in the inhibitory phosphorylation of the Ser-9 residue on the N-terminal region of GSK-3 $\beta$  is induced (Sutherland et al., 1993; Cross et al., 1995). The upstream kinases of the insulin signaling pathway play an important role in the insulin induced Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Sutherland et al., 1993; Welsh and Proud, 1993; Cross et al. 1995). Akt or protein kinase B is an important component of the insulin signaling pathway and it has been observed that in response to insulin, activation of Akt/PKB takes place. Activated Akt modulates an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Sutherland et al., 1993; Shaw, et al., 1997; Cross et al., 1994, 1995; Stambolic and Woodgett, 1994). The negative regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  activity via the Ser-9 phosphorylation is a crucial step in the receptor-coupled signaling processes. Much effort has been directed to identify the specific kinases used by different receptor coupled signaling systems. Different kinases activated in response to different stimuli leads to the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . However the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  is reversible and its dephosphorylation is mediated by protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) (Zhang et al., 2003).

### **Regulation of GSK-3β activity by protein complex formation**

Apart from the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation, GSK-3 $\beta$  is regulated by the formation of a protein complex mediated by GSK-3 $\beta$  binding proteins. Regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  by protein complex formation is a complicated mechanism which involves proteins like GSK-3 $\beta$  binding protein (GBP) (Yost et al., 1998; Farr et al., 200), Axin (Ikeda et al., 1998; Yamamoto et al., 1999) and the axin related protein named as Axil (Yamamoto et al., 1998) or Conductin (Behrens et al., 1998). Presently FRAT1 and FRAT2 are included in the GBP family and regulate GSK-3 $\beta$  by forming a protein complex with it (Jonkers et al., 1997; Li et al., 1999; Thomas et al., 1999; Yost et al., 1998). An interesting fact about binding of GBP to GSK-3 $\beta$  is that it doesn't inhibit the catalytic activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  towards all its substrates (Thomas et al., 1999). According to Thomas et al binding of GBP family proteins to GSK-3 $\beta$  produces a probable localized inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme, partially limiting its phosphorylating activity towards certain substrates.

As explained GSK-3 $\beta$  forms the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex along with axin, APC (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli), casein kinase 1 (CK1), protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and E3ubiquitin ligase  $\beta$ -TrCP (Hart et al., 1996; Behrens et al., 1998; Oxford et al., 1997).  $\beta$ -catenin is an important substrate of GSK-3 $\beta$  and the GSK-3 $\beta$  mediated phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin marks it for ubiquitin-mediated proteosomal degradation (Behrens et al. 1998; Oxford et al. 1997). Axin and APC both are substrates of GSK-3 $\beta$  and phosphorylation of axin and play an important role in the assembly of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex (Rubenfeld et al., 1996; Ikeda et al., 1998). The GSK-3 $\beta$  of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex induces an increase in the rate of  $\beta$ -catenin phosphorylation thus marking it for proteasomal degradation (Rubinfeld et al., 1996; Hedgepeth et al., 1999; Farr et al., 2000). The relationship between GSK-3 $\beta$  and axin is mutualistic. Binding of axin enhances the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  similarly the GSK-3 $\beta$  induced phosphorylation of axin stabilizes it from degradation (Yamamoto et al., 1999). There is evidence to support that GBP and axin may not bind to GSK-3 $\beta$  simultaneously but compete with one another for protein complex formation (Farr et al., 2000). One such regulatory mechanism is elicited by Disheveled (Dsh) proteins. Dsh is a negative regulator of GSK-3 $\beta$ , which can bind both to FRAT1 and axin. Dsh facilitates the binding of FRAT1 to GSK-3 $\beta$  and simultaneously enhances the disassociation of axin from GSK-3 $\beta$  (Li et al., 1999; Krylova et al., 2000).

The differential regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  by protein complex formation indicates that there are two populations of cellular GSK-3 $\beta$ , the "free GSK-3 $\beta$ " and the axin "bound GSK-3 $\beta$ ", which is part of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex (**refer schematic diagram 2 on page 14**). There is evidence to suggest that the free and bound GSK-3 $\beta$  could be participating in independent and different signaling pathways (Ding et al., 2000) (discussed in more detail in chapter 5).

### **Competitive inhibition**

GSK-3 $\beta$  is a Mg<sup>2+</sup> and ATP dependent enzyme. Any interference with the binding of Mg<sup>2+</sup> ions and ATP to the GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme will restrict its kinase activity. Some of the GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors act either by competing with Mg<sup>2+</sup> or ATP or both thus inhibiting the enzyme. (explained in Table 3)

## GSK-3β inhibitors

The most desired characteristics in an inhibitor are its specificity and potency towards the target proteins. There are various classes of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors and Table 3 provides a comprehensive list of different GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors and their specificity towards other kinases. The simplest among the various classes of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors are the metal cation group.

### Lithium – an efficient GSK-3β inhibitor

Lithium (Li<sup>+)</sup> is a monovalent metal cation that acts as an efficient inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Li<sup>+</sup> is the most well characterized metal cation inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  and is commonly used in the form of LiCl salt (Klein and Melton, 1996, Stambolic et al., 1996). Li<sup>+</sup> inhibits the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$ both directly and indirectly (Jope, 2003). GSK-3 $\beta$  is a Mg<sup>2+</sup> dependent enzyme and Li<sup>+</sup> inhibits GSK-3 $\beta$  by directly competing with Mg<sup>2+</sup> ions for the magnesium binding sites (Ryves and Harwood, 2001; Ryves et al., 2002). Like insulin, Li<sup>+</sup> too leads to an increase in the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation in a wide variety of cells thereby inhibiting GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme indirectly (Zhang et al., 2003). According to *Zhang et al* Li<sup>+</sup> induces an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  by perturbing the GSK-3 $\beta$ -TIMAP-PP1 feed back loop. The Li<sup>+</sup> induced inhibition of protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) leads to a build up of pSer-9-GSK-3 $\beta$  thus accounting partly for the regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$ .

From the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation perspective, Li<sup>+</sup> mimics insulin and has a positive effect on glycogen metabolism (Cheng et al., 1983; Bosch et al., 1986; Woo et al., 2000). In addition Li<sup>+</sup> also mimics Wnt ligands and activates the Wnt signaling pathway, which in turn leads to nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (Stambolic et al., 1996; Hedgepeth et al., 1997). Li<sup>+</sup> is a reasonably selective GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor but its inhibitory concentration range is in millimolar (Ki = 2 mM) (Klein and Melton, 1996). Beryllium (Be<sup>2+</sup>) another metal cation inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  is 1000 times more potent compared to lithium (Mudireddy et al., 2014). But not much is known about the role of Be<sup>2+</sup> as a GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor.

## Table 3a. List of GSK-3β inhibitors

(Adapted from - Cell and Molecular Life Sciences, volume - 64, 2007, 1930-1944, Glycogen synthase kinase 3: a key regulator of cellular fate, Forde J.A, Dale T,Table.1 GSK-3 inhibitors; with kind permission from Springer Science and Business Media")

(Adapted with permission from Journal of Cell Science, Doble BW, Woodgett JR. 2003. GSK-3: tricks of the trade for a multi-tasking kinase. *J Cell Sci* **116**: 1175-1186.)

Inhibitor	Specific	Inhibition	Mode of action	Specificity	Reference
Lithium	N/A	Ki = 2 mM	Competes with Mg <sup>2+</sup> , Mimics Wnt signaling	Also inhibits IMPase, Fructose 1,6 biphosphate, IPPase, BPNT, Phosphoglucomutase (PGM)	Ryves and Harwood, 2001; Klien and Melton, 1996; York et al., 2001; Gurvich and Klein, 2002; Ray et al., 1978
Bivalent Zinc	N/A	$IC_{50} = 15$ $\mu M$	Undetermined; doesn't compete for substrate	N/A	Ilouz et al., 2002
Beryllium	N/A	$IC_{50} = 6$ $\mu M$	Competes with Mg <sup>2+</sup> and ATP	Also inhibits cdc 2	Ryves et al., 2002
Anilino maleimides	SB216763 and SB415286	$IC_{50} = 10$ - 30 nM	ATP competitor	Doesn't inhibit a range of other kinases	Couglan et al., 2000; Smith et al., 2001
Bisindole malemides	Ro 31-8220, GF 109203x	$IC_{50} = 5 - 170 \text{ nM}$	ATP competitor	Also inhibits PKC	Hers et al., 1999

# Table 3b. List of GSK-3 $\beta$ inhibitors

Inhibitor	Specific	Inhibition	Mode of	Specificity	References
	example	potency	action		
Bisindole	Ro 31-8220,	$IC_{50} = 5 -$	ATP	Also inhibits PKC	Hers et al.,
malemides	GF 109203x	170 nM	competitor		1999
Aldisine	hymenialdisi	$IC_{50} = 5 -$	ATP	Also inhibits MEKs,	Meijer et
alkaloids	ne	10 nM	competitor	CK1 and CDKs	al., 2000;
			•		Tasdemir et
					al., 2002
Aloisines	aloisine A	$IC_{50} = 0.4$	ATP	Also inhibits	Mettey et
		– 85 µM	competitive	CDK1/cyclin B and	al., 2003
			•	CDK5	
Indirubins	6-	$IC_{50} = 5 -$	ATP	Also inhibits CDKs	Meijer et
	bromoindiru	50 nM	competitor		al., 2003;
	bin-3'-oxime				Leclerc et
	aka <b>BIO</b>				al., 2001
Paullones	Alsterpaullo	$IC_{50} = 4 -$	ATP	Also inhibits CDKs	Knockaert
	ne	80 nM	competitor	and mMDH	et al., 2002;
			_		Leost et al.,
					2002
Pseudo	N/A	Ki = 0.7	Substrate	Specific	Dajani et
substrate		mM	competitor		al., 2001
peptide			-		

### **GSK-3β:** A therapeutic target

In recent times GSK-3 $\beta$  has emerged as an important therapeutic target because of its role in the etiological development of different abnormalities and diseases. It is important to identify potent inhibitors of GSK-3 $\beta$  so as to characterize and understand the impact of GSK-3 $\beta$ deregulation. GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors could have therapeutic potential in the pathophysiological process involving hyper active GSK-3 $\beta$ . For example in patients suffering from diabetes milletus type 2 and neurological disorders; inhibitors of GSK-3 $\beta$  could serve the purpose of a potential therapeutic agent. It has also been observed that inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  leads to an increase in cellular senescence, apoptosis and sensitization of tumor cells to ionizing radiation (Thotala et al., 2008) and chemotherapeutic agents (Miyashita et al., 2009).

It has been reported that the levels and activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  are elevated in diabetic and obese mice (Elder-Finkelman et al., 1999). There is a great pharmaceutical interest in identifying compounds which can mimic insulin and repress GSK-3 $\beta$  activity especially in patients suffering from type 2 diabetes. GlaxoSmith Kline developed GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors belonging to the malemide group and these compounds facilitated the activation of glycogen synthase in liver cells (Coghlan et al., 2000).

Li<sup>+</sup>, another GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor, is already in use as a mood stabilizer. Li<sup>+</sup> treatment leads to slight stimulation of the glucose uptake as well as an increase in the translocation of glucose transporter GLUT4 to the plasma membrane in 3T3-L1 and rat adipocytes (Chen et al., 1998; Orena et al., 2000; Summers et al., 1999), indicating the potential therapeutic role the GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors could play.

The use of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor for therapeutic applications sounds exciting and promising but it also raises serious concerns about the unwanted outcomes, which could result from the inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$ . One of the primary concerns is the specificity of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors, majority of the GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors seems to be regulating other related kinases as well (explained in Table 3). A more serious problem that could arise due to inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  is the stabilization and nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin. The abnormal accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin due to different reasons is associated with the development of various cancers especially colorectal cancers (Thakur and Mishra, 2013). It has been reported that GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors developed by GlaxoSmith Kline leads to activation of glycogen synthase but also causes dramatic increase in the levels of  $\beta$ -catenin (Cross et al., 2001). Use of the GlaxoSmith Kline GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors also stimulates transcription of genes regulated by  $\beta$ -catenin (Coghlan et al., 2000). However whether prolonged use of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors stimulates the formation of tumor or enhances tumorigenesis in animal models is still under investigation. There is always a possibility that prolonged use of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors could be potentially oncogenic.

Taking into consideration the adverse effects elicited due to GSK-3 $\beta$ -inhibiton induced nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin, a pathway specific GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor is desired. A good GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor, which can be used for therapeutic purpose would be the one that can inhibit the non-axin or free GSK-3 $\beta$ . The selective inhibition of non-axin GSK-3 $\beta$  should not have any effect on the canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway since it is the axin-bound GSK-3 $\beta$ , which is involved in the regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin.

## Beryllium: An unsung anti-hero

Beryllium in the form of BeSO<sub>4</sub> salt acts as a potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor and is less toxic to some cells at physiologically effective concentrations, compared to LiCl (Mudireddy et al., 2014). Apart from the fact that Be<sup>2+</sup> could be competing for both Mg<sup>2+</sup> and ATP binding sites on GSK-3 $\beta$ , not much is known about the mechanism by which Be<sup>2+</sup> inhibits the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ryves et al., 2002).

Beryllium (Be) is an alkaline earth metal belonging to the group IIA elements. The atomic number of beryllium is 4 and it occurs in two oxidation states,  $Be^{0}$  and  $Be^{2+}$ . Beryllium has many industrial applications, since it is lighter than aluminium yet stronger than steel. Beryllium was discovered by Nicholas-Louis Vauquelin in the year 1797. The French chemist AntoineAlexandre-Brutus Bussy and German chemist Friedrich Wohler isolated beryllium independently in the year 1828 (de Laeter et al., 2003). Out of the nine known radioisotopes of beryllium, beryllium-7 (Be-7) and beryllium-10 (Be-10) are stable with half lives of 53.29 days and 1.51x10<sup>6</sup> years respectively (Hammond, 2000).

The cytostatic effects of beryllium were first documented in 1949, using an animal limb regeneration model (Thornton, 1949; Chevremont and Firket, 1951). Apart from the study published by Ryves *et al*, no work has been published to examine beryllium's role as GSK- $3\beta$  inhibitor until it was demonstrated by our lab that beryllium is a 1000 times more potent GSK- $3\beta$  inhibitor (Mudireddy et al., 2014). Traditionally the aim of the research work related to beryllium has been to analyze/establish its cytotoxic effects. Beryllium has been classified as a potent carcinogen in humans and in rats. Various studies in rats have shown that beryllium when inhaled caused a high incidence of lung tumors (Haley et al., 1990; Nikula et al., 1997; Finch et al., 1998).

## The route of beryllium administration plays a crucial role in inducing its toxic effects.

## Acute oral toxicity

Oral toxicity of beryllium was tested in rats, where in the  $LD_{50}$  was found to be >2000 mg kg<sup>1</sup> body weight (Strupp, 2011). The very high dosage of beryllium to induce its lethal effects when administered orally suggests that ingestion of soluble form of beryllium is not very harmful.

### Inhalation toxicity

The available literature suggests that delayed toxic effects after acute inhalation of beryllium metal has been reported in rats (Haley et al., 1990; Nikula et al., 1997; Finch et al., 1998). It has been observed that inhalation of high doses of soluble form of beryllium is known to cause an acute beryllium disease, which is an obstructive inflammatory lung disease (Eisenbud, 1955; Cummings et al., 2009).

### **Dermal sensitization**

Studies have shown that beryllium did not lead to any dermal sensitization reaction in patients who had a history of beryllium sensitization in beryllium plants (Curtis, 1951).

## Cytotoxicity and carcinogenicity

In our lab it was observed that beryllium induces cytotoxicity only when used at high concentrations (high micromolar range). Different cell lines are fairly resistant to the low beryllium dosage (10 – 100  $\mu$ M). Majority of the research work to establish the role of beryllium as a carcinogen has been carried out in rats. A robust carcinogenic response is observed in rats after inhalation of beryllium metal at high concentrations. Experimental attempts to reproduce the same results in mice and guinea pigs showed no carcinogenic response (Schepers, 1961). It has been reported that the potential of beryllium induced lung cancer increases only when the patients are exposed to high concentrations (Hollins et al., 2009). In an independent study it was observed that exposure of BALB/c-3T3 cells to high concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> (100 – 200  $\mu$ g/ml or 0.5 – 1 mM) caused an increase in the transformation efficiency (Keshava et al., 2001). From the epidemiological studies it can be speculated that beryllium is hazardous when inhaled at high dosage. The studies indicating the carcinogenic role of beryllium has been mostly centered on the use of beryllium metal. It was observed that beryllium when inhaled in the form of beryllium metal or beryllium oxide caused lung cancer in rodents (Gordon and Bowser, 2003). However

there is no evidence to suggest that beryllium in form of salt could be a potentially strong carcinogen.

The probable carcinogenic role of particulate beryllium cannot undermine the potential of beryllium salt as a potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor. In our study we have used beryllium in the form of BeSO<sub>4</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O and investigated the intracellular effects of beryllium treatment at molecular level in different cell lines. The focus of this study was to investigate beryllium as a biologically relevant GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor. We also tried to understand the inhibitory mechanisms that play an important role in the beryllium induced inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$ .

### **CHAPTER 3**

### Dose Response Curve - survey of different cell lines to analyze their sensitivity towards

BeSO<sub>4</sub>

## Introduction

The aim of this study is to analyze and document the cytostatic/cytotoxic effects of  $Be^{2+}$  on different mammalian cell lines. Cell lines selected for this study were cultured in media supplemented with  $Be^{2+}$  in the form of  $BeSO_4.4H_2O$ . It is imperative to have prior knowledge about the behavior of different cell lines when cultured in the presence of beryllium because cell signaling studies could be highly cell type specific. Having a good idea about the sensitivity of different cell line towards  $BeSO_4$  will help us in selecting the correct cell line. Some cell lines could be highly sensitive or highly resistant to  $BeSO_4$  making them unsuitable for the present study. It was observed that beryllium caused an increase in the cell division time or doubling time of HFL-1 cells (human lung fibroblasts) (Absher et al., 1983). Treatment with beryllium seems to be inducing diametrically opposite effects on cells. Beryllium is known to promote carcinogenesis (Wagoner at al., 1980) implying that it is capable of inducing unregulated cell proliferation. It has also been demonstrated that beryllium induces cytostatic effects in the form of cellular senescence indicating that beryllium can effectively regulate cellular growth (Coates et al., 2007; Gorjala and Gary, 2010).

In order to analyze the sensitivity of different cell lines towards  $BeSO_4$  a "dose response curve" was obtained. Different mammalian cell lines are cultured in the presence of beryllium salt over a period of nine days. The cell numbers are monitored on day3, 6 or 9. The effect of beryllium on the survival of mammalian cells can be quantified form the cell counting experiment (DRC curves). This survey includes the dose response curve data of 8 different mammalian cell lines. This survey will provide an insight into the senstivity of mammalian cells towards  $BeSO_4$ .

### Materials and methods

## **Cell lines**

Cell lines B35, C6, Caki-1, IMR 32, NIH/3T3, MCF-7, T47D were purchased from ATCC (Manassas, VA). The SF539 cell line was purchased from National Cancer Institute.

### Cell culture media

RPMI 1640 HEPES (cat#23400-021, Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1x antibiotic-mycotic was used for culturing B 35, C6, Caki-1, IMR 32 and SF539 cell lines. Only for NIH/3T3 cells, RPMI 1640 was supplemented with 10% bovine growth serum (BGS) instead of FBS. For MCF-7 and T47D cell line the RPMI 1640 was supplemented with growth factors – 344.3 pM insulin and 1 nM  $\beta$ -estradiol.

## **Dose response curve - cell counting**

Cells were cultured in 60 mm CELLSTAR cell culture dishes (cat#664 160) at 37 °C using a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. Cells were dosed with culture media supplemented with appropriate concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and the dosing day was counted as Day 0. On Day 3 the cells were collected by trypsinization using 0.5 ml trypsin (0.05% Trypsin-EDTA). The cells were collected by adding 2.5 ml of RPMI (3.5 ml RPMI + 0.5 ml trypsin = total 3 ml cell suspension). Cells were counted using a cell counter .0.5 ml of the total cell suspension from day 3 was added to a new 60 mm culture dish. The cells were allowed to grow till day 6 and were trypsinized again, counted in a manner similar to day 3. 0.5 ml of cells from the total 3 ml cell suspension from day

6 was added to a new 60 mm dish. The process was repeated again on Day 9 with the exception that the cells were discarded instead of re seeding.

Note: Cells have to be seeded in the range of  $1.5-2.0 \times 10^6$  cells/100 mm dish to obtain sub confluency (50-60%) after approximately 12 hr incubation

### Data analysis

The day 3, day 6 and day 9 cell counts were fitted onto a plot using non-linear regression. The effect of  $BeSO_4$  on the different cell lines was represented as % of control (untreated cells) on the y-axis and the log values of  $BeSO_4$  concentration on the x-axis. GraphPad Prism v6.0c (Mac OS) was used for curve fitting and calculating IC<sub>50</sub> values.

## Results

Beryllium in the form of BeSO<sub>4</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O was used at concentrations ranging from 0, 0.3, 1, 3, 5, 10, 30, 100, 300, 500, 1000 or 3000  $\mu$ M. The IC<sub>50</sub> values were calculated using the day 6 data. The day 3 and day 9 DRC data was not used for calculating the IC<sub>50</sub> values because the beryllium resistant cell lines may not show optimum response by day 3. The 9 day BeSO<sub>4</sub> treatment could be extremely stringent on the BeSO<sub>4</sub> sensitive cell lines hence the day 6 data was used to calculate the IC<sub>50</sub> values.The results in Fig. 1a, Fig. 1b and Fig. 1c demonstrates that all cell lines do not respond uniformly to BeSO<sub>4</sub>. Some of the cell lines are sensitive to beryllium while others are resistant. The results have been summarized in table 4.



Fig. 1a Day 3 dose response curve. Each curve represents the response of individual cell lines to concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> ranging from  $0 - 3000 \mu$ M on day 3. The day 3 data was not used for calculating the IC<sub>50</sub> values because the cyto toxic effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> may not manifest correctly at a short exposure time i.e. day 3, especially for BeSO<sub>4</sub> resistant cells lines.



**Fig. 1b Day 6 dose response curve**. Each curve represents the response of individual cell lines to concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> ranging from  $0 - 3000 \mu$ M on day 6. The day 6 data was used to calculate the IC<sub>50</sub> values. Day 6 data was selected because by day 6 the cells are not under exposed nor over exposed to the inhibitory cytotoxic/cytostatic effects of BeSO<sub>4</sub>.



Fig. 1c Day 9 dose response curve. Each curve represents the response individual cell lines to concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> ranging from  $0 - 3000 \mu$ M on day 9. The possibility of cells being over exposed to BeSO<sub>4</sub> might interfere with the correct IC<sub>50</sub> calculation. The day 9 data was not used to calculate the IC<sub>50</sub> values.

# Table 4. $IC_{50}$ values of $BeSO_4$ for different cell lines

	Cell Line	IC <sub>50</sub> value (µM BeSO <sub>4</sub> )
1	B 35	34.50
2	C6	5.27
3	Caki-1	4.93
4	IMR 32	37.94
5	MCF-7	136.1
6	NIH/3T3	7.59
7	T47D	190.9
8	SF 539	2.9

### Discussion

The DRC analysis clearly shows that not all cell lines respond uniformly to BeSO<sub>4</sub>. In this study the T47D cell line was found to be the most resistant to BeSO<sub>4</sub> followed by MCF-7, IMR 32 and B35. SF539 was found to be the most sensitive towards BeSO<sub>4</sub> followed by C6, Caki-1 and NIH/3T3. In order to investigate the intra cellular effects of beryllium on mammalian cells it is essential to choose a cell line that is not too resistant to the beryllium salt. If a cell line is too resistant to beryllium treatment then it could be possible that the particular cell type may not be a good system to study the beryllium induced intra cellular effects. If a cell line is too sensitive to beryllium salt treatment then it would be difficult to recover sufficient number of viable cells after Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment for further processing (for example – generating western samples). Hence cell lines that can fairly tolerate beryllium treatment are usually selected for further studies.

We have included cell lines of different lineages in our survey Table 4 & 5. It is observed that cell lines of mammary lineage (MCF-7&T47D) seems to be resistant to higher concentration of beryllium salt with an IC<sub>50</sub> value range of approximately 150  $\mu$ M (Table 4). In an independent study it was observed that RKO cells (human colon carcinoma) were found to be resistant to higher concentrations of beryllium with an IC<sub>50</sub> value of 440  $\mu$ M (Gorjala, 2012).

GSK-3 $\beta$  plays an important role in the regulation of microtubule associated neuronal protein tau. Tau protein is involved in several functions associated with neurons (Liu et al., 1999; Avila et al., 2004; Fuster-Matanzo et al., 2009) GSK-3 $\beta$  induces phosphorylation of tau protein that resembles the Alzhemer's disease-like induced tau-phosphorylation (Hanger et al., 1992; Yang et al., 1993; Woods et al., 2001). Tau protein seems to be playing an important role in cell lines that are of neuronal lineage. Hence we included neuronal cell lines like B35, C6, IMR-32 and SF-539 in our study for potential use in future work related to GSK-3 $\beta$ -tau protein. It was observed that the neuronal cell lines can tolerate optimum concentration of BeSO<sub>4</sub> (IC<sub>50</sub> values 3 – 30  $\mu$ M). Independently it was also observed that additional neuronal cell lines A172 and U87MG (Gorjala, 2012) also showed a similar trend in their response to beryllium treatment as observed in our study.

It can be summarized that cell lines of mammary and colorectal lineage included in our study seems to be resistant to concentrations higher than 100  $\mu$ M of BeSO<sub>4</sub>. The lone cell line representing the human kidney cells were found to be sensitive to BeSO<sub>4</sub> (IC<sub>50</sub> = 4.93  $\mu$ M). However cell lines representing neuronal lineage seem to be respond to a range of different concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> For example SF-539 was found to be very sensitive to Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment (IC<sub>50</sub> = 2.9  $\mu$ M). However, most of the other neuronal cell lines like C6, A172 and U87MG were found to be responsive to optimum concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> (approx 10  $\mu$ M).

The rate of  $BeSO_4$  uptake by these cell lines could be one of the possible reasons for their differential sensitivity towards  $BeSO_4$ . ICP MS analysis could provide an idea as to which cell lines fail to uptake  $BeSO_4$  from the surrounding media.

## Table 5 General information about cell lines used in this study (www.atcc.org)

S. No	Cell Line	ATCC info	Species	Origin, Type	TP53 status	Refrences
1	B35	CRL-2754	Rattus norvegicus	Neuronal, neuroblast	NA	NA
2	Caki-1	HTB-46	Homo sapiens	Kidney, clear cell carcinoma	Wild type	Jia et al., 1997.
3	C6	CCL-107	Rattus norvegicus	Neuronal, glioma	Wild type	Asai et al., 1994.
4	IMR-32	CCL-127	Homo sapiens	Neuronal, neuroblast	Wild type	NA
5	MCF-7	HTB-22	Homo sapiens	Breast, adenocarcinoma	Wild type	Wasielewski et al., 2006.
6	T-47D	HTB-133	Homo sapiens	Breast, Ductal carcinoma	Mutated	Nigro et al., 1989.
7	NIH/3T3	CRL-1658	Mus musculus	Embryo, fibroblast	NA	
8	SF539	NCI-60 cell line*	Homo sapiens	Neuronal, Glioma	Mutated	Forbes et al., 2010.
9	A172	CRL-1620	Homo sapiens	Neuronal, Glioma	Wild type	Mirzayans et al., 2005
10	U87MG	HTB-14	Homo sapiens	Neuronal, Glioma	Wild type	Van Meir et al., 1994.
11	HFL-1	CCL-153	Homo sapiens	Fetus lung, fibroblast	NA	NA

### **CHAPTER 4**

## Beryllium a potent GSK-3β inhibitor

### Introduction

Beryllium ( $Be^{2+}$ ) is a metal cation inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$ . The other metal ions which are included under this group are lithium ( $Li^+$ ) and zinc ( $Zn^{2+}$ ). Lithium is the most well characterized metal cation inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$ , which mimics both insulin (Cheng et al., 1983; Bosch et al., 1986; Woo et al., 2000) and Wnt ligands (Stambolic et al., 1996; Klein and Melton, 1996; Hedgepeth et al., 1997). The effects of lithium treatment on GSK-3 $\beta$  at molecular level and the underlying inhibitory mechanisms have been studied by different research groups. Some of the important points related to lithium's role as GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor can be summarized as follows:

- Li<sup>+</sup> treatment leads to an increase in the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β (Zhang et al., 2003).
- Li<sup>+</sup> mimics Wnt ligands and activates the Wnt signaling pathway (Stambolic et al., 1996; Hedgepeth et al., 1997).
- Ryves and Hartwood reported that Li<sup>+</sup> competes with Mg<sup>2+</sup> ions for the Mg<sup>2+</sup>- binding sites of GSK-3β enzyme.
- Li<sup>+</sup> mimics the GSK-3β-inhibitory action of both insulin and Wnt ligands (Cheng et al. 1983; Bosch et al. 1986; Woo et al. 2000; Stambolic et al., 1996)

 $Li^+$  is a well characterized GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor with a K<sub>i</sub> value of 2 mM (Klein and Melton, 1996).  $Li^+$  is a fairly specific inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  but it also inhibits other kinases (explained in Table. 3). Be<sup>2+</sup> is a GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor eliciting its GSK-3 $\beta$  - inhibitory action at a much lower concentration compared to the Ki value of  $Li^+$  (Mudireddy et al., 2014). The IC<sub>50</sub> value of Be<sup>2+</sup> is 6

 $\mu$ M, which is much lower than the IC<sub>50</sub> value of Li<sup>+</sup> required for GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibition (Ryves et al., 2002). This preliminary study is to investigate whether Be<sup>2+</sup> is a better and potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor compared to the other metal ion Li<sup>+</sup>.

There is a great deal of information explaining the role/mechanism of  $Li^+$  as a GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor but not much is known about  $Be^{2+}$ . Except for the information that  $Be^{2+}$  competes for both  $Mg^{2+}$  and ATP binding sites on GSK-3 $\beta$  nothing much is known about its inhibitory effects on GSK-3 $\beta$ . There are many unanswered questions about beryllium's role as a potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor.

- Can beryllium inhibit the activity of GSK-3β?
- How potent/efficient is beryllium compared to lithium in terms of GSK-3β inhibition?
- Is beryllium a specific GSK-3β inhibitor?
- What could be the underlying inhibitory mechanism behind beryllium induced inhibition of GSK-3β?

In this study we investigated the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on the kinase activity of pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme *in vitro*. In this study we also analyzed the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on treated cells and emphasis was laid to investigate the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on the viability of cells compared to Li<sup>+</sup>.

As explained in the Chapter 2, Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  plays an important role in its regulation. We investigated whether Be<sup>2+</sup> can regulate the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ .

Independently, the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on endogenous GSK-3 $\beta$  was also analyzed as part of this research project (Mudireddy et al., 2014) but is not part of the thesis.

### Materials and methods

### **Cell culture**

HFL-1 (human lung fibroblast) and A172 (human glioblastoma) cells were obtained from ATCC (Manassas VA). Cells were grown in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 25 mM HEPES, 10% FBS, and 1x antibiotic-antimycotic (Invitrogen-Gibco) at 37° C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. HEPES was included as an auxiliary buffering agent.

### Cell viability assay

ApoToxGlo Triplex assay (Promega-cat#G6321, lot# 32439) was used to assess the cellular protease activity in cultured cells. This assay simultaneously measures the activity of two cellular proteases generically called as the live cell protease and the dead cell protease. The live cell protease activity is present only in the intact viable cells and is measured using a fluorogenic, cell-permeant, peptide substrate (glycyl-phenylalanyl-aminofluorocoumarin; GF-AFC). The cellpermeant substrate enters the live intact cells where it is acted upon and cleaved by the live cell protease. The cleaved cell-permeant substrate generates a fluorescent signal proportional to the number of live cells. The other substrate in the assay is a fluorogenic cell-impermeant peptide substrate (bis-alanylalanyl-rhodamine 110; bis-AAF-R110). This cell-impermeant substrate is inaccessible to the live cell protease. The live cell protease becomes inactive upon loss of membrane integrity and leaks into the culture medium. The dead cell protease acts upon the second fluorogenic substrate and generates a fluorescent signal, which is different from the live cell signal. The live cell and dead cell proteases produce different fluorogenic products, AFC and R110 respectively. These products have different excitation and emission spectra allowing them to be detected simultaneously (Niles et al., 2007). A172 cells were cultured in the presence of different concentrations of beryllium and lithium for 24, 48 and 72 hr. The cells were initially cultured in 60 mm culture dishes and were trypsinized, counted and reseeded into 384 well plates

at 5000 cell/well. Proper care was taken to ensure that cells are under the influence of appropriate concentrations of the inhibitors for the above mentioned treatment periods. After the conclusion of the treatment time i.e at 24, 48 or 72 hr, the substrates from the ApoToxGlo Triplex (Promega) was added to the cells in the 384 well plates. The plate was then incubated for 30 min at 37°C. The live cell (ex 400 nm, em 505 nm) and dead cell fluorescence (ex 485 nm, em 520 nm) was measured using a Tecan M1000 plate reader.

### FRET based assay for analyzing in vitro kinase activity of enzymes

The z-Lyte is a FRET based biochemical assay that can be used to analyze the kinase activity of different enzymes. The assay kit provides customized substrate peptides that can be phoshorylated by the candidate enzyme whose kinase activity is to be tested. The z-lyte assay will be used to analyze the effect of  $BeSO_4$  and LiCl on the activity of pure recombinant proteins -  $GSK-3\beta$  and PKA.

## z-Lyte FRET assay principle:

The z-Lyte Ser/Thr peptide #9 (#PV3324) {sequence derived from glycogen synthase I (**PRPASVPP(pS)P(pS)** and the z-Lyte Ser/Thr peptide #1 (#PV3174) {sequence derived from porcine pyruvate liver kinase (**LRRASLG**)} were used as substrates for GSK-3 $\beta$  and PKA respectively. The peptide substrates are labeled with two fluorophores one at each end, which act as a FRET pair. In this case the peptide substrates are labeled with methyl coumarin (FRET donor) at one end and fluorescein (FRET acceptor) on the other end. The substrate peptides phosphorylated at the designated Ser residues will be immune to the peptide-cleavage activity of site-specific protease used in this assay. The substrate peptides phosphorylated at the designated Ser residues will be immune to the peptide at the designated Ser residues will not be cleaved and maintain the FRET pair thereby emitting a detectable fluorescence signal. Conversely the un-phosphorylated peptide substrate will be cleaved resulting in the loss of the FRET pair (loss of fluorescence signal as well)

Pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  and PKA were used in the kinase assay at a final concentration of 1 ng/reaction in order to maintain the final or over all phosphorylation capacity of the enzyme at 50% rather than 100% (this was done avoid the saturation of enzyme activity). It is important to prepare the inhibitors in the kinase buffer (50 mM HEPES, pH 7.5, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 1 mM EGTA, 0.01% BRIJ-35, 100  $\mu$ M ATP) only. The enzyme (1 ng/reaction) and the substrate peptides (2  $\mu$ M – final concentration) were incubated for 60 min at 25 °C in a reaction volume of 20  $\mu$ L. The kinase reaction was terminated by adding the development reagent A (site specific protease) and incubating the reaction mix for 60 min at 25 °C, followed by the addition of the stop solution. The reaction mix is then transferred to a 96 well plate and the fluorescence is measured using Tecan M1000 platereader (coumarin fluorescence - ex 400 nm, em 445 nm) and fluorescein florescence - ex 400 nm, em 520 nm).

In the control samples (no inhibitors) the FRET pair will be intact because of the ability of the enzyme to phosphorylate the peptide substrates and shield them from the proteolytic activity of development solution A. The fluorescence values are expected to be higher for the control samples. If the inhibitors (BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl) are successful in inhibiting the kinase activity of the candidate enzyme then the phosphorylation of the substrate peptide will be hampered. The unphosphorylated or under phosphorylated substrate peptides will be cleaved by the development reagent A. The cleavage of the substrate peptides results in the loss of the FRET pair that will eventually be translated in the form of low fluorescence signal values.

To validate the FRET-kinase assay, the effect of H-89 a PKA specific inhibitor was analyzed on purified recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  and PKA enzymes.

Important precautions for z-Lyte assay:

- In order to maintain the phosphorylation levels at 50% the final enzyme concentration has to be approximately 1ng/reaction. (enzyme efficiency keeps decreasing with multiple thawing cycles).
- The BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl stocks should always be prepared in the kinase buffer instead of any other solvent for best results.

## Emission ratio = Coumarin Emission (445 nm)/Fluorescein Emission (520 nm)

The % of phosphorylation was calculated by using the formula provided in the assay kit protocol (Invitrogen #PV3324).

% Phosphorylation = 1- {(Emission Ratio \*  $F_{100\%}$ ) –  $C_{100\%}$ }/{( $C_{0\%}$  -  $C_{100\%}$ ) + [Emission Ratio \*( $F_{100\%}$  -  $F_{0\%}$ )]}

Emission Ratio =		Coumarin/Fluorescein ratio of sample wells		
C1009/	=	Average Coumarin emission signal of the 100% Phos. Control		

C <sub>0%</sub>	=	Average Coumarin emission signal of the 0% Phos. Control
F <sub>100%</sub>	=	Average Fluorescein emission signal of the 100% Phos. Control
<b>F</b> <sub>0%</sub>	=	Average Fluorescein emission signal of the 0% Phos. Control

## Western blotting

Cells were cultured in 100 mm CELLSTAR cell culture dishes (cat#664 160). Total cell lysates were prepared from A172 and HFL-1 cells treated with BeSO<sub>4</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O (lot&filling code: 413015/1 22001, Fluka) and LiCl (L-8895, Lot#22K0184, sigma) for 24 and 48 hr. MPER buffer (Prod#78501, thermo scientific) was used for protein extraction. The MPER buffer was supplemented with protease inhibitor (halt protease inhibitor cocktail kit, Pierce cat#78442) and phosphatase inhibitors (sodium fluoride - 20 mM, beta glycerol phosphate - 10 mM, sodium ortho

vanadate - 0.1 mM, paranitro phenyl phosphate - 20 mM and 1X EDTA). Protein concentration was measured by BCA assay (Thermo scientific, #23227) and the protein samples were normalized. Samples were run either on 10% SDS PAGE gel or 4-12% gradient SDS-PAGE gels (ref#WG1402BX10 from Novex-life technologies) and transferred onto a PVDF membrane 0.2 µm pore size (Millipore cat#IPFL20200; Bio-Rad. cat#162-0255). Post transfer the membranes were blocked in 10% milk or starting block TBS (Prod#37543, thermo scientific - when probing with phospho antibodies). The post transfer and blocked PVDF membranes were probed with the following primary antibodies separately: anti GSK-3 $\alpha$ / $\beta$  mouse monoclonal (cat#368662, clone 1H8, EMD Calbiochem), phospho-GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ser-9) affinity purified rabbit polyclonal antibody (cat#9336, Cell Signaling Technologies), phospho-GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ser-9) affinity purified mouse monoclonal antibody (cat#361527, clone 2D3, EMD-Calbiochem), p53 mouse monoclonal (cat#1615, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, actin goat polyclonal (cat#1615, Santa Cruz Biotechnology). Blots were incubated with the appropriate HRP conjugated secondary antibodies, developed with ECL-Plus (GE Healthcare Life Sciences), and imaged using a GE Typhoon 9410 Variable Mode Imager.

## **Antibody information**

phospho GSK-3β (2D3) (Ser-9): Mouse monoclonal (#361527, EMD-Calbiochem) and goat anti-mouse IgG peroxidase (cat#A9917 Sigma Aldrich)

Total GSK- $3\alpha/\beta$  (1H8): Mouse monoclonal IgG<sub>2b</sub> (cat#sc-368662, EMB – Calbiochem) and goat anti-mouse IgG peroxidase (cat#A9917, Sigma Aldrich)

p53 DO1: Mouse monoclonal  $IgG_{2b}$  (cat#sc-126 Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and goat anti-mouse IgG peroxidase (cat#A9917, Sigma Aldrich)

Actin: Goat monoclonal  $IgG_{2b}$  (cat#sc-1615 Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and bovine antigoat IgG-HRP (cat#sc-2350, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc)

### TR-FRET assay for quantifying the pSer-9 of GSK-3β

BacMam-enabled lantha screen cellular assay is an efficient tool to analyze the post translational modification of proteins. The LanthaScreen BacMam assay system (Invitrogen - life technologies) combines two powerful techniques to generate reliable fluorescence data with minimized background. It consists of different components - a modified baculo virus capable of infecting mammalian cells and a terbium (Tb) labeled antibody system. The modified bacculo virus acts a vector to accomplish the successful expression of a fusion protein (Green Fluorescent Protein + protein of interest) in the host cells. After the successful transduction of the host cells they are treated with the inhibitors or stimulators for a specific period of time. After the treatment cells are lysed and fresh cell lysates are probed with the Tb antibody specific for the post translational modification of the candidate protein (fusion protein).

In this study the LanthaScreen BacMam reagent (part#PM4355A0, lot#E0272-43882, Invitrogen - life technologies) was used to introduce a GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$  fusion protein (Green Fluorescent Protein–GSK-3 $\beta$ ) into A172 cells. The fusion protein contains the GFP on the N-terminus, and the full length GSK-3 $\beta$  on the C-terminal side. The GFP and the GSK-3 $\beta$  are connected by a short linker. The successful transduction of the A172 cells with the BacMam virus can be confirmed by the expression of GFP. The transformed A172 cells numbering 40,000 each were then transferred to each well in a 384 well plate and cultured in the RPMI supplemented with BeSO<sub>4</sub> or LiCl for 24 hr. After the completion of the treatment time, cells were lysed using the LanthaScreen cellular assay lysis buffer (PM4355X, lot#MSN1143-086) supplemented with 3 nM of the Tb-conjugated anti-pSer9 GSK-3 $\beta$  antibody (PM4312AV, lot#MSN1023-183-3). Tecan M1000 plate reader was used to record the Tb fluorescence (ex 332 nm, em 485) and GFP fluorescence (ex 395 nm, em 515 nm). Phosphorylation was reported as ((515 nm/485 nm)/GFP Fluorescence)\*100000.

In the BacMam-enabled lantha screen cellular assay the GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$  fusion protein acts as the substrate for the action of BesO<sub>4</sub> or LiCl. The Ser-9 phosphorylation of the GSK-3 $\beta$  in the fusion protein is assessed by using a Tb-conjugated anti-pSer9 GSK-3 $\beta$  antibody. The binding of the terbium labeled anti- pSer9GSK-3 $\beta$  antibody to the substrate (fusion protein) brings the terbium close enough to the GFP to support the formation of a successful TR-FRET pair (Time Resolved Fluorescence Energy Resonance Transfer). Terbium and GFP forms an effective TR-FRET pair (David Comley, 2006) which has the added advantage of minimizing the background fluorescence interference. In this assay the increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of the GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$  fusion protein will in turn lead to the formation of abundant TR-FRET pairs. More the number of successful TR-FRET pairs the higher would be the fluorescence signal and it indicates that in the presence of a specific inhibitor at a particular concentration an increase in the pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$  is observed.

## Flow cytometry

Cells were treated with BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl for 24 hr. After the treatment period, cells were collected by trypsinization, washed with PBS and fixed with 4% formal dehyde. Cells were then permeabilized with methanol. Cells were blocked with starting block TBS (prod#37543, thermo scientific), supplemented with halt protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Pierce cat#78442). Fixed and blocked cells were then incubated with pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$  rabbit monoclonal antibody (clone D85E12, cat#5558, Cell Signaling Technology) over night at 4°C, followed by FITC conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (cat#sc-2012, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) at 0.5 µg/1 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells. Cells were run on a BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer collecting 20,000 events per sample each time. Post data collection the FITC channel fluorescence intensity was analyzed using CellQuest Pro Software.

## Microscopy

Nikon Inverted Microscope Eclipse TE2000-U (dia-illuminator 100W) was used to capture bright field images of A172 cells treated with different concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl.

### Data analysis

GraphPad Prism v6 (Mac OS) was used for curve fitting, calculating IC<sub>50</sub>, performing twotailed t-test (unpaired) with P < 0.05 considered as significant. For data sets involving two or more groups per treatment; the data was analyzed using one-way ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significant) with post Tukey's multiple comparision test.

### Results

## BeSO<sub>4</sub> inhibits the kinase activity of purified recombinant GSK-3β in vitro

The Z-Lyte assay, which is a FRET-based kinase assay was used to assess the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Purified recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme was used in the assay along with the appropriate assay buffers. A synthetic peptide was used as the substrate, which has the coumarin and fluorescein labels conjugated to its ends. The reaction mix was spiked with different concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> ( $\mu$ M) or LiCl (mM). The effect of the inhibitors on the kinase activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  was analyzed by monitoring the FRET signal intensity. The activity of the pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  is directly correlated to the FRET signal. Inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  leads to decrease in the FRET signal as well. It is observed that with increasing concentration of Be<sup>2+</sup> and Li<sup>+</sup>, the activity of pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  is decreasing (Fig. 2a&2b) and it is translated in the form of lower fluorescence signal. It is also observed that Be<sup>2+</sup> is a much more potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor compared to Li<sup>+</sup>. BeSO<sub>4</sub> being effective in micromolar concentrations range compared to the effective range of LiCl which is in millimolars. From the in vitro FRET kinase assay the IC<sub>50</sub>

values were calculated as follows;  $BeSO_4 IC_{50} = 2 \ \mu M$ , LiCl  $IC_{50} = 12 \ mM$ . The *in vitro* FRET kinase assay demonstrates that  $Be^{2+}$  inhibits the activity of purified recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme and is much more effective than the other established GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor Li<sup>+</sup>.



Fig. 2a Effect of beryllium on the in vitro kinase activity of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme activity was measured using the FRET-based fluorescence assay. The activity of pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  in the absence of inhibitors (control) or in the presence of 0.3, 1, 3, 10, 30, 100, 300  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> was measured. Enzyme activity is measured as formation of the phosphorylated peptide product (mean +/- SD). Data was analyzed using one-way ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significant compared to control) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism trial version 6.0 for Mac OS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, www.graphpad.com. (ns = non significant compared to the control, \* =  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ , \*\*\* =  $P \le 0.0001$ ). For Be<sup>2+</sup> the IC<sub>50</sub> = 2  $\mu$ M.



Fig. 2b Effect of lithium on the in vitro kinase activity of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme activity was measured using the FRET-based fluorescence assay. The activity of pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  in the absence of inhibitors (control) or in the presence of 1, 3, 10, 30, 100, 300 mM LiCl was measured. Enzyme activity is measured as formation of the phosphorylated peptide product (mean +/- SD). Data was analyzed using one-way ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significant compared to control) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism trial version 6.0 for Mac OS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, <u>www.graphpad.com</u> was used. (ns = non significant compared to control), \*=  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\* =  $P \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ ). For Li<sup>+</sup>, IC<sub>50</sub> = 12 mM.

# Specificity of Be<sup>2+</sup> towards other kinases

To analyze whether  $Be^{2+}$  is a specific GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor, another kinase i.e. protein kinase A (PKA) was chosen for the FRET-based kinase assay. Li<sup>+</sup> is a fairly specific GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor, which supposedly has no inhibitory effect towards PKA enzyme (Klein and Melton, 1996). In the presence of  $BeSO_4$  a decrease in the *in vitro* kinase activity of PKA is observed (Fig. 3a). On the other hand the kinase activity of PKA remains fairly constant in the presence of LiCl at lower concentrations 1-30 mM (Fig. 3b).


Fig. 3a Effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on the in vitro kinase activity of protein kinsae A (PKA). In vitro PKA activity was measured by the FRET-based kinase assay in the absence (control) presence of 0.3, 1, 3, 10, 30, 100 or 300  $\mu$ M of BeSO<sub>4</sub>. Data was analyzed using one-way ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significant) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism trial version 6.0 for Mac OS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, <u>www.graphpad.com</u> was used. (ns = non significant, \* =  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\* =  $P \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ , \*\*\*\* =  $P \le 0.0001$ ).



Fig. 3b Effect of Li<sup>+</sup> on the in vitro kinase activity of protein kinsae A (PKA). In vitro PKA activity was measured by the FRET-based kinase assay in the absence (control) presence of 1, 3, 10, 30, 100 or 300 mM of LiCl. Data was analyzed using one-way ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significant) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism trial version 6.0 for Mac OS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, <u>www.graphpad.com</u> was used. (ns = non significant, \* =  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\* =  $P \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ , \*\*\*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ ).

# Effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> and Li<sup>+</sup> on the viability of cells

Use of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl in culture media is bound to produce physiological and morphological effects on mammalian cells especially at higher concentrations. An important observation has been the induction of cellular senescence by BeSO<sub>4</sub> at concentrations as low as 10  $\mu$ M (Gorjala and Gary, 2010) We wished to investigate the effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl on the viability and growth of cells. In order to analyze the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup>- Li<sup>+</sup> treatment on the viability of cells, A172 cells were cultured in the presence of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl for 24, 48 or 72 hr. The effect of inhibitors on the viability of cells was analyzed using a live cell protease based fluorescence assay. The viability assay shows that beryllium does not have any major impact on the viability of A172 cells even at concentrations higher than its IC<sub>50</sub> of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Fig. 4). Lithium caused a significant decrease in the number of viable cells at 24 hr; when used at a concentration of 30 mM or more.When treated with 10-100  $\mu$ M BesO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr no major morphological changes were observed in A172 cells (appendix II, Fig. 2.1). For LiCl treatment, a concentration above 20 mM produced a marked decrease in the number of viable cells (Fig. 4). Morphologically as well A172 cells treated with 20 mM or higher concentrations of LiCl look very unhealthy (appendix II, Fig.

2.2)



Fig. 4a Effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells viability at 24 hr. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 20, 30, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 10, 20, 30, 100 mM LiCl for 24 hr. Cell viability was assessed using a fluorogenic substrate that can be cleaved by a protease associated with intact viable cells only. Mean intensities (+/- std. dev) are reported here. Data was analyzed using oneway ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significantly different from control) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism trial version 6.0 for Mac OS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, <u>www.graphpad.com</u> was used. (ns = non significant compared to the control, \* =  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\* =  $P \le 0.01$ , \*\*\*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ , \*\*\*\* =  $P \le 0.0001$ ).



Fig. 4b Effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells viability at 48 hr. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 20, 30, 100 µM BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 10, 20, 30, 100 mM LiCl for 48 hr. Cell viability was assessed using a fluorogenic substrate that can be cleaved by a protease associated with intact viable cells only. Mean intensities (+/- std. dev) are reported here. Data was analyzed using oneway ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significantly different from control) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism trial version 6.0 for Mac OS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, <u>www.graphpad.com</u> was used. (ns = non significant compared to the control, \* =  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\* =  $P \le 0.01$ , \*\*\*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ , \*\*\*\* =  $P \le 0.0001$ ).



Fig. 4c Effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells viability at 72 hr. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 20, 30, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 10, 20, 30, 100 mM LiCl for 72 hr. Cell viability was assessed using a fluorogenic substrate that can be cleaved by a protease associated with intact viable cells only. Mean intensities (+/- std. dev) are reported here. Data was analyzed using oneway ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significantly different from control) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism trial version 6.0 for Mac OS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, <u>www.graphpad.com</u> was used. (ns = non significant compared to the control, \* =  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\* =  $P \le 0.01$ , \*\*\*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ , \*\*\*\* =  $P \le 0.0001$ ).

# Beryllium has little effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β

Autoregulation of GSK-3β by the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation is an important mechanism by which it is regulated (Frame et al., 2001; Dajani et al., 2001). Lithium treatment leads to an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β (Zhang et al., 2003). In order to investigate the effect of beryllium on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β A172 and HFL cells were cultured in different concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl for 24 or 48 hr. Phosphorylation of GSK-3β at Ser-9 was assessed by western blotting using a phosphospecific affinity-purified rabbit polyclonal and a phosphospecific mouse monoclonal antibody. Li<sup>+</sup> treatment caused an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in both A172 (Fig. 5a, b; lane-6, 7, 8) and HFL cells (Fig. 5c, d; lane-6, 7, 8). Fig. 5a, b The Li<sup>+</sup> treatment induced increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation was observed in the 24 & 48 hr samples. However, Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment did not elicit any drastic change in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in A172 (Fig. 5a, b; lane-2, 3,4) or HFL cells (Fig. 5c, d; lane-3, 4, 5) at 24 or 48 hr. To rule out the possibility that the lack of increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  is not due to the failure of Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment, the levels of p53 were assessed in the same samples. Beryllium treatment is known to cause an increase in the levels of p53 (Coates et al., 2007; Gorjala and Gary, 2010). As expected Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment caused an increase in the level of p53 (Fig. 5a-d), thus the p53 western serves as a positive control for  $Be^{2+}$  induced upregulation of protein expression. The total GSK-3 $\alpha$  and GSK- $3\beta$  levels remained constant in the A172 and HFL cells indicating that the Li<sup>+</sup> induced increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  is not due to the increase in the total GSK-3 $\beta$  levels (Fig. 5a-d). Actin serves as a loading control (Fig. 5a-d).









Fig. 5 Li<sup>+</sup> treatment caused an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  and Be<sup>2+</sup> does not. The protein levels of total GSK-3 $\alpha/\beta$ , GSK-3 $\beta$  phosphorylated at Ser-9 (using two different antibodies), p53 and actin were assessed via western blotting. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 30, or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 0, 10, 20 or 30 mM LiCl. A172 cells - (a) 24 hr or (b) 48 hr; HFL cells - (c) hr or (d) 48 hr.

# Quantitative analysis of the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β

Li<sup>+</sup> is a monovalent metal cation inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  competing for its Mg<sup>2+</sup> binding site (Ryves and Harwood, 2001) and also leads to an increase in the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation at physiologically relevant concentrations. Be<sup>2+</sup> too is a metal cation inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  and we expected it to have similar effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . On the contrary Be<sup>2+</sup> when used at physiologically relevant concentrations did not induce any appreciable change (increase) in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  as observed in the western blotting experiments (Fig. 5). As an alternate approach a TR-FRET based assay and flow cytometry analysis was used to study the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> and Li<sup>+</sup> on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . The quantification of the Ser-9 phosphorylation signal from GSK-3 $\beta$  was done via flow cytometry. A172 cells were fixed using 4% fomalin solution followed by permeabilization and probed with a flow cytometry specific pSer9-GSK3 $\beta$  antibody. It was observed that Li<sup>+</sup> treatment of A172 cells caused a dose dependent increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment had little effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in comparision to Li<sup>+</sup> (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6a Analyzing the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  treatment on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  using flow cytometry. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 30, 100 BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. The change in the pSer-9 status of GSK-3 $\beta$  was assessed using a pSer9-GSK3 $\beta$  primary antibody and FITC conjugated secondary antibody. Each flow cytometry histograms represents the mean fluorescence per cell value obtained from independent replicates for each inhibitor used at different concentrations.



Fig. 6b Analyzing the effect of Li<sup>+</sup> treatment on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  using flow cytometry. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 20, 30 mM LiCl for 24 hr. The change in the pSer-9 status of GSK-3 $\beta$  was assessed using a pSer9-GSK3 $\beta$  primary antibody and FITC conjugated secondary antibody. Each flow cytometry histograms represents the mean fluorescence per cell value obtained from independent replicates for each inhibitor used at different concentrations.

Treatment	Duration	Mean Fluorescence/Cell (% of control +/- std dev)
Control	24 hr	100 (+/- 2)
10 μM BeSO <sub>4</sub>	24 hr	98.9 (+/- 1)
30 µM BeSO <sub>4</sub>	24 hr	108 (+/- 5)
100 μM BeSO <sub>4</sub>	24 hr	120 (+/- 8)
10 mM LiCl	24 hr	185 (+/- 12)
20 mM LiCl	24 hr	221 (+/- 8)
30 mM LiCl	24 hr	245 (+/- 25)
Control	48 hr	100 (+/- 2)
10 μM BeSO <sub>4</sub>	48 hr	102 (+/- 4)
30 µM BeSO <sub>4</sub>	48 hr	110 (+/- 5)
100 μM BeSO <sub>4</sub>	48 hr	105(+/- 2)
10 mM LiCl	48 hr	200 (+/- 15)
20 mM LiCl	48 hr	247 (+/- 19)
30 mM LiCl	48 hr	282 (+/- 3)

Table 6. Analysis of mean fluorescence/cell (Ser-9 phosphorylation) at 24 hr

As a final verification the TR-FRET lantha screen based assay was used to quantify the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> and Li<sup>+</sup> on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . The BacMam virus based transfection system was used to introduce the GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$  fusion protein into A172 cells. The transfected cells were treated with BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl for 24 hr. Cell lysates obtained from the Be<sup>2+</sup> or Li<sup>+</sup> treated A172 cells were probed with Tb-conjugated antibody that binds to the GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$ fusion protein phosphorylated at Ser-9. It leads to the formation of a successful FRET pair with Tb serving as the FRET donor and GFP acting as the FRET acceptor. The FRET donor and acceptor are brought together to generate a successful FRET signal because of the binding of Tbconjugated antibody to the pSer9 of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of the GSK-3 $\beta$  is translated in the form of increase in the FRET signal. Be<sup>2+</sup> has no significant effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Fig. 7a). Li<sup>+</sup> on the other hand caused a concentration dependent increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Fig. 7b).



Fig. 7a Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment has no effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$  fusion protein. A172 cells expressing GFP-GSK3 $\beta$  fusion protein were treated with 0, 10, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. The Ser-9 phosphorylation of the GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$  was measured using the TR-FRET assay (mean +/- SD). One-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons test was used to obtain *P* values comparing the each dosage group with its corresponding control group (*P* <0.05 considered as significant; *ns* - not significant; \* - significant).



B

Fig. 7b Li<sup>+</sup> treatment induces an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$  fusion protein. A172 cells expressing GFP-GSK3 $\beta$  fusion protein were treated with 0, 10, 20 or 30 mM LiCl for 24 hr. The Ser-9 phosphorylation of the GFP-GSK-3 $\beta$  was measured using the TR-FRET assay (mean +/- SD). One-way ANOVA with Sidak's multiple comparisons test was used to obtain *P* values comparing the each dosage group with its corresponding control group (*P* <0.05 considered as significant; *ns* - not significant; \* - significant).

#### Discussion

GSK-3 $\beta$  is an important kinase regulating various signaling pathways. GSK-3 $\beta$  plays a critical role in cell divison, cell adhesion and apoptosis (Frame and Cohen, 2001; Doble and Woodgett, 2003; Grimes and Jope, 2001). Many important proteins that are part of the cell cycle regulation apparatus are putative targets of GSK-3 $\beta$ . p53, p21 CIP1, mdm 2, cyclin D1 are some of the important GSK-3 $\beta$ -substrates, which plays an important role in cell cycle regulation and are in turn regulated by GSK-3 $\beta$  (reviewed in Sutherland, 2011). De regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  has been associated with many diseases (Grimes and Jope, 2001; Henriksen and Dokken, 2006; Smalley and Dale, 1999; Peifer and Polakis, 2000). There is considerable interest towards the development of simple and effective GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors for therapeutic purpose and also to understand the precise role of GSK- $\beta$  in different signaling pathways.

Be<sup>2+</sup> is a cytostatic agent and its cytostatic effects were documented for the first time in an animal limb regeneration model (Thornton, 1949; Chevremont and Firket, 1951). BeSO<sub>4</sub> is known to elicit cellular senescence at concentrations as low as 10  $\mu$ M (Coates et al., 2007; Gorjala and Gary, 2010). Work from our lab shows that Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment leads to an increase in the level of p53 and p21 CIP1 (Coates et al., 2007; Gorjala and Gary, 2010; Mudireddy et al., 2014). There is a strong possibility that the cytostatic effects of Be<sup>2+</sup> could be due to the up regulation of cell cycle regulators like p53 and p21 CIP1. It has been reported that proteins involved in cell cycle regulation such as p53, p21 CIP1, cyclin D1 and mdm2 are important substrates of GSK-3 $\beta$  (reviewed in Sutherland, 2011). It could be possible that the cytostatic effects elicited by beryllium could be partly because of the ability of beryllium to regulate GSK-3 $\beta$ 's activity towards its putative substrates (cell cycle regulators). GSK-3 $\beta$  is a Mg<sup>2+</sup> and ATP dependent enzyme and it has been reported by Ryves et al that Be<sup>2+</sup> could inhibit GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme by competing for both the Mg<sup>2+</sup> and ATP binding sites (Ryves et al., 2002). The available information suggests that beryllium could possibly function as an effective GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor.

Historically majority of the research work related to beryllium has been directed towards establishing its propensity to act as a carcinogen. Beryllium at high concentrations and when administered via the nasal route could act as a potential carcinogen (Haley et al., 1990; Nikula et al., 1997; Finch et al., 1998). Moreover beryllium seems to be effective as a carcinogen in rats but not in other mammalian models such as mice and guinea pigs (Schepers, 1961). The question whether  $Be^{2+}$  could act as a potential GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor was ignored till it was shown that  $Be^{2+}$  in the form of BeCl<sub>2</sub> can inhibit the in vitro kinase activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ryves et al., 2002). We have used Be<sup>2+</sup> in the form of BeSO<sub>4</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O and demonstrated that it can inhibit the in vitro kinase activity of the pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  protein (Fig. 2a). In our study we found the IC<sub>50</sub> of Be<sup>2+</sup> to be ~ 2  $\mu$ M, which is quite close to the IC<sub>50</sub> = 6  $\mu$ M value reported by Ryves et al. Be<sup>2+</sup> was found to be a potent GSK-3β inhibitor acting at a much lower concentration compared to Li<sup>+</sup>.  $Be^{2+}$  was also found to be inhibiting the activity of endogenous GSK-3 $\beta$  activity in A172 and HFL cells (Mudireddy et al., 2014). The ability of  $Be^{2+}$  to inhibit the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  at low concentrations has the added advantage of Be<sup>2+</sup> being much less toxic to the cells compared to Li<sup>+</sup> at physiologically relevant concentrations (Fig. 4). The low  $IC_{50}$  value of Be<sup>2+</sup> combined by its low cytotoxicity, points to the fact that  $Be^{2+}$  could act as a much more potent and effective GSK- $3\beta$  inhibitor compared to Li<sup>+</sup>.

To investigate whether  $Be^{2+}$  can inhibit the activity of other related kinases, protein kinase A (PKA) was selected as a negative control. PKA is closely associated with regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  and is known to phosphorylate GSK-3 $\beta$  at the Ser-9 residue (Fang et al., 2000; Li et al., 2000; Tanji et al., 2002). Hence PKA could serve as a good candidate to investigate the specificity of beryllium towards other kinases. The effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on the kinase activity of pure recombinant PKA was analyzed using the FRET- based kinase assay (Fig. 3a).  $Be^{2+}$  seems to be inhibiting the in vitro kinase activity of purified recombinant PKA protein. Li<sup>+</sup> supposedly has no effect on the kinase activity of PKA (Fig. 3b) at a concentration that is within the range of its GSK-3 $\beta$ -IC<sub>50</sub>.

However at high concentrations i.e 100 - 300 mM, Li<sup>+</sup> seems to be inhibiting the in vitro kinase activity of pure recombinant PKA protein (Fig. 3b). To address the specificity of Be<sup>2+</sup> towards other kinases it is necessary to analyze the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment on other closely related kinases. To provide a comprehensive answer whether Be<sup>2+</sup> is an indiscriminate kinase inhibitor or a specific GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor it would be prudent to include as many kinases in this study.

The most surprising aspect of this study is the lack of prominent increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β (Fig. 5, 6, 7a). Unlike Li<sup>+</sup>, Be<sup>2+</sup> has minimal effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation status of GSK-3<sup>β</sup>. The Ser-9 residue on the N-terminal tail of the GSK-3<sup>β</sup> protein plays an important role in its regulation. The N-terminal Ser-9 residue when phosphorylated acts a pseudo substrate thus blocking the actual substrate-GSK-3 $\beta$  interaction. The inhibition of GSK-3β induced by the Ser-9 phosphorylation is reversible and the GSK-3β-TIMAP-PP1 feedback loop plays a critical role in it (refer schematic diagram 3 on page 73). TIMAP serves as a substrate/target of GSK-3 $\beta$  and is an important regulatory subunit of protein phosphatase 1 (PP1). GSK-3 $\beta$  mediated phosphorylation of TIMAP, up regulates the phosphatase activity of PP1 (Li et al., 2007). The phosphatase activity of PP1 facilitates a decrease in the phosphorylation at Ser-9 of GSK-3 $\beta$ , there by having a positive effect on the GSK-3 $\beta$ -activity. The activation of GSK-3 $\beta$  has an enhancing effect on the activity of PP1 via the GSK-3 $\beta$ mediated TIMAP phosphorylation. Activated PP1 in turn leads to decrease in the pSer-9 of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Hence GSK-3 $\beta$  and PP1 regulate each other via a positive feedback loop. Activated GSK-3 $\beta$ leads to enhanced phosphatase activity of PP1; PP1 in turn works towards decreasing the pSer-9 of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Li<sup>+</sup> inhibits the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  by inducing Ser-9 phosphorylation, which in turn negatively regulates the phosphatase activity of PP1. The Li<sup>+</sup> induced inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  has a compounding effect on the pSer9-GSK- $\beta$  status because of the perturbation in the GSK-3 $\beta$ -TIMAP-PP1 feedback loop (Zhang et al., 2003). It is quite plausible that the lack of appreciable

increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in the presence of Be<sup>2+</sup> could be because of its inability to upset the GSK-3 $\beta$ -TIMAP-PP1feedback loop.

However the GSK-3 $\beta$ -TIMAP-PP1feedback loop may not be the only mechanism by which Li<sup>+</sup> regulates the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . It has been observed that Li<sup>+</sup> treatment leads to activation and phosphorylation of phosphotidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and the threonine/serine kinase Akt/PKB respectively (Chalecka-Franaszek and Chuang, 1999). PI3K and Akt/PKB are important constituents of the insulin signaling pathway, which ultimately leads to activation of glycogen synthase via the inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Akt/PKB is known to phosphorylate GSK-3 $\beta$  at Ser-9 and inactivate it (Sutherland et al., 1993; Cross et al., 1994, 1995; Stambolic and Woodgett, 1994). Li<sup>+</sup> is an insulin mimetic agent (Cheng et al., 1983; Bosch et al., 1986; Woo et al., 2000). It is possible that like insulin, Li<sup>+</sup> too caused an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  via the activation/phosphorylation of Akt/PKB. However according to some reports Li<sup>+</sup> has no effect on the phosphorylation of Akt/PKB (De Sarno et al., 2002). Another possible explanation for the minimal increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in response to Be<sup>2+</sup> could possibly be because of its in ability to interact/affect a critical component of the insulin signaling pathway.

This study adds valuable information to establish  $Be^{2+}$  as a metal cation that elicits strong inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  and demonstrates that  $Be^{2+}$  is a potent and efficient GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor compared to  $Li^+$ .

**Schematic diagram 3**: GSK-3 $\beta$ -TIMAP-PP1 positive feedback loop model proposed by Zhang et al. (Zhang et al., 2003)



#### **CHAPTER 5**

# Differential regulation of glycogen synthase and $\beta$ -catenin by beryllium: a unique inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$

# Introduction

Glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3) is an important serine/threonine kinase found in all eukaryotes. GSK-3 was first isolated in its homogenous form from rabbit skeletal muscle cells (Embi et al., 1980). The name glycogen synthase kinase refers to its ability to phosphorylate glycogen synthase, a key regulatory element of glycogen synthesis pathway. There are two isoforms of mammalian GSK-3: GSK-3 $\alpha$  and GSK-3 $\beta$ , which are not functionally interchangeable in spite of sharing 95% sequence identity in their kinase domains (Woodgett, 1990). Functional GSK-3 $\alpha$  cannot alleviate the lethality induced in mouse embryos due the homozygous deletions of exon 2 of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Hoeflich et al., 2000).

GSK-3 $\beta$  is a fascinating enzyme playing a central role in extremely diverse intra cellular signaling pathways like Wnt signaling pathway and hedgehog pathway. GSK-3 $\beta$  regulates glycogen synthesis, gene transcription, apoptosis, protein synthesis and cellular differentiation in various cell types (Frame and Cohen, 2001; Doble and Woodgett, 2003; Grimes and Jope, 2001). The moniker glycogen synthase kinase doesn't justify the ability of GSK-3 $\beta$  to phosphorylate various metabolically and structurally important proteins. There is overwhelming evidence that establishes a plethora of different proteins as validated substrates of GSK-3 $\beta$  like tau,  $\beta$ -catenin, cyclin D1, axin, c-jun, c-myc, Heat Shock Factor – 1, BCL-3, CREB, Histone H1.5, mdm2, p21(CIP1), pyruvate dehydrogenase and many more (reviewed in Sutherland, 2011). Since GSK-3 $\beta$  plays a critical role in the regulation and stability of various important proteins, de-regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  has been associated with many diseases. Hyper phosphorylation of tau protein by GSK-3 $\beta$  is one of the primary causes for the development of Alzheimer's disease (Hooper et al., 2008). Role of GSK-3 $\beta$  in the development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes has been established in various studies (Henriksen and Dokken, 2006).

GSK-3β is an important constituent of the β-catenin destruction complex along with APC (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli), axin, casein kinase 1 (CK1), protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and E3-ubiquitin ligase β-TrCP (Zeng et al., 1997; Behrens et al., 1998; Hart et al., 1998, Ikeda et al., 1998; Itoh et al., 1998; Salic et al., 2000; Kikuchi, 1999). The β-catenin destruction complex is involved in regulating β-catenin turn over and GSK-3β plays a central role in it (**refer schematic diagram 2 on page 14**) Wnt activation results in the repression of GSK-3β activity (Bilic et al., 2007; MacDonald et al., 2009; Metcalfe and Bienz, 2011) leading to stabilization and nuclear translocation of β-catenin (Cook et al., 1996; Huber et al., 1996; Willert et al., 1999). In nucleus β-catenin interacts with TCF/LEF proteins to form a complex that regulates the transcription of TCF/LEF target genes (Huber et al., 1996). The inhibition of GSK-3β associated or bound to the components of β-catenin destruction complex has to be tightly regulated because some of the target genes of β-catenin are proto oncogenes (Dale, 1998; Brantjes et al., 2002).

Apart from the Wnt ligands, insulin is another well characterized inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Sutherland et al., 1993; Cross et al., 1995; Shaw et al., 1997). Insulin regulates GSK-3 $\beta$  by inducing an increase in the phosphorylation of its N-terminal Ser-9 residue (Sutherland et al., 1993; Welsh and Proud, 1993; Cross et al., 1995). The phosphorylated Ser-9 residue on the N-terminal region of GSK-3 $\beta$  acts as a pseudo substrate thus blocking the access of putative substrates to GSK-3 $\beta$ 's catalytic site (Frame et al., 2001; Dajani et al., 2001). The upstream kinases of the insulin signaling pathway especially Akt/PKB (protein kinase B) plays an important role in the insulin induced inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Cross et al., 1994, 1995; Stambolic and Woodgett, 1994). Akt/PKB has been found to phosphorylate GSK-3 $\beta$  at the N-terminal Ser-9 residue thus inhibiting it (Shaw et al., 1997; Cross et al., 1994, 1995; Stambolic and Woodgett,

1994). There are other inhibitors of GSK-3 $\beta$  that are also known to induce the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (discussed later). The available information suggests that phosphorylation of Ser-9 residue on the N-terminal region of GSK-3 $\beta$  plays an important role in its regulation.

Even though Wnt ligands and insulin have been established as negative regulators of GSK-3 $\beta$  their mode of action seems to be different (Ding et al., 2000). Ding et al showed that insulin seems to be inhibiting GSK-3 $\beta$  activity via the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation route and Wnt ligands could not mediate such an affect. The differential regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  by insulin and Wnt ligands was supported by the observation that Wnt ligands could not induce the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  and insulin failed to induce nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (Ding et al., 2000). This study demonstrates that the Wnt pathway cannot inhibit the GSK-3 $\beta$ -enzyme fraction involved in the insulin signaling and vice versa. The hypothesis that the GSK-3 $\beta$  fraction involved in the insulin signaling pathway is insulated from the inhibitory effect of Wnt ligands and vice versa is contradicted by reports which suggests the possibility of a cross talk between insulin and Wnt signaling pathways (Desbois-Mouthon et al., 2001; Yi et al., 2008).

Apart from insulin and Wnt, another well characterized inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  is FRAT1. It was observed that FRAT1 selectively inhibits GSK-3 $\beta$  mediated phosphorylation of axin and  $\beta$ -catenin (Thomas et al., 1999). Nonetheless FRAT1 did not interfere with the GSK-3 $\beta$  mediated phosphorylation of glycogen synthase (Thomas et al., 1999). It implies that FRAT1 is able to selectively target the Wnt signaling pathway, while the insulin signaling pathway is insulated from FRAT1's inhibitory effects.

The available data suggests that few GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors are able to selectively regulate the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  depending upon the pathway in which it is involved. This information raises the possibility of GSK-3 $\beta$  existing in two different fractions – the "free GSK-3 $\beta$ " associated with

the insulin signaling pathway and the "bound GSK-3 $\beta$ " involved with the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex of Wnt signaling (**refer schematic diagram 2 on page 14**). It can be hypothesized that the ability of GSK-3 $\beta$ -inhibitors to inhibit a specific pathway depends on whether they are inhibiting the "free GSK-3 $\beta$ " or the "bound GSK-3 $\beta$ " or both. Alternatively it is also possible that the pathway selectivity of the GSK-3 $\beta$ -inhibitors depends on their effect on the other components of the signaling pathways (apart from GSK-3 $\beta$ ). It would be interesting to investigate the effect of GSK-3 $\beta$ -inhibitors on the other members of the insulin signaling pathway such as Akt/PKB or IRS-1. Additionally analyzing the effect of GSK-3 $\beta$ -inhibitors on the proteins involved in the  $\beta$ catenin destruction complex (axin, APC, PP2A) could provide us with an insight into the underlying mechanism behind the differential regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$ .

As discussed earlier inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  activity leads to stabilization and nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in the nucleus (Cook et al., 1996; Willert et al., 1999; Behrens et al., 1996; Huber et al., 1996). Several studies have directly linked the abnormal accumulation of  $\beta$ catenin with development of various cancers (Smalley and Dale, 1999; Peifer and Polakis, 2000; Thakur and Mishra, 2013). It can be speculated that de-regulation of the "bound GSK-3 $\beta$ " could be playing an important role in the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin.

In recent times GSK-3 $\beta$  has emerged as an important therapeutic target because of its role in the etiological development of different abnormalities and diseases. It is important to identify potent inhibitors of GSK-3 $\beta$  in order to characterize and understand the impact of GSK-3 $\beta$  deregulation. There are various classes of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors and the simplest among them is the group containing metal cations. Lithium (Li<sup>+</sup>) is a monovalent metal cation that acts as a potent inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  and is commonly used in the form of LiCl salt (Klein and Melton, 1996; Stambolic et al., 1996). Li<sup>+</sup> inhibits the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  both directly and indirectly (Jope, 2003). GSK-3 $\beta$  is a Mg<sup>2+</sup> dependent enzyme and Li<sup>+</sup> inhibits GSK-3 $\beta$  by directly competing with Mg<sup>2+</sup> ions for the magnesium binding sites on the protein (Ryves and Harwood, 2001; Ryves et al., 2002).

The post translational modification that leads to an increase in the phosphorylation of Ser-9 on GSK-3 $\beta$  is the indirect mode of action for some GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors. Like insulin, Li<sup>+</sup> too leads to an increase in the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation in a wide variety of cells thereby inhibiting GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme indirectly (Zhang et al., 2003). From the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation perspective, Li<sup>+</sup> mimics insulin and has a positive effect on glycogen metabolism (Cheng et al., 1983; Bosch et al., 1986; Choi et al., 2000). In addition Li<sup>+</sup> also mimics Wnt ligands and activates the Wnt signaling pathway, which in turn causes nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (Stambolic et al., 1996; Hedgepeth et al., 1997). Li<sup>+</sup> is a reasonably selective GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor but its inhibitory concentration range is in millimolars (Ki = 2 mM) (Klein and Melton, 1996). Beryllium (Be<sup>2+</sup>) another metal cation acts as an efficient inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  and is 1000 times more potent compared to lithium (Mudireddy et al., 2014).

Beryllium in the form of BeSO<sub>4</sub> salt acts as a potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor and is also tolerated well by mammalian cells at concentrations up to 100  $\mu$ M (Mudireddy et al., 2014). Apart from the fact that Be<sup>2+</sup> could be competing for both Mg<sup>2+</sup> and ATP binding sites on GSK-3 $\beta$  not much is known about the mechanism by which Be<sup>2+</sup> inhibits the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ryves et al., 2002). Be<sup>2+</sup> fails to induce an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in A172 cells (Mudireddy et. al., 2014), indicating that it might be inhibiting GSK-3 $\beta$  by an unknown mechanism. In this study we investigated whether the lack of increase in Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in the beryllium treated cells is a universal phenomenon or a cell type specific event. Our results for the first time demonstrates the intra cellular effects of Be<sup>2+</sup> on important substrates of GSK-3 $\beta$  like glycogen synthase and  $\beta$ -Catenin. This study validates the efficacy of beryllium as a cell culture reagent for GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibition. Our results also suggests that unlike Li<sup>+</sup>, which shows an unrestricted inhibitory action on GSK-3 $\beta$  activity, Be<sup>2+</sup> could be a more pathway-selective GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor.

#### Materials and methods

# Cell culture

A172 (human glioblastoma), U87MG (human glioblastoma/astrocytoma), Caki-1 (human kidney carcinoma) and NIH/3T3 (murine embryo fibroblasts) were obtained from American Type Culture Collection (Manassas, VA). RKO E6 human colon carcinoma, A172 E6 and U87MG E6 cells are RKO, A172 and U87MG transfected with pCMV-E6 plasmid expressing the human papillomavirus 16 E6 gene. A172 E6 cells are established and well characterized clones as described in (Xu et al., 2005). The E6 cell lines were a kind gift of Dr. J. Gregory Cairncross (University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta, Canada). Cells were grown in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum, (10% Bovine Growth Serum for NIH/3T3 cells), 25 mM Hepes and 1x antibiotic-antimycotic (Invitrogen-Gibco) at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### Serum starvation

NIH/3T3 cells were grown to 50-60% confluency in 5% BGS RPMI 1640. Cells were washed with serum-less RPMI 1640 and incubated in 2% BGS RPMI for 24 Hr. Cells were then serum starved for 2 Hr after being washed twice with serum-less RPMI 1640. Cells were then stimulated with 100 nM Insulin (Bovine pancreas insulin, sigma #I0516) for 30-60 min before harvesting the cells.

#### Salt treatment

BeSO<sub>4</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O (Fluka - lot & filling code 413015/1) was used to prepare a 10 mM stock in nanopure H<sub>2</sub>O and sterile filtered. The stock solution was used to prepare the appropriate concentrations of beryllium-RPMI 1640 for dosing cells. A 4M LiCl (sigma#L-8895, lot#22K0184) stock was prepared in nanopure H<sub>2</sub>O. 1 M stocks of other salts like CaCl<sub>2</sub> (sigma #C-5080, lot #10K0197), MgCl<sub>2</sub> (sigma #M-2670, lot #91K0108), NaCl (Amresco#0241-500G, lot #0452C125), KCL (sigma#P-3911, lot#91K0142) and Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>.5H<sub>2</sub>O (#SX0760 E-3) were prepared using nanopure H<sub>2</sub>O and sterile filtered.

Cells used for all experiments were obtained from a common pool and seeded in appropriate numbers (usually  $1.5 - 2.0*10^6$ ) to obtain sub confluency (50 - 70%). Cells were grown overnight but not more than 24 Hr before dosing them with freshly prepared RPMI 1640 + inhibitors (beryllium or lithium). The untreated/control cells would receive normal (fresh) RPMI 1640 without any beryllium or lithium.

#### Small molecule inhibitors of GSK-3β

SB216763 (sc-200646A, lot #D2711) and Rottlerin (sc-3550, lot #K1313) were prepared in DMSO.

#### Western blotting

Cells were grown in 100 mm CELLSTAR polysterene cell culture dishes (cat#664 160) and harvested by trypsinization. Cells were washed twice with phosphate-buffered saline and total cell lysates were prepared using M-PER (cat#78501, Thermo Scientific) supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitors (Halt protease inhibitor cocktail kit, Thermo Scientific cat#78442) and phosphatase inhibitors (sodium fluoride - 20 mM, beta glycerol phosphate - 10 mM, sodium ortho vanadate - 0.1 mM, paranitro phenyl phosphate - 20 mM and 1x EDTA) and the cell suspension was gently vortexed for 10 sec. The lysed cell suspension was incubated on ice for 10 min and followed by gentle vortexing for 5 sec and centrifuged at 14,000 RPM for 30

min. Appropriate amount of cell supernatant was added to 5x laemmli SDS sample buffer and boiled immediately for 5 min. Total protein concentration in the supernatant was measured by using BCA assay (Thermo Scientific #23227). Normalized protein samples were loaded onto 8% SDS-PAGE gels for probing with total glycogen synthase,  $\beta$ -catenin and phospho- $\beta$ -catenin proteins. For probing p53, actin, GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ser-9), total GSK-3 $\beta$ , p53 (1C12), total GSK-3 $\alpha$ / $\beta$ ,  $\alpha$ -Tubulin, lamin-B and lamin A/C 10% SDS-PAGE gels were used. For the phospho glycogen synthase samples 4-12% bis-tris gradient gels (ref#WG1402BX10 from Novex-Life Technologies) were used. After electrophoresis the proteins were transferred to polyvinylidine difluoride membrane (Millipore cat#IPFL20200, Biorad cat#162-0255). Post transfer the membranes were blocked in 10% milk or starting block TBS (Prod#37543, Thermo Scientific) when probing with phospho antibodies. Primary antibody labeled blots were incubated with the respective HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies and developed with ECL-Plus (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) or clarity western ECL substrate (Bio-Rad cat#170-5061).

# Fractionation of cytoplasmic and nuclei proteins

For the preparation of cytoplasmic and nuclear extracts from mammalian cells (A172, U87MG, Caki-1, NIH/3T3, RKO E6, A172 E6 and U87MG E6), NE-PER nuclei and cytoplasmic extraction kit from thermo scientific was used (#78833, Thermo Scientific).

- Cells were grown as explained in the cell culture section above.
- To analyze the effect of beryllium on different cell lines, they were grown in RPMI 1640 supplemented with appropriate concentration of  $BeSO_4(10 100 \ \mu M)$ .
- Cells were harvested by trypsinization. Phosphate buffered saline was used to wash the cells twice to remove traces of serum and trypsin. (soyabean trypsin inhibitor was used to nullify the adverse effects of trypsin on the cells).
- 250 µL of CER-I buffer was added to each dry cell pellet and vortexed vigorously for 15 sec.
- The cell suspension in CER-I buffer was incubated on ice for 20 min.

- 13.75 µL of CER-II buffer was added to the cell suspension and vortexed vigorously for 15 sec followed by incubation on ice for 10 min.
- Cell suspension was vortexed again vigorously for 5 sec. Followed by centrifugation at 14,000 RPM for 30 min.
- After centrifugation the supernatant (cytoplasmic proteins) was removed and added to a pre chilled 1.5 ml tube.
- Extra supernatant present on top of the nuclei pellet was discarded. Nuclei pellets were then washed with 400 µL of phosphate buffered saline (to prevent any cross contamination of nuclear fraction with cytoplasmic proteins).
- 110 μL of NER buffer was added to each pellet. Nuclei suspension was mixed well.
- The nuclei suspension was vortexed vigorously for 15 sec followed by incubation on ice for 15 min.
- Nuclei suspension was subjected to 4 cycles of vigorous vortexing followed by 15 min of incubation on ice.
- The nuclei suspension was then centrifuged at 14,000 RPM for 30 min.
- The supernatant containing the nuclear proteins was added to pre chilled 1.5 ml tubes.
- Appropriate amount of cytoplasmic and nuclear supernatants were mixed with 5x laemmli's buffer and boiled for 5 min.

Note: All the steps were carried out at 4°C.

Total protein concentration in the supernatant was measured by using BCA assay (Thermo Scientific # 23227). Normalized protein samples were loaded onto SDS-PAGE gels for probing.

#### Antibodies

p53 DO1: Mouse monoclonal  $IgG_{2b}$  (cat#sc-126, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and goat anti-mouse IgG peroxidase (cat#A9917 Sigma Aldrich)

Actin: Goat monoclonal IgG<sub>2b</sub> (cat#sc-1615, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and bovine antigoat IgG-HRP (cat# SC-2350 Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc)

phospho GSK-3β (Ser-9): Rabbit antibody (#9336S, Cell Signaling Technology) and antirabbit IgG-HRP (cat#31460 Thermo Scientific)

phospho GSK-3β D85E12 (Ser-9): Rabbit antibody(#5558, Cell Signaling Technology) and goat anti-rabbit IgG- FITC (cat#2012, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) (for nuclei flow experiment)

Total GSK-3 $\beta$  (H-76): Rabbit polyclonal IgG<sub>2b</sub> (cat#sc-9166, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and anti-rabbit IgG-HRP (cat#31460, Thermo Scientific)

Total GSK-3 $\alpha/\beta$  (0011-A): Mouse monoclonal IgG<sub>2b</sub> (cat#sc-7291, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and goat anti-mouse IgG peroxidase (cat#A9917 Sigma Aldrich)

β-catenin (E5): Mouse monoclonal IgG1 (cat#sc-7963, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and goat anti-mouse IgG peroxidase (cat#A9917 Sigma Aldrich)

Phospho β-catenin (Ser-33) – R: Rabbit polyclonal IgG (cat#sc-16743-R, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and anti-rabbit IgG-HRP (cat#31460, Thermo Scientific)

 $\alpha$  -Tubulin (B-7): Mouse monoclonal IgG<sub>2a</sub> (cat#sc-5286, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and goat anti-mouse IgG peroxidase (cat#A9917, Sigma Aldrich)

Lamin – B (C12): Mouse monoclonal  $IgG_{2b}$  (cat#sc-365214, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and goat anti-mouse IgG peroxidase (cat#A9917, Sigma Aldrich)

p53(1C12): Mouse monoclonal IgG<sub>1</sub>(#2524, Cell Signaling Technology) goat anti-mouse IgG peroxidase (cat#A9917, Sigma Aldrich) (for mouse cell lines)

Lamin A/C (4C11): Mouse monoclonal IgG<sub>2a</sub> (#4777S, Cell Signaling Technology) goat antimouse IgG peroxidase (cat#A9917, Sigma Aldrich)

α-Tubulin: Rabbit polyclonal (#2144S, Cell Signaling Technology) and anti-rabbit IgG-HRP (cat#31460, Thermo Scientific)

phospho-Glycogen synthase (Ser641/Ser645): Rabbit polyclonal (#07-817, EMD Millipore) and anti-rabbit IgG-HRP (cat#31460, Thermo Scientific)

Total Glycogen synthase: Rabbit polyclonal (#3893S, Cell Signaling Technology) and antirabbit IgG-HRP (cat#31460, Thermo Scientific)

Lamin-B (C-20): Goat polyclonal IgG (cat#sc-6216, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) (used mostly for nuclei flow experiments)

#### Secondary antibodies for flow cytometry and immunoflorescence experiments

Anti Mouse IgG (H+L), F(ab')<sub>2</sub> Fragment (Alexa Fluor 647 Conjugate: (#4410, Cell Signaling Technology)

Donkey anti goat IgG-FITC (cat#sc-2024, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc)

# Stable nuclei isolation from mammalian cells for flow analysis

A minimum of  $5 \times 10^6$  cells are required for stable nuclei isolation.

- A172 Cells were grown in 100 mm dishes and harvested by trypsinization.
- Post trypsinization cells were washed twice with phosphate buffered saline (soyabean trypsin inhibitor was used to nullify the adverse effects of trypsin on the cells).
- Washed cells were resuspended in 500µL of cold nuclei extraction buffer (320mM sucrose, 5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10mM HEPES, 2% Triton X-100 at pH 7.4) at approximately 1 mL/1 million cells.

- Cells were vortexed gently for 10 sec and incubated on ice for 10 min.
- Cell suspension was centrifuged at 3,500 RPM for 20 min.
- Isolated nuclei were washed twice with nuclei wash buffer (320mM sucrose, 5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM HEPES at pH 7.4, no Triton X-100).
- Isolated nuclei were resuspended in 100 µL of primary antibody solution. Antibody incubation buffer (320mM sucrose, 5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10mM HEPES, 1% BSA and 0.1% sodium azide at pH 7.4, no Triton X-100). Recommended primary antibody concentration is 1 µg/ nuclei pellet.
- Isolated nuclei were incubated with the primary antibody solution @ 4°C overnight (isolated nuclei can remain stable for 24 Hr in the nuclei wash buffer).
- Post primary antibody incubation, the nuclei were washed twice with nuclei wash buffer.
- Nuclei were resuspended in 100 µL of secondary antibody (FITC or Alexa 647 tag) solution at a concentration of 0.5 – 0.75µg/nuclei pellet and incubated at room temperature for 2 Hr (post secondary antibody steps under dark conditions).
- Post secondary antibody incubation the nuclei were washed twice with nuclei wash buffer.
- Nuclei were resuspended in 500 µL of nuclei wash buffer in flow cytometry tubes for analysis.

#### Immunofluorescence Microscopy

Cells were grown in Matek glass bottom dishes - cover slip # 1.5 (thickness – 0.16-0.19 mm). After the treatment with inhibitors cells were washed twice with phosphate-buffered saline supplemented with 1 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and 0.5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>. Cells were fixed with freshly prepared 4% paraformaldehyde – PBS (Ca<sup>2+</sup>&Mg<sup>2+</sup>) at 37°C for 10 min. Fixed cells were washed twice with PBS (Ca<sup>2+</sup>&Mg<sup>2+</sup>) and permeabilized with 0.2% Tween<sub>20</sub> - PBS (Ca<sup>2+</sup>&Mg<sup>2+</sup>) at room temperature for 15 min. Cells were blocked in antibody incubation buffer (1% BSA + 0.2% Tween<sub>20</sub> - PBS (Ca<sup>2+</sup>&Mg<sup>2+</sup>) for 30 min at room temperature. Cells were incubated in  $\beta$ -catenin (E5): Mouse monoclonal IgG1 (cat#sc-7963 Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and Lamin-B (C-20): Goat polyclonal IgG (cat#sc-6216 Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) overnight at 4° C. Secondary antibodies used were anti mouse IgG (H+L),  $F(ab')_2$  fragment (Alexa Fluor 647 conjugate: (#4410, Cell Signaling Technology), donkey anti goat IgG-FITC (cat#sc-2024 Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) and Hoechst dye to stain chromatin (1 µg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich). Images were collected using Nikon A1R BX40 confocal laser scanning microscopy system. The images were processed using ImageJ.

#### p53 knock down using stealth RNAi in A172 cells

TP53 validated stealth RNAi (Cat No. 45-1492) from Invitrogen was used to knock down p53 expression transiently in A172 cells.1.2x10<sup>6</sup> A172 cells were seeded in 100 mm dishes to obtain 50 – 60% confluency after 12 Hr. The 10% FBS RPMI 1640 was removed and cells were washed once with phosphate-buffered saline, later OptiMem reduced serum media (#11058, Gibco) was added to each dish. 20 nM of the Stealth p53 RNAi oligo II duplex was used since it was less toxic to cells compared to the RNAi Oligo I Duplex. Stealth p53 RNAi oligo II duplex and lipofectamine 2000 (ref #11668-030, Invitrogen/Life Technologies) were diluted in OptiMem individually in such a way that the final volume is equal to 250  $\mu$ L. The lipofectamine 2000 + OptiMem mix was incubated at room temperature for 5 min. The Stealth p53 RNAi oligo duplex II + OptiMem solution was mixed with lipofectamine 2000 + OptiMem so that the final ratio between the oligo and lipofectamine 2000 is 1:5 (5  $\mu$ L of Oligo and 25  $\mu$ L of lipofectamine 2000. The Oligo + Lipofectamine 2000 + OptiMem mix (transfection mix) was incubated at room temperature for 20 min. The Oligo + Lipofectamine 2000 + OptiMem mix was added to A172 cells growing in the OptiMem media. The dishes were incubated at 37°C for 8 Hr 30 min. The OptiMem media containing the transfection mix was replaced with normal RPMI 1640 (10% FBS + 1% PSF) and RPMI 1640 supplemented with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl after the 8.5 Hr incubation time. Cells were harvested (either total cell lysates or cytoplasmic and nuclear fractionations) after culturing them under the influence of beryllium and lithium for 24 Hr.

# p53 knock down using shRNA(h) lenti viral particles in A172 cells

Integration of specific short hairpin RNA (shRNA) constructs into genomic DNA of A172 cells can lead to the generation of A172 clones with constitutively down regulated p53 expression. Stable A172 p53 KO or control A172 cell lines were generated by Dr. Priyatham Gorjala using a lentiviral shRNA expression vector. Detailed methods describing the production of these cells are available in Dr. Gorjala's dissertation (Gorjala, 2012).

# Addgene clone transfection

The following addgene plasmids were obtained from addgene plasmid repository plasmid#14753–HA GSK-3 $\beta$  wt pcDNA3, plasmid#14754–HA GSK-3 $\beta$  S9A pcDNA3, plasmid#14755–HA GSK-3 $\beta$  K85A pcDNA3. A172 cells were transfected with the above mentioned plasmids to generate stable clones over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$  and its mutants. A172 cells were grown to sub confluence in a 24 well plate. 1 µg of plasmid DNA was diluted in 25 µL of plain RPMI 1640 lacking serum and antibiotics. 4 µL of Plus<sup>TM</sup> was added to the plasmid mix and incubated at room temperature for 15 min. 1 µL of Lipofectamine<sup>TM</sup> reagent was diluted in 25 µL of plain RPMI 1640 lacking serum and antibiotics. The pre complexed plasmid DNA was mixed with diluted Lipofectamine<sup>TM</sup> and incubated at room temperature for 15 min. The cells in the 24 well plate was supplemented with 200 µL of serum less RPMI 1640 containing plasmid DNA + Plus<sup>TM</sup> + Lipofectamine<sup>TM</sup> reagent and incubated at 37 °C for 6 Hr. The RPMI containing the transfection mix was replaced with normal RPMI 1640 (10% FBS + 1% PSF) and cells were grown for 24 Hr at 37 °C (cells were grown in normal RPMI initially to provide cells with proper growth conditions). Transfected A172 cells were grown in RPMI 1640 supplemented with 400 µg/ml of G418 (cat#1811-23, lot#1213491, Gibco) for first 48 Hr followed by a lower

concentration of 200  $\mu$ g/ml with G418 acting as selective pressure for isolating and propagating transfection positive A172 cells. Single cell colonies of transfectants were selected via serial dilution in a 96 well plate. The obtained clones were tested for the expression of the respective proteins by analyzing the presence of the HA tag in the lysate samples via western blotting.

# Results

A cell type specific event: Be<sup>2+</sup> induces either an increase or no change in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β depending on the cell type

# A. Beryllium does not cause an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β in A172 (Human glioblastoma) and U87MG cells (Human glioblastoma astrocytoma)

Increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  is one of the hallmarks of Li<sup>+</sup> induced inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Chalecka-Franaszek and Chuang 1999; Lochhead et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2003). We have shown previously that beryllium unlike lithium does not lead to substantial increase in Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in A172 and HFL cells (Mudireddy et al., 2014). This was an unexpected result, so we wished to extend this analysis to include additional cell types to see whether the initial observation was a general result or whether it might be cell-typespecific. The Ser-9 phosphorylation status of GSK-3 $\beta$  in A172 and U87MG cells was analyzed using western blotting (#9336S rabbit polyclonal anyibody, Cell Signaling inc.) (Fig. 8) Li<sup>+</sup> served as a positive control. In A172, Li<sup>+</sup> treatment (20 mM) caused an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  at 24 hr, an observation that is consistent with our prior results (Mudireddy et al., 2014). Treating A172 with increasing concentrations of Be<sup>2+</sup> did not elicit any appreciable change in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Treating U87MG cells with Be<sup>2+</sup> (100  $\mu$ M) at 0, 6, 12 and 24 hr did not induce any increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  or total GSK-3 $\beta$  (sc#9166, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, inc) (Fig. 9a). U87MG cells when treated with  $Be^{2+}$  (10, 100  $\mu$ M) or Li<sup>+</sup> (20 mM) at 24 hr in an independent experiment did not cause any increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Fig. 9b).

An established effect of  $Be^{2+}$  treatment at molecular level is the increase of p53 protein levels in mammalian cells (Lehnert et al., 2001; Coates et al., 2007; Gorjala and Gary, 2010). The increase in the p53 protein level in the A172 (Fig. 8) and U87MG (Fig. 9a&9b) validates the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  treatment on the mentioned cell lines. Thus, the p53 westerns serve as a positive control for  $Be^{2+}$  induced change in protein expression, which strengthens the conclusion that  $Be^{2+}$  does not cause any substantial increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in A172 and U87MG cells at 24 hr.


Fig. 8 Beryllium does not cause induction of GSK-3 $\beta$  Ser-9 phosphorylation in A172 cells at 24 hr. A172 cells were treated with 0, 5, 10, 25, 50 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 10 or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr. Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (GSK-3 $\beta$ -pS9) was detected by western blotting using phospho-GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ser-9) antibody. Total GSK-3 $\beta$  and actin protein levels are shown as loading control. Li<sup>+</sup> treatment caused a prominent increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  but not in Be<sup>2+</sup> treated A172 cells.



Fig. 9 Beryllium does not cause induction of GSK-3 $\beta$  Ser-9 phosphorylation in U87MG cells. a U87MG cells treated with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> did not show any increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  at 0, 6, 12 or 24 hr. b U87MG cells treated with 0 or 20 mM LiCl or 10 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> in an independent experiment again show the lack of increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in the presence of Be<sup>2+</sup>.

### B. Beryllium induces an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β in NIH/3T3 (murine embryo fibroblast) and Caki-1(human kidney carcinoma) cells

To analyze, whether the inability of  $Be^{2+}$  to induce Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  is a cell type specific event or a universal phenomenon, two additional cell systems were included in this study. The Ser-9 phosphorylation status of GSK-3 $\beta$  in these cell lines was investigated post  $Be^{2+}$  treatment.

To investigate the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in NIH/3T3 cells (murine fibroblasts), cells were treated with increasing concentration of BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. A prominent increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  was observed in the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated NIH/3T3 cells (Fig. 10a). The p53 westerns demonstrate that 25-100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> represents a sufficient dose to effect physiological change in this cell type. The p53 (1C12) antibody used here is specific for mouse cell lines and produces much weaker bands compared to the p53 DO1 (sc#126, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc) used for human cell lines. In our study the p53 DO1 antibody did not yield any visible p53 bands in mouse samples hence the p53 (1C12) mouse specific antibody was used, even though it produces weak bands. However the p53 (1C12) results confirmed the expected results in mouse cell lines.

Caki-1 cells (human kidney carcinoma) were treated with 0, 5, 10, 25, 50  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 5, 15 mM LiCl for 24 hr. Caki-1 cells (from the DRC data) are more sensitive to BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl, hence the maximum concentrations of beryllium and lithium was limited to 50  $\mu$ M and 15 mM respectively. The cell lysates were analyzed for the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  through western blotting (#9336S, rabbit polyclonal antibody). Increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  after treating the cells with increasing concentration of Be<sup>2+</sup> was observed (Fig. 10b). Li<sup>+</sup> also caused an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ .



Fig. 10  $Be^{2+}$  induces an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells. a-b, western blots showing the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (GSK-3 $\beta$ -pS9) was detected by western blotting using phospho-GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ser-9) antibody. Total GSK-3 $\beta$  and actin protein levels are shown as loading control. p53 has been used to validate the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on the cells. a NIH/3T3 cells treated with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, 10, 25, 50 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. b Caki-1 cells treated with 0, 5, 10, 25 or 50  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 5, 15 mM LiCL for 24 hr.

To verify the results of pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$  in NIH/3T3 cells, an alternate analytical method flow cytometry was used to quantify the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in situ (Fig. 11). Be<sup>2+</sup> (a) and Li<sup>+</sup> (b) treatment of NIH/3T3 cells at 24 hr produced a concentration dependent increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  corroborating the western results. These flow results suggests that in NIH/3T3 cells Be<sup>2+</sup> is imitating Li<sup>+</sup> by inducing an increase in the inhibitory post translational modification of GSK-3 $\beta$  i.e. Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ .



Fig. 11 Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment induces an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in NIH/3T3 cells – a flow cytometric approach. The increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in NIH/3T3 cells in the presence of beryllium and lithium was measured by flow cytometry. a flow cytometry histograms of NIH/3T3 cells treated with 0, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. b flow cytometry histograms of NIH/3T3 cells treated with 0 or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr. GSK-3 $\beta$ -pS9 (#5558 (D85E12), rabbit polyclonal) and FITC conjugated secondary antibody was used. For each beryllium and lithium treatment, mean fluorescence per cell was determined. Data shown here is representative of at least two independent experiments done in triplicates with similar results.

Different GSK-3β inhibitors induce an identical or matching effect on the phosphorylation status of GSK-3β, whereas beryllium's effect on Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β is cell type specific

Post translational modification of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ ) plays an important role in its regulation. An increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in beryllium treated NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells was observed in our study. On the other hand A172, HFL and U87MG cells seem to be immune to the beryllium induced Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . It is important to investigate whether any other GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor can induce Be<sup>2+</sup> like cell type specific effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . The effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> was compared against lithium, SB216763, rottlerin, CaCl<sub>2</sub> and insulin in A172, NIH3T3, and Caki-1 cells.

Insulin is a negative regulator of GSK-3 $\beta$  and it induces an increase in its inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation. It is possible that only certain cell lines would be able to respond to insulin treatment. The insulin receptor is widely distributed in mammalian tissues, and it was anticipated that each of these cell types might be suitable for such a comparison. A172 cells are derived from human glioma, and human glioma cells are known to express insulin receptors (Grunbereger et al., 1986) Normal untransfected serum-starved NIH3T3 cells have been shown to respond to insulin (Bossenmaier et al., 2000). The Caki-1 are renal carcinoma cells and kidney is a major organ for glycogen storage that is highly responsive to insulin. It can be expected that these three cell lines should be able to respond to insulin.

Rottlerin is known to cause an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Gschwendt et al., 1994; Zhang et al., 2003). *Zhang et al* have used rottlerin at 5  $\mu$ M to analyze its effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in Neuro2A cells. We decided to use rottlerin at 10  $\mu$ M for A172 cells (to maximize the effect) and considering the fact that Caki-1 cells are sensitive to GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors the rottlerin concentration was fixed at 5  $\mu$ M for this study. Another small

molecule inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$  is SB216763 - an anilino malemide (Coghlan et al., 2000) was also selected for this study. Dose response curve of A172, NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells with SB21673 was used to decide the SB216763 dosage to be used for the given cell lines 10  $\mu$ M for Caki-1 and 20  $\mu$ M for both A172 and NIH/3T3 (Appendix-VI). In addition the effect of insulin, LiCl and CaCl<sub>2</sub> on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  was compared parallely with BeSO<sub>4</sub> in NIH/3T3, Caki-1 and A172 cells. In our studies insulin was found to be effective within a range of 100-200 nM.

As observed previously  $BeSO_4$  at 24 hr did not induce any increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3ß in A172 cells (Fig. 12, panel c) conversely an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in NIH/3T3 (panel a) and Caki-1 cells (panel b) is observed. Lithium - LiCl at 24 hr induced an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β in all the three cell lines, A172 (panel c), NIH/3T3 (panel a) and Caki-1 (panel b). To analyze the effect of insulin on phosphorylation status of GSK-3 $\beta$ , cells were serum starved as mentioned in the materials and methods section. After inducing cells with 200 nM of Insulin for 30-60 min, an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  is observed in NIH/3T3 (panel a) and a slight increase in A172 (panel c) is observed. The effect of insulin on Caki-1 cells is not clear (panel b). Like lithium, insulin too produces an identical effect i. e. increase in Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in NIH/3T3 and A172 cell lines. Rottlerin at 10 µM and 5 µM for 24 hr produced inconsistent results in A172 (panel c) and Caki-1 (panel b) cells respectively. Rottlerin at 10 µM seems to be causing a slight increase in Ser-9 phosphorylation in NIH/3T3 cells (panel a). Overall the effect of rottlerin on the Ser-9 phosphorylation is inconclusive. SB216763 at a concentration of 10-20  $\mu$ M caused a drastic decrease in Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in NIH/3T3 (panel a), Caki-1 (panel b) and A172 (panel c). SB216763 induced decrease in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK- $3\beta$  is an unexpected result, which is quite different from the "inhibitory effects" of other GSK- $3\beta$ inhibitors. In all the three cell lines the total Gsk-3 $\beta$  levels are stable indicating that SB216763 is inducing a decrease only in the phosphorylation status of GSK-3 $\beta$ . A possible explanation for SB216763 induced decrease in pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$  could be because of its failure to deactivate phosphatases that in turn could be causing a drastic decrease in the pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$ . Li<sup>+</sup> affects an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  by modulating the activity of protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) (Zhang et al., 2003). SB216763 is a specific GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor with no known inhibitory activity against other related kinases (Coghlan et al., 2000). It can be speculated that SB216763 because of its specific activity towards GSK-3 $\beta$  only may not be able to inhibit the activity of PP1. The active PP1 could be inducing a drastic decrease in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  as observed in the SB216763 samples. However SB216763 produced identical results in three different cell lines (in relation to pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$ ); adding confidence in its ability to function as a reliable control. CaCl<sub>2</sub> at 100 µM did not induce any noticeable change in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . It indicates that the up regulation of pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$  is a property limited to specific GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors.

A comparison of the effect of different GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  clearly shows that among the 5 different GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors used in this study i.e. BeSO<sub>4</sub>, LiCl, Insulin and SB216763; only Be<sup>2+</sup> elicits a clear cell type specific effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Table 5). Other GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors listed below elucidates their inhibitory effects either by inducing a definitive/identical increase (LiCl and insulin) or decrease (SB216763) in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in the mentioned cell lines. These results suggest that Be<sup>2+</sup> could be modulating its effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  via a unique and cell type specific mechanism.



Fig. 12 Unique effect of beryllium on the Ser-9 phosphorylation status of GSK-3 $\beta$  compared to other established GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors and CaCl<sub>2</sub> salt. a-c, western blots showing the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (GSK-3 $\beta$ -pS9) was detected by western blotting using phospho-GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ser-9) antibody. Total GSK-3 $\beta$  and actin protein levels are shown as loading control. a, c NIH/3T3 and A172 cells were treated with 0, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, 20  $\mu$ M SB216763, 20 mM LiCl, 100  $\mu$ M CaCl<sub>2</sub> or 10  $\mu$ M rottlerin (only for A172 cells) for 24 hr or 200 nM Insulin for 30-60 min. b, Caki-1 cells were treated with 0, 60  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, 10  $\mu$ M SB216763, 15 mM LiCl, 100  $\mu$ M CaCl<sub>2</sub> or 5  $\mu$ M rottlerin for 24 hr or 200 nM Insulin for 30-60 min.

Table 7. Effect of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors and CaCl<sub>2</sub> salt on the Ser-9 phosphorylation status of GSK-3 $\beta$ 

	BeSO <sub>4</sub>	LiCl	Insulin	SB216763	Rottlerin	CaCl <sub>2</sub>
A172	No	Increase	Increase	Decrease	Inconclu	No
	change				-sive*	change
NIH/3T3	Increase	Increase	Increase	Decrease	Inconclu	No
					-sive	change
Caki-1	Increase	Increase	Increase	Decrease	Inconclu	No
					-sive*	change

\* Effect of rottlerin on the pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$  was inconsistent; hence it was difficult to ascertain the role played by it in relation to the inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ .

### Induction of Ser-9 phosphorylation on GSK-3β by BeSO<sub>4</sub> is not random salt effect

To establish that the Be<sup>2+</sup> induced increase in Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in NIH/3T3 cells is not a random salt effect, NIH/3T3 cells were treated with 0 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, KCl, MgCl<sub>2</sub> or Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr (Fig. 13). The lack of increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in the 100  $\mu$ M KCl, MgCl<sub>2</sub> or Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> treated samples confirms the Be<sup>2+</sup> induced increase in Ser-9 phosphorylation is not a random salt effect.

### NIH/3T3 at 24 hr



Fig. 13 Beryllium induced Ser-9 phosphorylation in NIH/3T3 is not random salt effect. . NIH/3T3 cells were treated with 0 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, KCl, MgCl<sub>2</sub> or Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr.Western blots showing the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (GSK-3 $\beta$ -pS9) was detected by using phospho-GSK-3 $\beta$  (Ser-9) antibody. Total GSK-3 $\beta$  and actin protein levels are shown as loading control. p53 has been used to validate the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on the NIH/3T3 cells

Investigating the credentials of beryllium as a biologically active GSK-3β inhibitor

# Be <sup>2+</sup> induced down regulation in the phosphorylated form of glycogen synthase enzyme validates its intra cellular effect

Glycogen synthase (GS) enzyme plays a central role in glycogen metabolism. There are several kinases that regulate the activity of GS by modulating its phosphorylation. The moniker "glycogen synthase kinase – 3" was coined because of the ability of GSK-3 to phosphorylate glycogen synthase enzyme. GSK-3 $\beta$  phosphorylates GS and plays an important role in repressing its activity (Lawerence and Roach, 1997). There is enough evidence to demonstrate the important role played by GSK-3 $\beta$  in glycogen metabolism because of its ability to regulate GS. The phosphorylation sites which play an important role in the activation or de-activation of the GS are target sites of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Rylatt et al., 1980; Parker et al., 1983).

Since the activity of GS is regulated by GSK-3 $\beta$  any event or inhibitor, which can regulate the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  is expected to have an affect on GS as well. The positive effect of Li<sup>+</sup>- an established GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor on the stimulation of glycogen synthase and glycogen synthesis has been proved in various studies (Cheng et al., 1983; Tabata et al., 1994; Orena et al., 2000; Furnsinn et al., 1997; Chen et al., 1998). *MacAulay et al* demonstrated that exposure of L6 muscle cells and 3T3-L1 adipocytes to Li<sup>+</sup> leads to accumulation of de-phosphorylated GS (active form of GS) (MacAulay et al., 2003).

Be<sup>2+</sup> is a potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor, but the inhibitory effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on the ability of GSK-3 $\beta$  to phosphorylate its bonafide substrates has not been demonstrated yet. Be<sup>2+</sup> seems to be inducing an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells (Fig. 12). The phosphorylated Ser-9 residue on the N-terminal region acts as pseudo-substrate of GSK-3 $\beta$  thereby blocking its active site (Dajani et al., 2001). It can be hypothesized that the inactivated GSK-3 $\beta$  (blocked active site) will not be able to phosporylate its substrate i.e. the GS enzyme

hence a decrease in the pGS levels may be observed. In this study the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on glycogen synthase (GS) an important GSK-3 $\beta$  substrate was investigated in cell culture.

### Selecting the best cell line for glycogen synthase studies

In order to select a cell line with optimum expression of glycogen synthase (GS); A172, Caki-1 and NIH/3T3 were cultured in the presence of 0 or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr. Total cell lysates of these cells lines were probed for the expression of pGS. Caki-1 and A172 samples seems to be having no visible pGS bands indicating that these two cell lines may not be suitable for GS studies (Fig. 14). NIH/3T3 cells show optimum expression of GS and also seem to be responsive to inhibitory effects of LiCl. Hence NIH/3T3 cells were selected for further pGS studies.



**Fig 14**: **Murine fibroblasts are responsive to LiCl induced GS dephosphorylation**. Total cell lysates extracted from A172, Caki-1and NIH/3T3 treated with 0 or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr were analysed using western blotting for the pGS levels. The pGS (Ser641/Ser645) antibody #07-817 from millipore was used.

### Effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on pGS in murine fibroblasts (NIH/3T3 cells)

NIH/3T3 cells were treated with 0, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM KCl or 20 mM LICl or 20  $\mu$ M SB216763 for 24 hr or serum starved NIH/3T3 cells were induced with 100 nM insulin for 15–60 min. The phosphorylation state of glycogen synthase (GS) in the total cell lysates was analyzed by western blotting using a phospho specific affinity purified rabbit antibody from Millipore (#07-817). The GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors Be<sup>2+</sup>, Li<sup>+</sup> and SB216763 caused a decrease in the phospho-glycogen synthase levels. As expected no decrease in the pGS levels was observed in the KCl treated samples (KCl was intended to serve as a negative control) (Fig. 15a).

This data suggests that  $Be^{2+}$  treatment elicits a decrease in the pGS levels of NIH/3T3 cells, demonstrating the ability of beryllium to inhibit the intra cellular kinase activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  in cell culture.



Fig. 15a GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors and beryllium induce a decrease in the phospho-GS. NIH/3T3 cells were cultured in the presence of 0 or 30 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl or 20  $\mu$ M SB216763 or 20 mM KCL. For insulin treatment cells were grown in RPMI media supplemented with 10% bovine growth serum for 24 hr. Post 2X washing with serum less RPMI cells were serum starved by growing them in 0% BGS RPMI for 2 - 2.5 hrs. Cells were induced with 100 nM insulin for 15 or 30 or 60 min. Total cell lysates were analyzed for phospho-GS using a affinity purified rabbit polyclonal antibody. The non specific low molecular weight back ground band in the pGS panel serves as an internal loading control. Total GS, actin and total GSK-3 $\beta$  were used as loading controls.



**Fig 15b phospho-GS band intensity quantification.** The phospho-GS bands intensity was quantified using Licor ImageStudio 5.0. The band intensity was plotted as percentage of control. (Additional information about band quantification is available in Appendix VII)

#### Closely spaced pGS bands in murine fibroblast samples

An interesting observation in the phospho-GS westerns has been the appearance of a cluster of three closely spaced bands as seen on the pGS blots at molecular weight close to that of glycogen synthase i.e. ~80-90 kDa. These bands have been generically designated as band 1, band 2 and band 3 (Fig. 16a). GSK-3 phosphorylates glycogen synthase (GS) on different serine residues designated as Ser-640, 644, 648 and 652 (Rylatt et al., 1980; Parker et al., 1983). GS is primed at Ser-656 by casein kinase II (CKII) (Picton et al., 1982) and is then sequentially phosphorylated at Ser-652 followed by Ser-648 and so on (Fiol et al., 2000). According to *Fiol et al* the phosphorylation of GS by GSK-3 $\beta$  is not random, phoshorylation of Ser-652 leads to phoshorylation of Ser-648, phosphorylation of Ser-648 leads to phosphorylation of Ser-644 and so on.

The consensus sequence for the phosphorylation sites of GSK-3 $\beta$  in rabbit skeletal muscle cells is -P-R-P-A-**S**(Ser-640/641)-V-P-P-**S**(Ser-644/645)-P-S-L-**S**(Ser-648)-R-H-S-**S**(Ser-652)-P-H-Q-S(Ser-656)-E-D-E-E-P (Ryllat et al., 1980). The amino acids of GS mentioned in bold are the target sites of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Majority of the initial work related to GS was carried out in rabbit muscle cells and the amino acid numbers were designated based on biochemical studies. The work on mouse and human GS is more recent and follows the HUGO recommendations; that begin with the translation start site. Hence the amino acid numbers between rabbit GS and mouse/human GS differ by one i.e the Ser-640 of rabbit GS (in the consensus sequence) corresponds to the Ser-641 of mouse GS (explained in Roach et al., 2012).

For western blots, an affinity-purified rabbit polyclonal antibody specific for mouse or human GS was used. The immunogen used for raising the phospho-GS-antibody is a synthetic peptide containing phosphor-serines at residues 641 and 645 in the human GS sequence. A cluster of closely spaced bands is apparent in the phospho-GS western blot (Fig. 16a). Among the three

bands, band 2's intensity is decreasing in response to GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors as indicated by the line label. Band 2 was interpreted as representing the main product of GSK3 phosphorylation, because it was sensitive to treatment with GSK3 inhibitors. It is unclear whether the flanking bands represent background bands, or alternative forms of phospho-GS arising from the availability of multiple phosphorylation sites. Fortuitously, phospho-GS western blots also contain a background band that runs in a different region of the gel, at much lower MW – indicated by an arrow. This band was included in the western images to demonstrate the sharp resolution attained during electrophoresis, and also so that it could serve as an extra loading control to document equivalent total protein per lane.

Alternatively it is also possible that the closely spaced bands are representing the different isoforms of glycogen synthase protein. In mammals two isoforms of glycogen synthase are expressed: glycogen synthase -1 (GYS1) and glycogen synthase-2 (GYS2). GYS1 is expressed mostly in skeletal muscle and most other cell types and GYS2 is restricted to liver (Browner et al., 1989; Nuttall et al., 1994). It has been observed that NIH/3T3 cells could possibly be expressing both the isoforms of glycogen synthase because of its embryonic lineage. There is no direct evidence to suggest that NIH/3T3 cells indeed express both the isoforms of glycogen synthase. However phospho-glycogen synthase antibodies from different sources seem to be identifying both the isoforms of glycogen synthase in NIH/3T3 total cell lysates (Appendix IX). Depending upon the information available from the use of antibodies from different sources in NIH/3T3 cells it can be speculated that indeed NIH/3T3 cells could possibly be expressing both the isoforms of glycogen synthase. It is observed that lithium, beryllium and SB216763 seem to induce a decrease in the phosphorylation status of band 2. From the molecular weight difference between the two isoforms of glycogen synthase it can be speculated that band 2 is representing glycogen synthase-1 (Fig. 16a). The effect of insulin on the pGS is not clear, possibly because of the failure of serum starvation or partly because NIH/3T3 cells may not be the perfect system to

analyze the insulin-pGS dynamics. However the GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors included in this study seem to have little effect on the phosphorylation status of glycogen synthase-2 (band 3).

The GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors Be<sup>2+</sup>, Li<sup>+</sup>, insulin (\* effect on band 2 not clear) and SB216763 caused a decrease in the pGS levels (Fig 16b). Correspondingly an increase in the pSer-9 of GSK-3 $\beta$ induced by all the GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors except for SB216763 was observed. SB216763 induced a decrease in the pGS but did not induce an increase in the pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$ . KCL at 20 mM concentration did not induce any major change in the pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$  signal or decrease in the pGS levels. This data supports the observation that Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment elicits a decrease in the pGS levels of NIH/3T3 cells.

These results demonstrate the ability of beryllium to inhibit intra cellular kinase activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  in cell culture. This is first time ever the effect of beryllium on a GSK-3 $\beta$  substrate has been documented in cell culture.



Fig. 16a Identification of the correct pGS band in the multiple pGS bands cluster. Cell lysates extracted from NIH/3T3 cells treated with 0, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM KCL or 20 mM LICl or 20  $\mu$ M SB216763 for 24 hr or serum starved NIH/3T3 cells induced with 100 nM insulin for 30 – 60 min were assessed for the effect of different GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors on the pGS levels. Western blots showing the protein levels of pGS.



Fig 16b Effect of different GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors on phospho-GS. Cell lysates extracted from NIH/3T3 cells treated with 0, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, 20 mM KCL, 20 mM LICl, 20  $\mu$ M SB216763 for 24 hr or serum starved NIH/3T3 cells induced with 100 nM insulin for 30 – 60 min were assessed for the effect of different GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors on the pGS levels. Western blots showing the protein levels of pGS. Note: The total GSK-3 $\alpha/\beta$  and pSer9—GSK-3 $\beta$  bands were re-arranged to match the lane sequence of the accompanying blots.

### Beryllium has little effect on the Wnt signaling pathway compared to other GSK-3 $\beta$ inhibitors

β-catenin is an important substrate of GSK-3β wherein GSK-3β-mediated phosphorylation of β-catenin leads to its ubiquitin-mediated proteosomal degradation (Miller and Moon, 1996; Aberle et al., 1997; Ikeda et al., 1998). GSK-3β and β-catenin play a central role in the Wnt signaling pathway; inactivation of GSK-3β is known to stabilize β-catenin and lead to its accumulation in the nucleus (Polakis, 2000; Lustig and Behrens, 2003). Li<sup>+</sup> treatment induces an increase in the N-terminal dephosphorylation of β-catenin which is then translocated to the nucleus (van Noort et al., 2002; Staal et al., 2002; Hagen et al., 2002). In order to understand the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on the Wnt signaling pathway, we investigated whether Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment can cause an increase in the nucleur pool of β-Catenin.

# Compared to $Li^+$ , $Be^{2+}$ - treatment induces negligible nuclear localization of $\beta$ -Catenin in NIH/3T3 cells

We optimized confocal microscopy to study the effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin. The effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> along with other GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors like insulin, LiCl or SB216763 was analyzed in NIH/3T3 cells (Fig. 17a). The control NIH/3T3 cells show that the  $\beta$ -catenin is predominantly present in the cytoplasm (Fig 17a, lane 1). 20 mM LiCl led to nuclear accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin in NIH/3T3cells as indicated by the arrows (Fig 17a, lane 2). Li<sup>+</sup> mimics the effect of Wnt ligands (Stambolic et al., 1996; Hedgepeth et al., 1997) and leads to accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin in the nucleus. 20  $\mu$ M SB216763 also caused nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (Fig 17A, lane 4). For stimulation with insulin, NIH/3T3 cells were serum starved and stimulated with 200 nM insulin for 30 – 60 min. The nuclear localization pattern of  $\beta$ -catenin in NIH/3T3 cells treated with 200 nM insulin and 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> is comparable to the control cells. The lack of much nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin is a hallmark of the control cells. Insulin is a

GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor which doesn't affect the Wnt signaling pathway (Ding et al., 2000). The morphology and nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin localization pattern of NIH/3T3 cells treated with BeSO<sub>4</sub> and insulin are similar to the control cells indicating that Be<sup>2+</sup> could be mimicking insulin's mode of inhibitory action on GSK-3 $\beta$ .

### (Note: Refer supplementary figures I on page-186 for individual images)



A NIH/3T3 cells at 24 hr

**Fig. 17a Effect of Be**<sup>2+</sup> **on the nuclear localization of β-catenin in NIH/3T3 cells.** Immunofluorescence microscopy images of NIH/3T3 cells treated with 0, 100 µM BeSO<sub>4</sub>, 20 mM LiCl, 20 µM SB216763 for 24 hr or stimulated with 200 nM insulin for 30 – 60 min after serum starvation. The cells were fixed with 4% formalin and double labeled with a mouse monoclonal antibody specific for β-catenin and a goat polyclonal anytibody specific for lamin-B followed by anti mouse Alexa-647/anti goat-FITC secondary antibodies. Nuclear localization of β-catenin in the LiCl and SB216763 treated NIH/3T3 cells is seen (lane 2, 4 respectively) whereas not much accumulation of nuclear β-catenin is observed in the insulin and BeSO<sub>4</sub> treated cells (lane 3, 5). All the images are shown at x40 magnification. Scale bar set at 50 µm.

# Be<sup>2+</sup> induces minimal nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin in A172 and A172 cells over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$

A172 cells were treated with 0, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl or 20  $\mu$ M SB216763 for 24 hr. Control A172 cells show a conspicuous hollow nucleus (indicated by arrows) indicating the cytoplasmic localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (Fig. 17b). Li<sup>+</sup> and SB216763 induced a clear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in the nucleus (lane 2, 4). Be<sup>2+</sup> did not elicit any drastic change in the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin and the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated cells are similar to the control cells in terms of nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (lane 3). These results indicate that Be<sup>2+</sup> has minimal effect on nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in A172 cells when compared to other GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors.

A172 over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$  can act as a valuable system to analyze the effects of GSK- $\beta$ -inhibition. The abundant amount of GSK- $\beta$  could be helpful in demonstrating the after effects of GSK-3β-inhibition compared to untransfected A172 cells expressing native/normal levels of GSK-3β. A172 cells were transfected with the addgene clone #14753 to over express wt GSK-3β. Single cell clones of transfected A172 cells over expressing wt GSK-3β were selected. A172 clone over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$  named as P1 (Appendix V) was selected for the immuno fluorescence imaging. P1B cells (A172 cells over expressing wt GSK-3β) were treated with 0, 100 µM BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr. Control cells show conspicuous empty nucleus (arrows) indicating the cytoplasmic localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (Fig. 17c, lane 1). Li<sup>+</sup> treatment induced a clear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in the nucleus (lane 2). Be<sup>2+</sup> did not elicit any drastic change in the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin and the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated cells are somewhat similar to the control cells in terms of nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (lane 3). These results coupled with the data from untransfected A172 (Fig. 17b) cells indicate that  $Be^{2+}$  has minimal inhibitory effects on Wnt signaling pathway in A172 cells compared to other established GSK-3<sup>β</sup> inhibitors. The confocal data from NIH/3T3, A172 and A172 cells over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$  (P1B) shows that probably  $Be^{2+}$  has nil to minimal effect on the Wnt signaling pathway.

### (Note: Refer supplementary figures II on page-191 for individual images)



BA172 cells at 24 hr

Fig. 17b The effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in A172 cells. Immunoflorescence microscopy images of A172 cells treated with 0, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, 20 mM LiCl or 20  $\mu$ M SB216763 for 24 hr. The cells were fixed with 4% formalin and double labeled with a mouse monoclonal antibody specific for  $\beta$ -catenin and a goat polyclonal anytibody specific for lamin-B followed by anti mouse Alexa-647/anti goat-FITC secondary antibodies. Scale bar set at 50  $\mu$ m.

### (Note: Refer summplementary figures III on page-195 for individual images)



C A172 cells over expressing GSK-3ß at 24 hr

Fig. 17c Effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in A172 cells over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$ . Immunoflorescence microscopy images of A172 cells wt GSK-3 $\beta$  treated with 0, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr. The cells were fixed with 4% formalin and double labeled with a mouse monoclonal antibody specific for  $\beta$ -catenin and a goat polyclonal antibody specific for lamin-B followed by anti mouse Alexa-647/anti goat-FITC secondary antibodies. Scale bar set at 50  $\mu$ m.

## Nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin in stable nuclei isolated from A172 cells – A flow cytometric approach

The immuno fluorescence imaging experiments showed that  $Be^{2+}$  had minimal effect on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin whereas other types of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors such as Li<sup>+</sup> and SB216763 were effective. Assessing nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in the stable nuclei isolated from A172 cells was used as an alternative approach to analyze the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on Wnt signaling pathway. A172 cells were treated with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl and nuclei were isolated from the cells (Fig 18). The isolated nuclei are stable for more than 24 hr at 4°C as (explained in the materials and methods section).

#### FSC analysis of stable nuclei



**Fig. 18 FSC analysis of stable nuclei and formalin fixed A172 cells**. A clear size difference between nuclei and cells is observed. The position of the peak (red) representing A172 cells on the x-axis demonstrates the fact that the isolated nuclei are smaller than the cells.

 $Be^{2\scriptscriptstyle +}$  treatment did not have a profound effect like  $Li^{\scriptscriptstyle +}$  on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin

A172 cells treated with BeSO<sub>4</sub> or LiCl for 24 hr were used for isolating stable nuclei. Concentration dependent increase in the localization of  $\beta$ -catenin was observed in the nuclei isolated from Li<sup>+</sup> treated A172 cells (Fig. 19b). A slight increase in the nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin is observed between the control nuclei and the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated nuclei (Fig 19a). The effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in A172 cells is quite subdued in comparison to the results produced by Li<sup>+</sup> treatment (Fig 19b).

The flow cytometry results along with the confocal imaging results indicate that  $Be^{2+}$  has minimal effect on the Wnt signaling pathway in NIH/3T3 and A172 cells, compared to other GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors like Li<sup>+</sup> or SB216763.





Fig. 19a The effect of Be <sup>2+</sup> on nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin is minimal compared to Li<sup>+</sup>. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. Stable nuclei were extracted from the Be <sup>2+</sup> treated cells. The effect of Be <sup>2+</sup> on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin was assessed using a mouse mono clonal  $\beta$ -catenin primary antibody and an Alexa647 – conjugated secondary antibody. For each treatment, mean fluorescence per cell was determined from independent replicates and representative peak for each treatment is shown here. The x-axis values are represented in log scale.

b Analysis of stable nuclei isolated from A172 cells treated with LiCl



Fig. 19b Li<sup>+</sup> has a profound effect on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 20 or 30 mM LiCl for 24 hr. Stable nuclei were extracted from the Li<sup>+</sup> treated cells. The effect of Li<sup>+</sup> on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin was assessed using a mouse mono clonal  $\beta$ -catenin primary antibody and an Alexa647 – conjugated secondary antibody. For each treatment, mean fluorescence per cell was determined from independent replicates and representative peak for each treatment is shown here. The x-axis values are represented in log scale.

### Be<sup>+</sup> treatment failed to induce clear nuclear translocation of β-catenin in A172, U87MG, Caki-1 and NIH/3T3 cells

The immunofluorescence data from NIH/3T3, A172 and A172 P1B cells indicates that beryllium is not able to induce prominent nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -Catenin. The immunofluorescence data was supported by the flow analysis of stable nuclei isolated from A172 cells after Be<sup>2+</sup> and Li<sup>+</sup> treatment. Traditionally it has been observed that majority of the work related to nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -Catenin is based on immunofluorescence experiments. We thought it would be logical to analyze the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin using westerns. We decided to culture cells under the influence of appropriate concentration of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors and then fractionate the cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins separately. A clean biochemically fractionated cytoplasmic and nuclear protein samples lacking cross contamination might work as a good additional system to analyze the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin. Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment of A172, Caki-1 and NIH/3T3 cell lines for 24 hr caused an increase in the p53 levels, which is seen localized predominantly in the nuclear fraction. The up regulation of p53 in the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated samples validates the success of inhibitor effect and acts as a positive control for beryllium induced up regulation of protein expression.

NIH/3T3 – 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> has no effect on the p53 expression but 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> leads to elevated levels of p53 (Fig. 20a, lane 6) as seen in the nuclear fraction. The  $\beta$ -catenin levels both in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions stay fairly constant indicating that probably Be<sup>2+</sup> treatement failed to induce any detectable up regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin.

Caki-1 - 50  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> treatment lead to elevated levels of p53 as observed in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fraction (Fig. 20b, lane 3&6). A slight increase in the cytoplasmic levels of  $\beta$ -catenin in the presence of Be<sup>2+</sup> is observed but the nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin levels stay fairly constant (b, lane
5&6) indicating that probably beryllium failed to induce detectable up regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin in the nuclear fractions of Caki-1 cells.

A172 - 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> has no effect on the p53 upregulation but 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> caused an increase in p53 levels as seen in the nuclear fraction and to an extent in the cytoplasmic fraction as well (Fig. 20c, lane 3&6). The  $\beta$ -catenin level both in the cytoplasmic and nuclear fractions stays fairly constant (C, lane 2, 3 & 5, 6). 100  $\mu$ M CaCl<sub>2</sub> was used as a negative control and was expected not induce any change either on p53 or  $\beta$ -catenin. These results indicate that probably beryllium failed to induce detectable up regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin in the nuclear fractions of A172 cells.

In U87MG the Be<sup>2+</sup> induced p53 up regulation data of U87MG cells is not available but Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment of U87MG cells causes up regulation of p53 as observed in Fig. 9. There is no effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment on the cytoplasmic and nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin levels in U87MG cells (Fig. 20d). 100  $\mu$ M CaCl<sub>2</sub> was used as a negative control and was expected not induce any change either on p53 or  $\beta$ -catenin. It is possible that probably beryllium failed to induce detectable up regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin in the nuclear fractions of U87MG cells.

The strongest support for the minimal increase in the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in the presence of beryllium comes from the immunofluorescence and flow analysis of stable nuclei experiments. These results suggest that probably Be<sup>2+</sup> has minimal effect on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin.



Fig. 20 Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment seems to have minimal effect on the nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ catenin. (a-b)NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells were treated with 0, 10 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr and the cytoplasmic/nuclear proteins were fractionated. (c-d) A172 and U87MG cells were treated with 0, 100  $\mu$ M CaCl<sub>2</sub> or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr and the cytoplasmic/nuclear proteins were extracted out separately as explained in the materials and methods section. The levels of total  $\beta$ catenin, p53, lamin and tubulin were assessed by western blot analysis. The endogenous lamin and tubulin serve as loading control. The presence of tubulin or lamin in the cytoplasmic or nuclear fractions only shows the lack of cross contamination and the good quality of sample preparation

# Beryllium has no effect on the stability of axin - a possible mechanism for the in ability of beryllium to induce nuclear localization of $\beta$ -catenin

Beryllium treatment seems to be having minimal effect on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ catenin. Unlike  $Li^+$ , the inability of  $Be^{2+}$  to induce a major change in the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ catenin is a surprising observation. In relation to beryllium's role as a GSK-3β inhibitor, two contrasting results are observed i.e. the lack of appreciable nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin and decrease in the phosphorylation of glycogen synthase. These results indicate that Be<sup>2+</sup> is able to inhibit the activity of GSK-3 $\beta$  fraction involved in the insulin signaling pathway. Contrarily it is observed that the GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme fraction regulating the Wnt signaling pathway is fairly insulated from the inhibitory effects of  $Be^{2+}$ . Axin is an important substrate of GSK-3 $\beta$  and phosphorylation of axin by GSK-3<sup>β</sup> leads to its stabilization (Yamamoto et al., 1999). Axin, GSK-3β, APC (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli), casein kinase 1 (CK1), protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and E3-ubiquitin ligase  $\beta$ -TrCP are constituents of  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex. Wnt ligands induced inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  is known to cause destabilization of axin (Willert et al., 1999). Inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  associated with the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex leads to dephosphorylation/destabilization of axin. The de phosphorylated form of axin cannot interact efficiently with  $\beta$ -catenin, which in turn leads to destabilization of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex (Willert et. al., 1999). LiCl treatment caused a decrease in the levels of axin (Yamamoto et al., 1999) and it could be the possible reason behind the Li<sup>+</sup> induced nuclear localization of  $\beta$ catenin.

We hypothesized that the failure of beryllium treatment to induce any major changes in the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin could be due to its inability to perturb the stability of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex. We investigated the effect of beryllium on the stability of axin - an important constituent of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex.

In our study we demonstrated that  $Be^{2+}$  has no effect on the stability of axin in A172 and NIH/3T3 cells (Fig. 21a) Li<sup>+</sup> caused a decrease in the total axin levels in A172 (human glioblastoma) (panel a, lane 7&8), however  $Be^{2+}$  seems to be having little effect on the stability of axin (panel a, lane 2-6). Fig. 21b Li<sup>+</sup> caused a decrease in the total axin levels in NIH/3T3 cells (murine fibroblasts) (panel b, lane 3), however the total amount of axin in  $Be^{2+}$  treated sample is almost same as the control (panel 1, lane 2). Fig. 21c In NIH/3T3 (murine fibroblasts) beryllium at different concentrations did not induce any change in the total axin levels. These results indicate that the difference in the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  and Li<sup>+</sup> on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin could be because of their inability and ability respectively to disturb the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex respectively (**refer schematic diagram 4 on page 131**).



**Fig. 21 Be**<sup>2+</sup> **had no effect on the stability of the important β-catenin destruction complex constituent protein** – **axin**. **a** A172 (human gliblastoma) treated with 0, 5, 10, 25, 50 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 10 or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr. **b** NIH/3T3 (murine fibroblasts) treated with 0, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr. **c** NIH/3T3 (murine fibroblasts) treated with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, 10, 25, 50 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. **c** NIH/3T3 (murine fibroblasts) treated with 0, 1, 2.5, 5, 10, 25, 50 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. The effect of beryllium and lithium on the total axin levels was assessed using western blotting. The endogenous actin serving as loading control.

Schematic diagram comparing the GSK-3β inhibitory action of beryllium with other GSK-3β inhibitors



Schematic diagram 4: Differential regulation/inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  by beryllium. The inability of beryllium to destabilize axin indicates that probably Be<sup>2+</sup> is not able to destabilize the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex. Hence beryllium may not be able to strongly inhibit the activity of "bound GSK-3 $\beta$ ". However the other GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors like lithium and SB216763 seems to be inhgibiting both the fractions of GSK-3 $\beta$ . In this regard beryllium seems to be mimicking insulin because it has been demonstrated that insulin has no inhibitory effect towards the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway (Ding et al., 2000).

## Activation of p53 could be responsible for down regulating nuclear localization of β-catenin

The possibility of a cross talk between  $\beta$ -catenin and p53 in the progression of human cancers especially colorectal cancer has been suggested previously (Kinzler and Vogelstein, 1996). Later studies established a more direct interaction between p53 and  $\beta$ -catenin, wherein it was observed that deregulated  $\beta$ -catenin can lead to stabilization of p53 and vice versa (Damalas et al., 1999; Levina et al., 2004). The elevated p53 expression in response to various stimuli is an anti proliferative mechanism adopted by the human body for protection against the development of cancer (Oren, 2003; Oren et al., 2002). Deregulation of  $\beta$ -catenin has been implicated in the development of various cancers, pre dominantly colorectal cancer (Morin , 1999; Polakis, 2000; Patel et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2005; Thakur and Mishra, 2013). Elevated p53 elicits its anti proliferative effects in relation to  $\beta$ -catenin, firstly by blocking the pro-proliferative action of  $\beta$ catenin and secondly by down regulating  $\beta$ -catenin expression (Sadot et al., 2001). (**refer schematic diagram 5 on next page**)

To eliminate the possibility of aberrant or mutant p53 interfering with the p53 mediated down regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin, cell lines expressing wt p53 were identified (Table 5). In our study we observed that A172, U87MG, Caki-1 and NIH/3T3 cells do not show any nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in the presence of Be<sup>2+</sup> (Fig 20). Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment caused up regulation of p53 expression (Lehnert et al., 2001; Coates et al., 2007; Gorjala and Gary, 2010) and it could be responsible for regulating the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin as explained in Sadot et al.



Schematic diagram 5: Upregulation of p53 leads to down regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin via miRNA-34. (Sadot et al., 2001; Cha et al., 2012)

## Down regulation of p53 expression up regulates nuclear localization of β-catenin

We have used three different methods to "knock down" the p53 protein expression either post transcription or post translation.

## p53 "knock down" using RNAi and its effect on the nuclear localization of β-catenin

Short interfering RNA (siRNA) is commercially available to induce an efficient p53 knock down. The p53 siRNA is a 20 nucleotide long synthetic double stranded RNA molecule, which will silence the p53 gene post transcriptionaly. Using siRNA to knock down p53 is the quickest and easiest way to obtain cells with down regulated p53 expression. The down regulation of p53 using siRNA is transient with the effect lasting until 48 – 72 hr. The p53 siRNA was transfected into A172 cells as explained in the materials and methods section. Post transfection A172 cells were allowed to grow in normal RPMI 1640 for 6 hr followed by treatment with BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. A172 cells transfected with a non specific universal control siRNA served as the negative control. After Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment the cytoplasmic/nuclear proteins were extracted out separately.

It was observed that in the presence of endogenous wt p53 there is no nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin after Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment (Fig. 20). Fig. 22 A prominent p53 band was observed in the nuclear samples isolated from A172 cells transfected with the universal control siRNA (Fig. 22, lane 4). The band corresponding to p53 disappears in the nuclear samples isolated from A172 cells transfected with p53 siRNA, indicating that p53 siRNA was successful in down regulating p53 expression (Fig. 22, lane 5). In A172 cells the successful knock down of p53 induced nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (lane 5) compared to the cells transfected with control siRNA (Fig. 22, lane 4). A more prominent increase in the nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin is observed when p53 knock down is coupled with Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment (Fig. 22, lane 6).

The decrease of cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin in the samples generated after p53 knockdown (panel 1, lane 2, 3) is complemented by the increase of nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin (panel 1, lane 5,6) indicating that the nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin could be induced by down regulation of p53.

This result demonstrates that, down regulation of p53 causes nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin and the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin is amplified in the presence of Be<sup>2+</sup>.



Fig. 22 Down regulation of p53 expression using RNAi causes nuclear localization of  $\beta$ catenin. Cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins were extracted separately from A172 cells transfected with the control siRNA and p53 siRNA. The transfected cells were treated with 0 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. Western blots showing the protein levels of  $\beta$ -catenin, p53, lamin-A/C and tubulin. Lamin-A/C and tubulin acting as the loading control.

### p53 knock down using shRNA – Lentiviral vector system

Short hairpin RNA (shRNA) is a sequence inserted into a lentivirus vector plasmid. Successful insertion of the shRNA sequence into the genome and its subsequent expression will induce silencing of the target gene expression. The advantage of this method is the development of stable cell lines with p53 knock down.

The successful transfection of the lentivirus vector plasmid and down regulation of p53 protein via the shRNA was confirmed using western blotting (Fig. 23). A172 cells were transfected with the p53 shRNA Lentivirus vector plasmid (as explained in the materials and methods section). As a negative control A172 cells were transfected with an empty Lentivirus vector plasmid called as A172 p53 control. Successful transfection and expression of the p53 shRNA induced a down regulation of p53 expression (Fig. 23, lane 2). The p53 expression is not disturbed in the A172 p53 control cells and the p53 levels are comparable to the untransfected A172 cells (Fig. 23, lane 1, 3). Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment at 10  $\mu$ M for 24 hr did not induce any increase in the p53 protein levels in the p53 KO cells (Fig. 23, lane 4). Conversely a Be<sup>2+</sup> induced increase in p53 expression is observed in the untransfected and p53 control A172 cells (Fig. 23, lane 4, 6). This experiment validates the successful down regulation of p53 expression by the shRNA lenti virus vector system.



Fig. 23 Down regulation of p53 by the shRNA lentivirus vector. The untransfected A172 cells, A172 p53 KO and A172 p53 control cells were treated with 0 or 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. Total cell lysates were analyzed for p53 and actin after the Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment using western blotting.

## p53 knock down using shRNA and its effect on the nuclear localization of β-catenin

The A172 cells carrying the lentivirus vector plasmid were designated as A172 p53 KO cells (Fig. 24). The cytoplasmic and nuclear protein fractions isolated from A172 p53 KO treated with BeSO<sub>4</sub> show nuclear accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin (Fig. 24, lane 5&6). The nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in BeSO<sub>4</sub> treated A172 p53 KO is quite evident in comparison to the control (untreated) A172 p53 KO (Fig. 24, lane 4).



Fig. 24 Down regulation of p53 protein via the shRNA lentivirus vector aids  $Be^{2+}$  in inducing nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin. Cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins were extracted separately from A172 p53 KO cell treated with 0, 10 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. Western blots showing the protein levels of  $\beta$ -catenin, p53, lamin-B and tubulin. Be<sup>2+</sup> induced nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin is observed in the nuclear samples (panel 1, lane 5, 6). Lamin-B and tubulin acting as the loading control.

## Down regulation of endogenous p53 using the HPV E6 protein

The down regulation of endogenous p53 using the HPV gene 6 product provides a good system to analyze the cellular effects elicited by down regulation of p53. A172 and U87MG cells transfected with pCMV-E6 plasmid and expressing the human papillomavirus 16 E6 gene were obtained as a gift from Dr. Cairncross, University of Calgary. The HPV E6 genes can be transfected into mammalian cells to create cell lines with down regulated p53 expression (Xu et al., 2005). The successful translation of HPV E6 genes leads to synthesis of the E6 protein, which can bind to wt p53 and induce ubiquitin mediated degradation of wt p53 (Werness et al., 1990; Crook et al., 1991). The cell lines expressing HPV E6 protein known as the A172 E6 and U87MG E6 have down regulated p53 expression as explained in Xu et al (2005). A172 E6 and U87MG E6 cells were treated with BeSO<sub>4</sub> and the effect of p53 down regulation on  $\beta$ -catenin was analyzed in the presence of Be<sup>2+</sup>.

The total cell lysates of U87MG E6 show minimal p53 expression and a subsequent increase in the total  $\beta$ -catenin is observed in a concentration dependent manner. Compared to the cells treated with 0 or 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> (Fig. 25, lane-1&2) a marked increase in the total  $\beta$ -catenin amount is observed in the U87MG E6 cells treated with 30 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> (lane-3&4).

The total cells lysates of Be<sup>2+</sup> treated A172 E6 cells show p53 bands because in E6 cell lines the p53 expression is not knocked out completely (Fig. 26). The total  $\beta$ -catenin levels in A172 E6 cells are almost constant in the presence of increasing concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub>.



Fig. 25 Effect of down regulated p53 on the  $\beta$ -catenin levels in total cell lysates of U87MG E6. U87MG E6 were treated with 0, 10, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M with BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. After total cell lysate extraction from the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated cells, western blotting was used to analyze the protein levels of  $\beta$ -catenin, p53 with actin acting as the loading control.



Fig. 26 Effect of down regulated p53 on the  $\beta$ -catenin levels in total cell lysates of A172 E6. A172 E6 were treated with 0, 10, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M with BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. After total cell lysate extraction from the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated cells, western blotting was used to analyze the protein levels of  $\beta$ -catenin, p53 with actin acting as the loading control. In order to analyze the effect of p53 down regulation on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin A172 E6 and U87MG E6 cells were treated with BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. The cytoplasmic and nuclear proteins were fractionated out separately.

Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment does not seem to be having any effect on the expression/up regulation of p53 in U87MG E6 cells. Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment at 30  $\mu$ M or 100  $\mu$ M concentration leads to nuclear accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin (Fig. 27, lane 5-6) and increase in the cytoplasmic levels of  $\beta$ -catenin is also observed (lane 2, 3).

In A172 E6 cells, Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment caused an optimum increase in the p53 expression (Fig. 28, lane 2, 3 or 5, 6). An increase in the nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin is observed in the nuclear fraction of the A172 E6 treated with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> (lane 6).

The analysis of the  $\beta$ -catenin accumulation/localization in the E6 cell lines shows that down regulation of p53 leads to stabilization and nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin.

The down regulation of p53 expression was achieved by three independent techniques "p53 RNAi knockdown", "shRNA Lentivirus vector" and "E6 cell lines expressing HPV E6 protein". The results from these three independent experiments demonstrate that down regulation of p53 leads to nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin. It is also observed that the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin induced by the down regulation of p53 is amplified in the presence of Be<sup>2+</sup>.



Fig. 27 Effect of down regulated p53 on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in U87MG E6. U87MG E6 cells were treated with 0, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M with BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. The cytoplasmic/nuclear proteins were extracted out separately from the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated cells, western blotting was used to analyze the protein levels of  $\beta$ -catenin and p53. Tubulin and lamin acting as the loading controls.

## A172 E6 at 24 hr (cytoplasmic & nuclear)



Fig. 28 Effect of down regulated p53 on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in A172 E6. A172 E6 cells were treated with 0, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M with BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr. The cytoplasmic/nuclear proteins were extracted out separately from the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated cells, western blotting was used to analyze the protein levels of  $\beta$ -catenin and p53. Tubulin and lamin acting as the loading controls

### Beryllium and lithium have contrasting effects on the phosphorylation status of $\beta$ -catenin

β-catenin is phosphorylated on Ser-33, Ser–37 and Thr-41 by GSK-3β (Ikeda et al., 1998; Sadot et al., 2002; Sutherland, 2011). The phosphorylated β-catenin is then ubiquitinated followed by proteasomal degradation. As an aftermath of Li<sup>+</sup> mediated GSK-3β inhibition, a decrease in phospho β-catenin level is observed in 293T cells (Sadot et al., 2002). The assessment of decrease/increase in the phospho β-catenin levels, in the presence of GSK-3β inhibitors can act as a direct and indisputable method of establishing the effect of GSK-3β inhibitors on Wnt/βcatenin signaling pathway.

We investigated the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  treatment on the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin levels in A172 cells. Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment did not induce any increase or decrease in the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin level (Fig. 29, lane 2, 3, 4, 5&6) and correspondingly the total  $\beta$ -catenin levels too stayed fairly constant (lane 2, 3, 4, 5&6). These results suggest that probably Be<sup>2+</sup> has nil to minimal inhibitory effect on the Wnt signaling pathway. The analysis of the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin level in Li<sup>+</sup> treated samples showed that Li<sup>+</sup> induces an increase in the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin (lane 7&8), which was unexpected. The lack of increase in the total  $\beta$ -catenin levels indicates that Li<sup>+</sup> treatment is primarily modulating the phosphorylation status of  $\beta$ -catenin only (lane 7, 8). The increase in the p53 protein levels in the presence of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl validates the effectiveness of Be<sup>2+</sup> and Li<sup>+</sup> treatment on A172 cells.



Fig. 29 Be<sup>2+</sup> has no effect on the phosphorylation status of  $\beta$ -catenin. A172 cells were treated with 0, 5, 10, 25, 50 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 0, 10 or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr. The phospho  $\beta$ -catenin (Ser–33), total  $\beta$ -catenin, p53 and actin protein levels were assessed using western blotting with actin serving as the loading control.

#### MG132 - a proteasome inhibitor, leads to accumulation of phospho β-catenin in A172 cells

MG132 (sc-201270) is a strong proteasome inhibitor (Lee and Goldberg, 1998). Inhibition of the proteasome machinery using MG132 should have a positive effect on  $\beta$ -catenin turn over. A172 cells were treated with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl for 18 hr and then the Be<sup>2+</sup>- Li<sup>+</sup> RPMI was replaced with Be<sup>2+</sup>- Li<sup>+</sup> RPMI supplemented with 10  $\mu$ M MG132 and the cells were cultured under the effect of MG132 for 6 hr.

In the presence of MG132 a slight increase in the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin was observed in the control samples (Fig. 30, lane 4) compared to the control samples lacking MG132 (lane 1). A profound increase in the p53 protein level is observed in the MG132 control cells (lane 4). The increase in p53 protein levels in the MG132 samples proves the effective inhibitory effect of MG132 on proteasome machinery. In the absence of MG132 the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin levels of the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated samples are comparable to the control phospho  $\beta$ -catenin level (lane 1&2). In the presence of MG132 as well the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin levels of the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated samples are comparable to the control phospho  $\beta$ -catenin level so of the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated samples are comparable to the control phospho  $\beta$ -catenin level so of the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated samples are comparable to the control phospho  $\beta$ -catenin level (lane 4&5). These results indicate that may be Be<sup>2+</sup> has no role in inducing the increase in phospho  $\beta$ -catenin in the MG132 + Be<sup>2+</sup> treated samples compared to the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated samples could be because of the inhibitory effect of MG132 on the proteasome machinery (lane 2&4). The phospho  $\beta$ -catenin levels of the Li<sup>+</sup> treated samples both in the presence and absence of MG132 are almost the same (lane 3&6). It indicates that probably Li<sup>+</sup>-induced increase in the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin is an intrinsic property of Li<sup>+</sup>, which could be independent of the effects of MG132.



Fig. 30 Proteasome inhibitor (MG132) leads to an increase in the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin level in Be<sup>2+</sup> treated samples but not in the Li<sup>+</sup> samples. Western blots showing the protein levels of phospho  $\beta$ -catenin (Ser -33), total  $\beta$ -catenin, p53 and actin. A172 cells were cultured either in the absence (Fig 30 left) or presence (Fig 30 right) of 10  $\mu$ M MG132. A172 cells were treated with 0, 100  $\mu$ M Be SO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr.

## Down regulation of p53 has no effect on phospho-β-catenin

The observation that  $Li^+$  caused an increase in phospho  $\beta$ -catenin in A172 cells was unexpected, because  $\beta$ -catenin is a substrate for phosphorylation by GSK-3 $\beta$  and Li<sup>+</sup> acts as an inhibitor of GSK-3<sup>β</sup> kinase activity. Moreover, Sadot et al. observed that Li<sup>+</sup> causes a decrease in phospho- $\beta$ -catenin when 293T cells are used (Sadot et al., 2002). The A172 cells shown in Fig. 29 and 30 have wild type p53. 293T cells are human embryonic kidney cells that have been transformed with SV40 large T antigen, which inactivates p53. Considering the potential for complicated interactions between p53 signaling and the Wnt/β-catenin network, we wondered whether p53 status could account for the divergent effects of lithium on phospho- $\beta$ -catenin when comparing our results to those of Sadot et al. Therefore, we repeated this experiment using the p53 shRNA-expressing A172 cells (p53 KO A172 cells) (Fig. 31). In p53 KO A172 the p53 expression is down regulated (Fig. 23). However, our results with p53 KO A172 reproduced our earlier results when A172 cells expressing wild type p53 were used: In p53 KO A172 cells as well Li<sup>+</sup> caused an increase in the phospho- $\beta$ -catenin but beryllium did not at 24 hr. These results were reproduced after 48 hr treatment time as well. Our results from p53 KO A172 cells (Fig. 31) indicate that probably p53 has no role to play in the lithium induced increase of phospho  $\beta$ catenin.



Fig. 31 Down regulation of p53 has no effect on the phospho- $\beta$ -catenin levels. A172 p53 KO cells were treated with 0, 10 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl for 24 or 48 hr. Western blots showing the protein levels of phospho  $\beta$ -catenin (Ser -33), total  $\beta$ -catenin, p53 and actin.

# Beryllium in combination with MG132 (a proteasome inhibitor) induces an increase in the phospho-β-catenin levels in A172 p53 KO cells

In the presence of a proteasome inhibitor an increase in the phosphor- $\beta$ -catenin levels was observed (Fig. 30). We wondered what would be the effect of MG132 on shRNA-expressing p53 KO A172 cells. A172 cells were treated with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl for 18 hr and then the Be<sup>2+</sup>-Li<sup>+</sup> RPMI was replaced with Be<sup>2+</sup>-Li<sup>+</sup> RPMI supplemented with 10  $\mu$ M MG132 and the cells were cultured under the effect of MG132 for 6 hr.

In p53 KO A172 cells the use of MG132 caused phospho  $\beta$ -catenin to accumulate at higher levels(Fig. 32). There is a marked increase in the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin levels in the untreated (MG132) samples compared to the untreated samples lacking the proteasome inhibitor MG132. The beryllium treated samples seems to be following the pattern of untreated cells in terms of phospho  $\beta$ -catenin accumulation (appreciable amount of phospho- $\beta$ -catenin accumulation in the presence of proteasome inhibitor). The p53 KO A172 cells seems to be imitating the normal A172 cells in showing a little difference in the phospho  $\beta$ -catenin levels in the presence or absence of proteasome inhibitor. The results from A172 cells (Fig. 30) and p53 KO A172 cells (Fig. 32) indicate and reiterate the point that probably p53 has no role in the lithium induced increase of phospho  $\beta$ -catenin .



Fig. 32 Down regulation of p53 coupled with proteasome inhibiton causes accumulation of phospho- $\beta$ -catenin in p53 KO A172 cells. p53 KO A172 cells were treated with 0 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr. Western blots showing the protein levels of phospho  $\beta$ -catenin (Ser -33), total  $\beta$ -catenin, p53 and actin. p53 KO A172 cells were cultured either in the absence or presence of 10  $\mu$ M MG132.

## Discussion

In our previous study we established that  $Be^{2+}$  is a potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor and it doesn't elicits any increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in A172 and HFL cells (Mudireddy et al., 2014). Analysis of the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β in NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells treated with BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr shows that Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment caused an increase in Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Fig. 9 & 10). The ability of Be<sup>2+</sup> to induce Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  seems to be a cell type specific action. In our present study Be<sup>2+</sup> did not elicit any change in the Ser-9 phosphorylation status of GSK-3 $\beta$  in A172 and U87MG cells (Fig. 8&9). Surprisingly  $Li^+$  too did not induce any change in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in U87MG cells; this is in contrast to the results reported in Atkins et al (2012). (Fig. 9b, lane 4). The comparison of beryllium's effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β with other GSK- $3\beta$  inhibitors like Li<sup>+</sup>, SB216763, insulin or rottlerin shows that it is only Be<sup>2+</sup> which elicits a cell type specific response in A172, NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells (Fig. 12 & Table 5).  $Li^+$  influences the GSK-3β to TIMAP to PP1 positive feedback loop eliciting an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Zhang et al., 2003). It is possible that in some cell types Be<sup>2+</sup> may not be able to regulate the GSK-3 $\beta$  to TIMAP to PP1 feedback loop because of which no increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  is observed. The uniqueness of beryllium's role as a GSK-3β inhibitor lies in its ability to regulate Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β differentially depending upon the specific cell lines. In our comparative study here  $Be^{2+}$  is the only GSK-3 $\beta$ inhibitor among Li<sup>+</sup>, SB216763 and insulin, which has a cell type specific effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β.

Be<sup>2+</sup> caused a decrease in the phosphorylation of glycogen synthase (GS) in NIH/3T3 cells (Fig. 15&16). This is the first time ever the inhibitory effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on GSK-3 $\beta$  is demonstrated by assessing the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on the endogenous target proteins that are downstream of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Be<sup>2+</sup> caused an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  and it could lead to its

inactivation in NIH/3T3 cells. The increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in the Be<sup>2+</sup> treated samples is complemented well by the decrease in phosphorylation of glycogen synthase. It has been demonstrated that Li<sup>+</sup> causes a decrease in pGS levels in L6 muscle cells and 3T3-L1 adipocytes (MacAualy et al., 2003). An intriguing aspect related to the effect of GSK-3 $\beta$ inhibitors on the phosphorylation status of glycogen synthase has been the selective dephosphorylation of glycogen synthase isoform-1 only. The expression of glycogen synthase isoforms is tissue specific (Browner et al., 1989; Nuttall et al., 1994). It has been reported that unicellular organisms like synechocystis (cyanobacteria) and yeast express both the isoforms of glycogen synthase (Frakas et al., 1991; Yoo et al., 2014). As explained in the results section NIH/3T3 could possibly be expressing both the isoforms of glycogen synthase. It is not clear why lithium, beryllium or SB216763 are able to induce a decrease in the phosphorylation status of glycogen synthase-1 only. The regulation of glycogen synthase is a complicated phenomenon which is not clearly understood yet. It has been reported that in yeast the expression of the glycogen synthase isoforms is differentially regulated (Frakas et al., 1991). Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of glycogen synthase plays an important role in its regulation. It could be possible that the phosphorylation status of glycogen synthase could be differentially regulated as well. It has been observed that kinases are closely associated with phosphatases and they work in tandem in regulating the phosphorylation status of substrates. A good example of a kinase/phosphatase pair working in tandem would be the regulation of Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  as explained in the Zhang's model (schematic diagram 3). Along with different kinases certain phosphatases like PP1G has been implicated in regulating the phosphorylation status of glycogen synthase (Smith et al., 1983; Aschenbach et al., 2001). There is a possibility that there might be a phosphatase that is specific for the isoforms of glycogen synthase and the GSK- $3\beta$ inhibitors could be interfering with its phosphatase activity. However this is a speculation and there is no information to support such a possibility.

Dominant phosphorylation sites: GSK-3 $\beta$  is one of the many kinases that phosphorylate glycogen synthase and regulate its activity (explained in Roach et al., 2012). It has been proposed that in rabbit muscle cells expressing glycogen synthase-1 the phosphorylation of site 2 (\*Ser-8), site 2a (\*Ser-11), site 3a (\*Ser-641) and site 3b (\*Ser-645) play an important role in its regulation (\* amino acid numbers in relation to mouse glycogen synthase) (Skurat et al., 1994, 1995). The phospho-GS antibody used in this study is specific to the pSer-641 and pSer-645 residues. In liver glycogen synthase isoform 2 is present and the dominant phosphorylation site on glycogen synthase-2 is site 2 (\*Ser-8) (Ros et al., 2009). It could be possible that the phosphorylation status of Ser-641 and Ser-645 might be playing a less important role in the regulation of glycogen synthase-2. Hence it can be speculated that the use of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors in NIH/3T3 cells seems to have no effect on the phosphorylation status of glycogen synthase-2 (Fig 16). However the effect of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors on the pGS levels has to be investigated in a cell line representing hepatic lineage. In this way the precise effect of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors on the phosphorylation status of glycogen synthase-2 can be analyzed.

Compartmentalization of GS: Prats et al showed that along with the phosphorylation/dephosphorylation mechanism compartmentalization of glycogen synthase seems to be playing an important role in its regulation (Prats et al., 2009). It could be possible that the glycogen synthase isoforms in the NIH/3T3 cells could be compartmentalized and hence differentially regulated by GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors.

 $Li^+$  mimics the actions of insulin and inhibits GSK-3 $\beta$ , which in turn has a positive effect on glycogen metabolism (Cheng et al., 1983; Bosch et al., 1986; Choi et al., 2000).Whether the Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment induced dephosphorylation of glycogen synthase (GS) has a positive effect on the activity of GS and glycogen metabolism has to be investigated further.

The most common way to demonstrate the after effects of GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibition is by assessing the stabilization and nuclear localization of the important GSK-3 $\beta$  substrate called as  $\beta$ -catenin. Our data shows that Li<sup>+</sup> treatment promotes nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in NIH/3T3 and A172 cells.  $\beta$ -catenin is an important constituent of the Wnt signaling pathway. The Li<sup>+</sup> induced nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin is an expected result because Li<sup>+</sup> mimcs the action of Wnt ligands (Stambolic et al., 1996; Klein and Melton, 1996; Hedgepeth et al., 1997). Li<sup>+</sup> treatment also regulates the glycogen metabolism pathway. Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment induced a minimal nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin in NIH/3T3 and A172 cells (Fig. 17&18). The analysis of the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in Be<sup>2+</sup> or Li<sup>+</sup> treated NIH/3T3 and A172 cells suggests that in comparison to Li<sup>+</sup> induced nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> is subtle. Insulin did not elicit any major influence on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin and the same has been reported in other studies (Ding et al., 2000).

The inability of Be<sup>2+</sup> to induce substantial nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin while decreasing the levels of phospho-glycogen synthase points to the fact that Be<sup>2+</sup> could be a pathway specific GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor. Analysis of the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on axin, an important constituent of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex shows that Be<sup>2+</sup> has little effect on the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex, unlike Li<sup>+</sup> (Fig. 21). With little effect on the stability of axin, Be<sup>2+</sup> will not be able to destabilize  $\beta$ catenin destruction complex. A stable and active  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex marks  $\beta$ -catenin for ubiquitin mediated proteosomal degradation thus deterring any substantial nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin. GSK-3 $\beta$  enzyme can be dived into two cellular fractions the "free GSK-3 $\beta$ ", which is part of the insulin signaling pathway and the "bound GSK-3 $\beta$ " involved in the Wnt pathway. Li<sup>+</sup> seems to be behaving as a GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor in a more universal fashion, inhibiting both the free GSK-3 $\beta$  and the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex bound GSK-3 $\beta$  fractions. The GSK-3 $\beta$ associated with the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex is responsible for phosphorylating  $\beta$ -catenin and marking it for ubiquitin mediated proteasomal degradation.

We hypothesized that the lack of nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in the presence of beryllium is because of its inability to regulate the "bound GSK-3 $\beta$ " which is part of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex. Axin is a member of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex along with APC, PP2A, GSK-3β and CK-1. Phosphorylation of axin by GSK-3β stabilizes it and plays a central role in the regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin. Analysis of the effect of Li<sup>+</sup> on axin stability shows that Li<sup>+</sup>treatment caused de stabilization of axin in A172 and NIH/3T3 cells (Fig 21a&b, panel 1). However Be<sup>2+</sup> seems to be having no effect on axin stability in A172 and NIH/3T3 cells (Fig 21a, b&c). Lithium is known to de stabilize axin by interfering with GSK-3ß mediated phosphorylation of axin (Yamamoto et al., 1999). It can be concluded that Li<sup>+</sup> is able to inhibit the kinase activity of "bound GSK-3 $\beta$ " because of which it cannot phosphorylate axin. However Be<sup>2+</sup> seems to be unable to interfere with the kinase activity of "bound GSK-3<sup>β</sup>" thus eliciting no effect on axin's stability. It can be hypothesized that the Be<sup>2+</sup> induced decrease of pGS is because of the  $Be^{2+}$  mediated inhibition of "free GSK-3 $\beta$ ". Conversely the inability of  $Be^{2+}$  to elicit the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin could be because of its failure to access or inhibit the "bound GSK-3 $\beta$ " thus leaving its kinase activity intact. The inability of Be<sup>2+</sup> to regulate proteins like axin and  $\beta$ -cartenin indicates that the Wnt pathway could be insulated from its inihibitory effects.

Various studies have demonstrated the possibility of a cross talk between p53 and  $\beta$ -catenin and that the activation of p53 expression down regulates  $\beta$ -catenin (Damalas et al., 1999; Sadot et al., 2001; Levina et al., 2004). In our study it was observed that Be<sup>2+</sup> could not induce nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin; we thought it would be interesting to investigate the effect of p53 upregulation on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin. Our results demonstrated that in cell lines carrying wt p53 Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment did not induce any nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (Fig. 16). Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment causes up regulation of p53 expression (Lehnert et al., 2001; Coates et al., 2007; Gorjala and Gary, 2010) and it could probably be one of the reasons for the lack of nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin. Down regulation/knock down of p53 resulted in clear nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin (Fig. 22, 24, 27&28). De regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin plays a central role in development of various cancers. Hence  $\beta$ -catenin is regulated by multiple, overlapping and intricate mechanisms which are still not clearly understood; p53 mediated down regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin is one among them. It has been proposed that p53 communicates with the endogenous  $\beta$ -catenin using a micro RNA known as miRNA-34a (Kim et al., 2011; Siemens et al., 2013). Our efforts to knock down miRNA-34a using specialized RNAi analog to establish the role of miR-34a in p53 mediated blockade of nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin was not successful (data not shown).

Li<sup>+</sup> induced decrease of phospho  $\beta$ -catenin in 293T cells (human embryonic kidney cells) has been reported previously (Sadot et al., 2002). Our studies indicate that in A172 cells (human glioblastoma) Li<sup>+</sup> treatment at 10 or 20 mM concentration leads to an increase in phospho- $\beta$ catenin levels. (Fig.29). Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment on the other hand has no effect on the phospho- $\beta$ -catenin (Fig. 29). Even though Be<sup>2+</sup> and Li<sup>+</sup> are both inhibitors of GSK-3 $\beta$  they seem to be playing contrasting roles in relation to the phosphorylation status of  $\beta$ -catenin. Interestingly no change was observed in the total  $\beta$ -catenin levels even when the phosphorylated form of endogenous  $\beta$ catenin was up regulated. This observation suggests that the change is primarily in the phosphorylation status of  $\beta$ -catenin. Recently it was shown that Wnt stimulation elicited accumulation of phosphorylated form of  $\beta$ -catenin in HEK293T cells (Gerlach et al., 2014). Lithium mimics the action of Wnts (Stambolic et al., 1996; Hedgepeth et al., 1997) and the Wnt signaling induced accumulation of phosphorylated form of  $\beta$ -catenin.

It has been suggested that along with GSK-3 $\beta$  mediated phosphorylation there could be some serine/threonine phosphatases which are involved in the regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin. Protein phosphase 2A (PP2A) is an prominent member of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex and plays an important role in the regulation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway (Willert et al., 1999; Seeling

et al., 1999; Li et al., 2001; Yang et al., 2003; Yokoyama and Malbon, 2007). PP2A is made up of three subunits designated as A, B and C which constitutes the holoenzyme. It has been reported that the phosphorylation of PP2A inhibits its phosphatase activity, which in turn leads to an increase in β-catenin phosphorylation (Bos et al., 2006). Interestingly lithium has been shown to inhibit PP2A in certain cell types (Mora et al., 2002). It has been reported that lithium inhibits PP2A by preventing methylation of subunit C and by causing the dissociation of subunit B from the core enzyme (Chen et al., 2006). These studies points to the fact that lithium has the ability to regulate the phosphatase activity of PP2A towards phospho-β-catenin. Another closely related phosphatase called as protein phosphatase 1 (PP1) is an important constituent of the GSK-3β– TIMAP–PP1 feedback loop, wherein it positively regulates GSK-3β via its phosphatase activity (Jope, 2003; Li et al., 2007). The ability of Li<sup>+</sup> to elicit an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β has been partly attributed to the perturbations it can cause in the GSK-3β–TIMAP– PP1 feedback loop (Zhang et al., 2003). It is possible that only Li<sup>+</sup> but not Be<sup>2+</sup> is able to interfere with the PP2A activity, because of which only Li<sup>+</sup> could be facilitating accumulation of phosphoβ-catenin in A172 cells.

However the precise role of PP2A in the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex is not clear yet. It has been reported that PP2A might be involved in de phosphorylation of APC (Ikeda et al., 2000). The most important question whether PP2A can dephosphorylate the  $\beta$ -catenin associated with the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex remains unanswered. It has been reported that PP2A can dephosphorylate  $\beta$ -catenin in vitro (Su et al., 2008). Su et al also suggests that APC could be protecting the phosphorylated N-terminal region of  $\beta$ -catenin by shielding it from PP2A. The available data implies that the role of PP2A in regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin in the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex is not clearly understood.

 $\beta$ -TrCP is a F-Box protein which is an important component of the ubiquitin ligase complex (SCF) involved in regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin stability (Winston et al., 1999; Latres et al., 1999) and
this ubiquitin ligase complex is associated with the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex (Hart et al., 1999; Liu et al., 1999, Major et al., 2007). The GSK-3 $\beta$  mediated phosphorylation of Ser-33 and Ser-37 present on the N-terminal region of  $\beta$ -catenin in the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex serves as the recognition site for  $\beta$ -TrCP (reviewed in Kikuchi et al., 2006). The  $\beta$ -TrCP initiates the binding of E2 ligase followed by poly-ubiquitination of  $\beta$ -catenin which ultimately leads to its proteosomal degradation (reviewed in Kimelman and Xu, 2006). It has been suggested that APC could be playing an important role in the  $\beta$ -TrCP mediated ubiquitination of  $\beta$ -catenin (Sadot et al., 2002; Yang et al., 2006; Su et al., 2008). It has also been suggested that in the absence of APC, phoshorylated form of  $\beta$ -catenin is rapidly de phosphorylated thus diminishing the possibility of poly-ubiquitination (Su et al., 2008). These studies suggest that some members of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex could be helping the  $\beta$ -TrCP mediated ubiquitination of  $\beta$ -catenin. Hence the loss of a stable and functional  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex could interfere with the  $\beta$ -TrCP mediated ubiquitination thus preventing the proteosomal degradation of phospho- $\beta$ -catenin.

Lithium is a strong GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor and is known to inhibit GSK-3 $\beta$ 's ability to phosphorylate its substrates.  $\beta$ -catenin is a well established and highly studied GSK-3 $\beta$  substrate and the "accepted  $\beta$ -catenin dogma" is that the inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  should elicit a sharp decrease in phospho- $\beta$ -catenin levels. Surprisingly our results suggest that the "accepted  $\beta$ catenin dogma" may not be always true. Lithium seems to be inhibiting the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway by three different mechanisms. Lithium induces Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Zhang et al., 2003), it induces destabilization of axin because of which the stability of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex could be affected (Fig. 21). Lithium also inhibits the activity of PP2A (Chen et al., 2006; Mora et al., 2002). The above mentioned reasons could be responsible for the lithium mediated up regulation of phosphorylated form of  $\beta$ -catenin. We are proposing a hypothetical model to explain the "regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin/phospho- $\beta$ -catenin" by the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex and the role of lithium as a "Wnt mimicking agent" (schematic diagram 6, - next page)

Schematic diagram 6: Hypothetical model explaining the increase of phospho- $\beta$ -catenin in the presence of lithium



The lithium induced increase in the phospho- $\beta$ -catenin levels of A172 cells was a surprising observation (Fig. 29). Conventional knowledge about lithium's role as GSK-3ß inhibitor points to the fact that it should lead to a decrease in the levels of phospho- $\beta$ -catenin, as explained in Sadot et al. A critical difference between our study and Sadot et al is their use of 293T cells (human embryonic kidney cells containing the SV40 T antigen) and we have used A172 cells (glioblasoma). Another important difference is the p53 status in A172 and 293T cells; T antigen is known disrupt the activity of p53 protein (Ali and DeCaprio, 2001). We speculated that the accumulation of phospho- $\beta$ -catenin in A172 cells could be because of the presence of wt p53. Hence we used the shRNA A172 p53 KO cells to analyze the effect of lithium on phospho- $\beta$ catenin. Our speculation that the presence of wt p53 in A172 cells could be causing accumulation of phospho- $\beta$ -catenin in lithium treated cells was incorrect. The effect of lithium on phospho- $\beta$ catenin did not change depending upon the functional status of p53. These observations are very intriguing because  $Li^+$  induced inhibiton of GSK-3 $\beta$  should cause a decrease in the phospho- $\beta$ catenin. As observed p53 status seems to be eliciting no effect on the Li<sup>+</sup> induced accumulation of phospho- $\beta$ -catenin. There is a remote possibility that the Li<sup>+</sup> induced accumulation of phospho- $\beta$ catenin in A172 cells could be an exclusive cell type specific event. However it would be prudent to examine the effect of  $Li^+$  on phospho- $\beta$ -catenin in other cell types as well.

Several studies have shown that  $\beta$ -catenin plays a critical role in cancerous proliferation of cells (Morin, 1999; Valenta et al., 2012). De regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin can happen due to many reasons and the two most important being: 1. mutations in the  $\beta$ -catenin gene (CTNNb1) which affects the important serine/threonine residues in the N-terminal region of the  $\beta$ -catenin. 2. Any mutation or inhibition of the proteins like APC, axin, GSK-3 $\beta$  or PP2A, which are all constituents of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex. The mutated ser/thr residues on the amino terminal region of  $\beta$ -catenin cannot provide the post translational phosphorylation signal for the ubiquitin mediated proteasomal degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin. The stabilization and nuclear accumulation of  $\beta$ -

catenin leads to activation of  $\beta$ -catenin-target genes some of which are involved in the development of cancer (Thakur and Mishra, 2013). Activation of Wnt signaling and abnormal nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin results in development of tumoural phenotype in mesenchymal stem cells (Herencia et al., 2012), development of colon cancer (Tetsu and McCormick, 1999) and development of human colorectal carcinomas (Mann et al., 1999). Nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin is associated with the local lymph node metastasis or distant metastasis in a variety of cancers like colorectal (Cheng et al., 2011), breast (Robles-Frias et al., 2006), oesophageal (Hou et al., 2011) and cervical (Noordhuis et al., 2011). Nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin is associated with malignant melanomas as well (Rimm et al., 1999) and abnormal repression of GSK-3 $\beta$  can possibly lead to activation of oncogenes.

Inhibition of GSK-3 presents a peculiar problem and has its own implications. Down regulation of GSK-3 $\beta$  activity could have a positive effect on the glycogen metabolism and tau protein phosphorylation dynamics, which have direct implications in diabetes miletus type 2 and alzheimer's disease respectively. Conversely inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  could lead to activation of proto oncogenes due the stabilization and nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin.

A potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor is expected to bring about the desired effect along with the stabilization and nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin. As demonstrated in our study GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors insulin, Li<sup>+</sup> and SB216763 were successful in down regulating the phosphorylation of GS and except for insulin the other two GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitors (Li<sup>+</sup> and SB216763) caused nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin as well. Li<sup>+</sup> is already in use for anti-bipolar therapy. The IC<sub>50</sub> value of Li<sup>+</sup> is ~ 2mM but the therapeutic concentration is ~1 mM (Malhi et al., 2013). The use of Li<sup>+</sup> at a concentration lower than its IC<sub>50</sub> for therapeutic purpose is to avoid complete or unrestricted inactivation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Our study indicates that Be<sup>2+</sup> can act as a potent GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor at intra cellular level. The inhibitory effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> seems to be biased more towards the glycogen synthesis pathway, while keeping the Wnt signaling fairly insulated from its inhibitory effects.

Insulin is a GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor, but the GSK-3 $\beta$  fraction which is part of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex seems to be "insulated" from the inhibitory action of insulin (Ding et al., 2003). However the possibility of a cross talk between insulin and Wnt signaling pathway does exists and it has been reported that insulin can stimulate  $\beta$ -catenin pathway (Desbois-Mouthon et al., 2001). Hence it is necessary to use the word "insulated" in relation to GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibition with caution.

This preliminary study highlights the unique properties of  $Be^{2+}$  in terms of its differential regulatory effect on the pathways in which GSK-3 $\beta$  plays a central role. This unique property of  $Be^{2+}$  could conceivably be exploited for therapeutic purpose. Before commenting on the therapeutic potential of  $Be^{2+}$  it is imperative to ascertain the mechanism behind the  $Be^{2+}$  induced inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$ . How is  $Be^{2+}$  modulating the inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  by "direct mechanism" and what is the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on the "scaffolding proteins" that are part of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex are some of the un answered questions.

#### **CHAPTER 6**

# Beryllium could be involved in the regulation of BTG2, DDB2 and FAM III B gene products

## Introduction:

Our lab demonstrated that beryllium can induce an increase in the expression of important cell cycle regulators p53 and p21 (Coates et al., 2007; Gorjala and Gary, 2010, Mudireddy et al., 2014). There is very limited information available about the effect of beryllium on mammalian cells at molecular level. There could be many other important genes/gene products that might be regulated by Be<sup>2+</sup>. Microarray is a powerful technique that can help in analyzing the expression of genes under different conditions. From the microarray data available in our lab, it was observed that apart from p21 there are other genes, which respond to beryllium treatment. BTG2, DDB2 and FAM III B genes were selected for this study and the expression of these genes after Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment was analyzed using RT PCR.

## Materials and methods

## **Cell culture**

A172 cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 HEPES (cat#23400-021, Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1x antibiotic-mycotic.

#### **Beryllium treatment**

BeSO<sub>4</sub>.4H<sub>2</sub>O (lot&filling code: 413015/1 22001, Fluka) was used to prepare a stock solution. Beryllium stock solution was diluted to obtain required concentration. Cells used in this study were obtained after trypsinizing a batch of cell culture dishes. A common pool of cells was generated which was then used for the experiment. The cells designated as control were cultured in normal RPMI 1640 or 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr.

## **Real time PCR**

After the treatment of A172 with the inhibitors or ionizing radiation, total mRNA was extracted using Rneasy Mini Kit and QIA-shredder (Qiagen cat #74104 and 79654). The RNA concentration was measured using nano drop UV-vis spectrophotometer. Total mRNA was reverse transcribed to generate copies of cDNA. Real time PCR was performed on same quantity of cDNA sample using QuantiTect SYBR green PCR kit (Qiagen cat #205311) and QuantiTect SYBR green PCR kit (Qiagen cat #205311) and QuantiTect SYBR green PCR kit (Qiagen cat # 204143). The following primer sets were used in the study QT00095431, QT00079247, QT00062090, QT00240247 for human GAPDH, human p21 (CDKN1A) and human BTG2 respectively (QuantiTect Primer assay).

The thermal cycling program was set in the following way for amplification and detection -

Step 1: Initial denaturation step at 95 °C for 15 minutes

Step 2: Annealing at 55  $^{\circ}$ C for duration of 30 seconds.

Step 3: The primer extension step was set at 72°C for 30 seconds

The step 1, 2 and 3 can be considered as a thermal cycle and the BioRad thermal cycler was programmed to repeat this cycle 40 times.

Final step: The thermal cycle program was terminated after performing a final denaturation step at 95  $^{\circ}$ C for 1 minute followed by a final extension performed at 72  $^{\circ}$ C for 1 minute

For the melt curve analysis the starting point was set at 55 °C for 10 seconds with a step by increase of 0.5 °C after cycle 2 (of the total 40 cycles).

For data analysis – RT PCR data was normalized against actin. The upregulation or down regulation of the gene expression under the effect of inhibitors or ionizing radiation was calculated as % of control.

## **IR treatment**

For ionizing radiation, the Cabinet X-Ray system, model Rx-650, by Faxitron X-ray corp was used. Accordingly A172 cells were exposed to 5 Gy or 10 Gy ionizing radiation.

#### **Statistical analysis:**

GraphPad Prism v6.0c (Mac OS) was used for analyzing the data. One-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test was used to obtain P values comparing each group with all the other groups (P < 0.05 considered as significant). The log transformed values were used for the analysis.

## Results

 $Be^{2+}$  at concentrations, as low as 10  $\mu$ M caused a marked increase in the mRNA levels of the important cell cycle regulator p21 in A172 cells (Fig. 33). Li<sup>+</sup> treatment too caused an increase in the mRNA levels of p21. However exposing the cells to ionizing radiation (X-rays) did not elicit any increase in the mRNA levels of p21.

Be<sup>2+</sup> caused a significant decrease in the mRNA levels of FAM III B in A172 cells (Fig. 34). Li<sup>+</sup> and ionizing radiation (X-ray) treatment as well caused a decrease in the mRNA levels of FAM II B. However the function of FAM III B gene is not known.

DDB2 gene encodes the DNA damage binding protein 2 and it is is involved in DNA damage repair. (Keeney et al., 1993; Wakasugi et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2000). Be<sup>2+</sup> has no significant effect

on the mRNA levels of DDB2 in A172 cells.  $Li^+$  treatment and exposure of A172 cells to X-ray did not have any significant effect on the DDB2 mRNA levels (Fig. 35).

B-cell translocation gene 2 (BTG2) is a member of the BTG gene family and encodes the BTG2 protein. BTG2 is a p53 dependent protein and is an important component of the cellular response to DNA damage (Rouault et al., 1996; Puisieux and Magaud, 1999; Winkler, 2010). In the presence of Be<sup>2+</sup> there is little increase in the mRNA levels of BTG2, which is comparable to the increase/change induced by ionizing radtaion (X-ray) treatment (Fig. 36). Li<sup>+</sup> treatment caused significant increase in the mRNA levels of BTG2 gene in A172 cells.

The is no significant change in the actin mRNA levels in the presence of  $Be^{2+}$  or after treatment with ionizing radiation (Fig. 37). Li<sup>+</sup> treatment seems to be down regulating the actin mRNA levels to an extent.





**Fig. 33 Beryllium at 10 \muM concentration caused an increase in p21**. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, 10 mM LiCl for 24 hr or 5 Gy X-ray or 10 Gy X-ray. A significant increase in the p21 mRNA is observed in the 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> samples. Statistically significant differences are indicated as \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001, \*\*\*\* *P* < 0.0001. Statistically non significant values are mentioned as *ns*.

FAM III B



Fig. 34 Beryllium at 10  $\mu$ M concentration caused a significant decrease in FAM III B mRNA. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, 10 mM LiCl for 24 hr or 5 Gy X-ray or 10 Gy X-ray. Data presented as mean +/- standard deviation. Statistically significant differences are indicated as \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001, \*\*\*\* *P* < 0.0001.

DDB2



Fig. 35 Beryllium at 10  $\mu$ M concentration had no significant effect on the DDB2 mRNA. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, 10 mM LiCl for 24 hr or 5 Gy X-ray or 10 Gy X-ray. Data presented as mean +/- standard deviation. Statistically significant differences are indicated as \* P < 0.05, \*\* P < 0.01, \*\*\*\* P < 0.001, \*\*\*\* P < 0.0001. Statistically non significant values are mentioned as *ns*.



Fig. 36 Beryllium at 10  $\mu$ M concentration had no significant effect on the BTG2 mRNA. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, 10 mM LiCl for 24 hr or 5 Gy X-ray or 10 Gy X-ray. Data presented as mean +/- standard deviation. Statistically significant differences are indicated as \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001, \*\*\*\* *P* < 0.0001. Statistically non significant values are mentioned as *ns*.



Fig. 37 Beryllium at 10  $\mu$ M concentration had no significant effect on the actin mRNA levels. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub>, 10 mM LiCl for 24 hr or 5 Gy X-ray or 10 Gy X-ray. Data presented as mean +/- standard deviation. Statistically significant differences are indicated as \* *P* < 0.05, \*\* *P* < 0.01, \*\*\* *P* < 0.001, \*\*\*\* *P* < 0.0001. Statistically non significant values are mentioned as *ns*.

#### Discussion

Limited information is available about the effects of beryllium at molecular level. The effect of beryllium on the cell cycle regulators like p53 and p21 has been documented well in our lab. Here we tried to investigate the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on other genes/gene products.

Be<sup>2+</sup> affects a sharp decrease in the mRNA levels of the FAM III B gene. No information is available about the function of FAM III B gene. In our lab it was observed that beryllium treatment either induces an increase in expression of target genes or has no effect. The significant decrease in the expression of FAM III B gene is an interesting observation, which has to be investigated further.

One of the physiological affects associated with  $Be^{2+}$  treatment is the up regulation of cell cycle regulators. DDB2 is a protein associated with DNA damage and the mRNA levels are increasing in the presence of Li<sup>+</sup> only but not  $Be^{2+}$  or ionizing radiation. It indicates that  $Be^{2+}$  may not be able to induce any DNA damage in A172 cells. BTG2 protein is associated with cell cycle regulation. Beryllium induces cellular senescence (Coates et al., 2007; Gorjala and Gary, 2010) and the up regulation of BTG2 could be one of the reasons behind  $Be^{2+}$  induced senescence.

It is important to analyze the effect of  $Be^{2+}$  on the above mentioned genes at the transcript level. It will be worthwhile to investigate whether  $Be^{2+}$  can induce any post translational modification or if it has any effect on the stability of the above mentioned gene products.

#### **CHAPTER 7**

#### **RESEARCH SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

#### Summary

- The DRC survey shows that not all cell lines are tolerant to beryllium. The breast cancer cell lines MCF-7 and T-47D were found to be tolerant to high concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub>. It was also observed that neuronal cell lines are responsive to optimum concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub>.
- 2. Beryllium inhibits the in vitro kinase activity of pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  much more potently compared to lithium another potent inhibitor of GSK-3 $\beta$ . These results indicate a direct interaction between Be<sup>2+</sup> and GSK-3 $\beta$ .
- 3. Beryllium is less toxic to cells at physiologically relevant concentrations compared to lithium.
- 4. The effect of beryllium on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β seems to be cell type specific. Beryllium did not induce an increase in the pSer9-GSK-3β in A172, HFL and U87MG cells. However an increase in the pSer9-GSK-3β was observed in NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells.
- 5. For the very first time our results demonstrate the effect of beryllium on the proteins that are downstream of GSK-3β. A beryllium induced decrease in the phosphorylation status of glycogen synthase (GS) was observed in NIH/3T3 cells. The inhibitory effect of beryllium on the kinase activity of GSK-3β is confirmed by the decrease in the phospho-GS levels.
- 6. A very interesting aspect of this study has been the effect of beryllium on  $\beta$ -catenin, another important target protein of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Beryllium seems to be differentially regulating glycogen synthase and  $\beta$ -catenin. Lack of nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in NIH/3T3 and A172 cells in the presence Be<sup>2+</sup> indicates that the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway could be insulated from its effects.

- Beryllium seems to be having no effect on the stability of axin, an important member of the β-catenin destruction complex. The inability of beryllium to de-stabilize the β-catenin destruction complex could be the possible reason behind its differential regulation of glycogen synthase and β-catenin.
- 8. We have observed in our study that the presence of active and functional p53 plays an important role in the regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin. Loss of functional p53 caused an increase in the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin in A172, A172 E6 and U87MGE6 cells.
- 9. Beryllium was not able to modulate any change in the phosphorylation status of β-catenin. We observed that lithium seems to be inducing an increase in the phospho-β-catenin levels and beryllium cannot. This was a very surprising observation since lithium is a strong GSK-3β inhibitor and is expected to induce decrease in the phosphorylated form of β-catenin. These results also indicate that beryllium could possibly be having no effect on the Wnt/βcatenin pathway. We have proposed a hypothetical model to explain the lithium induced up regulation of β-catenin.

#### **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

 In order to analyze the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on other cellular kinases, we investigated its effects on the kinase activity of pure recombinant protein kinase A (PKA) enzyme. Our studies (documented in CHAPTER 4) shows that Be<sup>2+</sup> is down regulating the activity of pure recombinant PKA (Fig. 3a). The specificity of beryllium against the activity of other closely associated kinases like Akt/PKB has to be investigated thoroughly. Akt (also called protein kinase B) phosphorylates GSK-3β and is involved in the insulin signaling pathway (Sutherland et al., 1993; Shaw, et al., 1997; Cross et al., 1994, 1995; Stambolic and Woodgett, 1994). Apart from Akt/PKB another good candidate to analyze the effect of beryllium on other kinases would be the cyclin dependent kinases (CDK). The role of CDKs along with GSK-3β especially CDK-5 has been established in the tau hyperphosphoryaltion (Plattner et al., 2006; Garcia-Perez et al., 1998). It will be interesting to investigate the inhibitory effect of beryllium on kinases closely associated with GSK-3 $\beta$ , in order to comment on the specificity of Be<sup>2+</sup>.

- 2. The inhibitory Ser-9 phosphorylation plays a significant role in regulation of GSK-3β. We observed that beryllium modulates an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3β depending on the cell type. It would be logical to investigate whether beryllium induces any other post translational modification of GSK-3β. Phosphorylation of Tyr-216 along with the Ser-9 seems to play an important role in regulating GSK-3β (Diehl et al., 1998; Meijer et al., 2004; Bijur and Jope, 2003; Park et al., 2013). It could be possible that the effect of beryllium on the Tyr-216 if any might be consistent across all cell types. Hence it would be worthwhile to investigate the effect of beryllium on Tyr-216 phoshorylation of GSK-3β.
- 3. Li<sup>+</sup> mimics insulin and has a positive effect on glycogen metabolism (Cheng et al., 1983; Bosch et al., 1986; Choi et al., 2000). Beryllium too inhibits GSK-3β and induces a decrease in the inactive phosphorylated form of GS (Fig. 16). However whether the beryllium induced decrease in the phospho-GS form translates into any positive effect on glycogen metabolism or glucose transport has to be investigated further. We have analyzed the effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> on the phospho-GS levels in murine embryo fibroblasts only and it would be worthwhile to extend these studies in cell lines representing liver and muscle lineages. Since muscle and liver are major sites of glycogen metabolism.
- 4. A major concern that arises due to lithium induced inactivation of GSK-3β is the nuclear accumulation of β-catenin. The adverse effect of accumulated nuclear β-catenin is the activation of the β-catenin/TCF/LEF target genes, some of which are proto-oncogenes (Dale, 1998; Brantjes et al., 2002). We observed that beryllium seems to be inducing minimal nuclear localization of β-catenin in NIH/3T3 and A172 cells (Fig. 17). However the effect of beryllium on the TCF/LEF target genes which are further down stream of β-catenin, needs to be investigated. The effect of beryllium on the the β-catenin/TCF/LEF targets has to be

investigated to re assure the fact that the beryllium induced inhibition of GSK-3 $\beta$  will not lead to activation of oncogenes. Some of the important  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF/LEF targets that can be investigated are CDK-1, matrix metalloproteinase-7, *c-jun* and *fra-1* (Shtutman et al., 1999; Brabletz et al., 1999; Mann et al., 1999).

5. GSK-3β is an important member of the β-catenin destruction complex along with APC (Adenomatous Polyposis Coli), axin, casein kinase 1 (CK1), protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) and E3-ubiquitin ligase β-TrCP (Zeng et al., 1997; Behrens et al., 1998; Hart et al., 1998, Ikeda et al., 1998; Itoh et al., 1998; Salic et al., 2000; Kikuchi, 1999). We have analyzed the effect of beryllium on the stability of axin and it was observed that unlike lithium, beryllium was not able to destabilize axin (Fig. 21). APC is another important member of the β-catenin destruction complex and a bonafide substrate of GSK-3β (Ikeda et al., 2000; Ferrarese et al., 2007). It will be interesting to investigate the role of beryllium in regulating the phosphorylation/stability of APC and the overall effect it has on the stability of the β-catenin destruction complex. A comprehensive understanding of the effect of beryllium on the important members of the β-catenin destruction complex to the β-catenin destruction complex. A comprehensive understanding of the effect of beryllium on the important members of the β-catenin destruction complex could provide answers behind the inability of beryllium to induce clear nuclear localization of β-catenin.

#### **CHAPTER 8**

## Alternate hypothesis – possible mechanism for Be<sup>2+</sup> transport into the cells

Bivalent metal cations such as  $Mg^{2+}$  and  $Ca^{2+}$  play important roles as co factors of proteins/enzymes along with other cations like  $Zn^{2+}$ . The concentrations of these cations have to be very tightly regulated because the intra and extra cellular concentrations of these ions are critical for cellular signaling. There are specific mechanisms by which these ions are transported in and out of the cells. There are other metal ions like iron that are also important for cellular functions but we will limit our discussion to the  $Mg^{2+}$  and  $Ca^{2+}$ . Beryllium is a group IIa metal cation with an ionic radii of 34 pm and is a potential GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor at intracellular level (unpublished data). For a metal ion or an inhibitor to function as a biologically active agent it is necessary that the inhibitor has to be internalized by the cell so that it can interact with the target protein. In our lab it was observed that A172 (human glioblastoma) and RKO (human colon carcinoma) cells were able to successfully internalize Be<sup>2+</sup> from the surrounding media (Gorjala and Gary, 2010). The important question is what is the mechanism by which beryllium is transported into the cell.

It could be possible that the cellular machinery associated with  $Ca^{2+}$  or  $Mg^{2+}$  transport might be playing an important role in the intracellular transport of beryllium as well.

#### **Calcium ion:**

 $Ca^{2+}$  is a divalent metal cation that is involved in the regulation of different cellular functions and is also an important intracellular messenger (Carfoli, 2003; Petersen et al., 2005; Berridge, 2005). The intra cellular concentration of  $Ca^{2+}$  is approximately 100 nM whereas the extracellular concentration is around 2 mM (Clapham, 2007). The intracellular and extracellular concentrations of  $Ca^{2+}$  are very tightly regulated and the intra cellular  $Ca^{2+}$  ions are stored in the endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria and golgi complex (explained in Bootman, 2012). The  $Ca^{2+}$  homeostasis is maintained with the help of multiple transporters such as voltage gated channels,  $Na^+/Ca^{2+}$  exchanger (NCX), plasma membrane  $Ca^{2+}$  ATPase (PMCA),  $Na^+/Ca^{2+}$  - K+ exchanger (NCKX) and sarcoendoplasmic reticular  $Ca^{2+}$  ATPase (SERCA) (Clapham, 2007; Bootman, 2012).

The EF hand domain is the most common motif associated with the  $Ca^{2+}$  binding proteins (Nakayama and Kretsinger, 1994). Calmodulin is one of the most well studied  $Ca^{2+}$  binding proteins consisting of the EF hand motif (Stevens, 1983; Chin and means, 2000). Various proteins have calmodulin binding sites where it acts as an adaptor recruiting  $Ca^{2+}$  to the target proteins that lack the  $Ca^{2+}$  binding ability (Chin and Means, 2000).

Calmodulin is classified as a  $Ca^{2+}$  binding protein and it can be expected that its binding is fairly specific towards  $Ca^{2+}$ . It has been observed that calmodulin has auxillary binding sites for other divalent cations like  $Zn^{2+}$  and  $Mn^{2+}$  (Milos et al., 1989). However in an independent study by Ozawa et al it was reported that calmodulin can bind to cations with ionic radii larger than  $Ca^{2+}$ , such as  $Ba^{2+}$  and  $Pb^{2+}$  but not smaller ions like  $Mg^{2+}$ ,  $Zn^{2+}$  or  $Cu^{2+}$  (Ozawa et al., 1999). It might be possible that calmodulin binds to certain divalent cations like  $Be^{2+}$  apart from  $Ca^{2+}$  and that  $Be^{2+}$  might interfere with the functions of calmodulin.

Apart from calmodulin it could be possible that certain  $Ca^{2+}$  ion exchanger complex might be playing a potential role in the transport of  $Be^{2+}$  into the cells. It was observed that a  $Na^+/Ca^{2+}$ -Li exchanger (NCLX) called as FLJ22233 can transport Li<sup>+</sup> into the cells and affect  $Ca^{2+}$  efflux (Patly et al., 2004). Even though Li<sup>+</sup> is a monovalent cation it is being transported by a transporter associated with  $Ca^{2+}$ . It can be speculated that as in the case of Li<sup>+</sup>, 'ion exchangers' associated with  $Ca^{2+}$  transport could be involved in transport of  $Be^{2+}$ . Additionally it can be conjectured that there might be an unidentified 'ion exchanger' that could be involved in the transport of  $Be^{2+}$ .

#### Magnesium ion:

Magnesium is a divalent cation with ionic radii of 133 pm.  $Mg^{2+}$  is an important cofactor for various metabolically important enzymes and GSK-3 $\beta$  is one among them. The intracellular concentration of  $Mg^{2+}$  ions vary from 17 to 20 mM (Romani, 2007).  $Mg^{2+}$  plays an important role in the regulation of proteins and in maintaining the integrity of nucleic acids and phospholipids (Romani and Maguire, 2002).

There are different Mg<sup>2+</sup> ion transporters/channels associated with prokaryotes and prominent among them are the CorA super family consisting of CorA, ALR1/ALR2, Mrs2/AtMrs2, Lpe10 (Hmiel et al., 1986, 1989; Moomaw and Maguire, 2008). Another Mg<sup>2+</sup> transporter associated with prokaryotes is the Mgt family consisting of MgtA and MgtB (Smith et al., 1995, 1998; Snavely et al., 1991; Moomaw and Maguire, 2008).

Some of the Mg<sup>2+</sup> transporters of eukaryotic origin belong to the TRPM family consisting of TRPM6, TRPM7 (LTRPC7, TRP-PLIK) (Alexander et al., 2008; Chubanov et al., 2005; Schlingmann et al., 2002; Schmitz et al., 2002)

The CorA transporter is known to transport  $\text{Co}^{2+}$  and  $\text{Ni}^{2+}$  apart from  $\text{Mg}^{2+}$  ions (Gibson et al., 1991). However the  $\text{Mg}^{2+}$  ion transporters are quite selective towards  $\text{Mg}^{2+}$  ions, which are mostly hexacoordinated (Maguire and Cowan, 2002) and  $\text{Be}^{2+}$  ions on the other hand are tetra coordinated with solvent ligands (Pittet et al., 1990). It could be possible that the transporters associated with  $\text{Mg}^{2+}$  might selectively exclude the tertacoordinated  $\text{Be}^{2+}$  ions.

However the argument that  $Ca^{2+}$  and  $Mg^{2+}$  transporters could be involved in the transport of  $Be^{2+}$  is speculative and has to be supported with experimental evidence.

# Table 8. Ionic radii of metal ions

Atomic number	Name	Atomic radii (pm)	Ionic radii (pm)
3	Lithium	152	78
4	Beryllium	113	34
11	Sodium	186	98
12	Magnessium	160	79
19	Potassium	227	133
20	Calcium	197	106

(Data taken from John Emsley, The Elements, 3rd edition. Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1998)

# Supplementary Figure I

Individual immunoflorescence images corresponding to the Fig. 17a from Chapter 5.

NIH/3T3 control/untreated cells (arrows indicate nuclear β-catenin)



β-catenin



Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure Ia: Untreated NIH/3T3 cells

NIH/3T3 cells treated with 20 mM LiCl (profound nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin)



β-catenin



Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure Ib: NIH/3T3 cells treated with 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr.

NIH/3T3 cells treated with 20  $\mu$ M SB216763 (profound nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin)



β-catenin



Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure Ic: NIH/3T3 cells treated with 20  $\mu$ M SB216763 for 24 hr

NIH/3T3 cells treated with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> (minimal nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin)



Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure Id: NIH/3T3 cells treated with 100  $\mu M$  BeSO4 for 24 hr

# NIH/3T3 cells induced with 100 nM Insulin



Hoechst stain

Merged

**Supplementary figure Ie:** NIH/3T3 cells induced with 100 nM insulin for 30 – 60 min post serum starvation

# Supplementary figure II

Individual immunoflorescence images corresponding to the fig. 17b from Chapter 5.

A172 control/untreated cells (arrows indicate nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin)



Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure IIa: A172 cells untreated

A172 cells treated with 20 mM LiCl (arrows indicate profound nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin)



Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure IIb: A172 cells treated with 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr

A172 cells treated with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> (arrows indicate minimal nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin)



Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure IIc: A172 cells treated with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr

A172 cells treated with 20  $\mu$ M SB216763 (arrows indicate prominent nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin)





Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure IId: A172 cells treated with 20  $\mu M$  SB216763 for 24 hr

# Supplementary Figure III

Individual immunoflorescence images corresponding to the fig. 17c from Chapter 5.

# A172 P1B control/untreated cells (arrows indicate nuclear β-catenin)



Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure IIIa: A172 P1B cells untreated

A172 P1B cells treated with 20 mM LiCl (arrows indicate prominent nuclear localization of β-catenin)



β-catenin



Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure IIIb: A172 P1B cells treated with 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr

A172 P1B cells treated with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> (arrows indicate minimal nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin)



β-catenin



Hoechst stain

Merged

Supplementary figure IIIc: A172 P1B cells treated with 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr
#### **APPENDIX I**

#### Statistical analysis

### Table 9. In vitro kinase activity of purified recombinant GSK-3β

Inhibitor	Relative specific	P – value	Significantly different
	activity (GSK-3β)		(unpaired t-
Control	1.00		test)
Control	1.00	-	-
$0.3 \ \mu M \ Be^{2+}$	0.97	<i>P</i> >0.05	No
1 μM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.62	<i>P</i> < 0.005	Yes
$3 \mu M Be^{2+}$	0.47	<i>P</i> < 0.005	Yes
10 µM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.13	<i>P</i> < 0.0005	Yes
30 µM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.11	<i>P</i> < 0.0005	Yes
100 µM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.02	<i>P</i> < 0.0005	Yes
$300 \ \mu M \ Be^{2+}$	0.04	<i>P</i> < 0.0005	Yes
Control	1.00	-	-
1 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	0.91	<i>P</i> >0.05	No
3 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	0.75	<i>P</i> < 0.005	Yes
10 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	0.51	<i>P</i> < 0.05	Yes
30 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	0.23	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes
100 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	0.01	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes
300 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	-0.03	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes

**Table 9.** Two tailed unpaired t-test was used to compare the *in vitro* GSK-3 $\beta$  activity of the samples treated with inhibitors against their corresponding control. (Data from same experiment)

Inhibitor	Relative specific activity (PKA)	<i>P</i> – value	Significantly different (unpaired t-
Control	1.00	-	
0.3 µM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.67	P >0.05	No
1 μM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.63	<i>P</i> < 0.005	Yes
$3 \mu M Be^{2+}$	0.70	<i>P</i> < 0.05	Yes
10 µM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.69	<i>P</i> < 0.05	Yes
30 µM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.40	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes
100 µM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.32	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes
300 µM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.31	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes
Control	1.00	-	-
1 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	0.77	<i>P</i> < 0.05	Yes
3 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	0.88	<i>P</i> >0.05	No
10 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	0.85	<i>P</i> >0.05	No
30 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	099	<i>P</i> >0.05	No
100 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	0.73	<i>P</i> < 0.05	Yes
300 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	0.31	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes

Table 10. In vitro kinase activity of pure recombinant PKA

**Table 10**. Two tailed unpaired t-test was used to compare the *in vitro* PKA activity of the samples treated with inhibitors against their corresponding control. (Data from same experiment)

Inhibitor (H89)	Relative specific activity (GSK-3β)	P – value	Significantly different (unpaired t-	Relative specific activity ( <u>PKA</u> )	P – value	Significantly different (unpaired t-
			test)			test)
0 μΜ	1.00	-	-	1.00	-	-
0.1 μΜ	1.00	<i>P</i> >0.05	No	0.57	<i>P</i> < 0.0005	Yes
0.3 μΜ	1.03	<i>P</i> >0.05	No	0.32	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes
1 μM	0.99	<i>P</i> >0.05	No	0.125	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes
3 μΜ	0.99	<i>P</i> >0.05	No	0.05	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes
10 μM	0.94	<i>P</i> >0.05	No	0.01	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	Yes

Table 11 Validation of the z-lyte assay using PKA inhibitor H89

**Table 11**. Two tailed unpaired t-test was used to compare the *in vitro* PKA activity of the samples treated H89 against their corresponding control (data from same experiment). Two tailed unpaired t-test was used to compare the *in vitro* GSK-3 $\beta$  activity of the samples treated H89 against their corresponding control (data from same experiment).

Inhibitor	Relative	<i>P</i> – value	Significantly
	<b>TR-Fret</b>		different
	signal		
	(GSK-3β)		(unpaired-t test)
Control	1.000	-	-
10 μM Be <sup>2+</sup>	1.002	<i>P</i> >0.05	ns
30 μM Be <sup>2+</sup>	0.908	<i>P</i> >0.05	ns
100 µM Be <sup>2+</sup>	1.037	<i>P</i> >0.05	ns
Control	1.00	-	-
10 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	1.27	<i>P</i> >0.05	ns
20 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	1.54	<i>P</i> <0.05	significant
30 mM Li <sup>+</sup>	1.92	ns	ns

Table 12. TR-FRET assay to quantify the pSer9-GSK-3β signal

**Table 12**. Two tailed unpaired t-test was used to compare the TR-FRET signal of the inhibitors treated cells with their corresponding control cells (data from same experiment).

Treatment	Duration	Mean Fluorescence / nuclei (% of control +/- std dev)
control	24 hr	100 (+/- 5)
10 μM BeSO <sub>4</sub>	24 hr	110 (+/- 3)
30 µM BeSO <sub>4</sub>	24 hr	148 (+/- 5)
100 μM BeSO <sub>4</sub>	24 hr	151 (+/- 12)
10 mM LiCl	24 hr	150 (+/- 12)
20 mM LiCl	24 hr	188 (+/- 23)
30 mM LiCl	24 hr	180 (+/- 20)

## Table 13. Flow analysis of nuclear β-catenin in stable nuclei

**Table 13** Mean fluorescence values corresponding to the nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin. Stable nuclei isolated from A172 cells treated with inhibitors for 24 hr.

## Table 14. Flow analysis of nuclear p53 in stable nuclei

Treatment	Duration	Mean Fluorescence / nuclei (% of control +/- std dev)
control	24 hr	100 (+/- 3)
100 μM BeSO <sub>4</sub>	24 hr	124 (+/- 5)
20 mM LiCl	24 hr	148 (+/- 1)

**Table 14** Mean fluorescence values corresponding to the nuclear p53. Stable nuclei isolated from A172 cells treated with inhibitors for 24 hr.

#### Appendix II

# Physiologically relevant concentration of lithium is more cytotoxic to cells compared to beryllium at 24 hr

#### Introduction

The IC<sub>50</sub> value of lithium = 12 mM and the IC<sub>50</sub> value of beryllium is ~2  $\mu$ M. When A172 cells are cultured in BeSO<sub>4</sub> or LiCl at concentrations close to their IC<sub>50</sub> values, lithium was found to be more cytotoxic. As observed in the viability test, Li<sup>+</sup> at concentrations close to its IC<sub>50</sub> was more toxic to the viability of A172 cells (Fig. 4).

#### **Experiment 1**

A172 cells were cultured in the presence of  $BeSO_4$  and LiCl for 24, 48 or 72 hr. The effect of the inhibitors on the viability of the cells was analyzed using a live cell protease based fluorescence assay. The viability assay shows that  $Be^{2+}$  is less cytotoxic to A172 cells even at concentrations way higher than its  $IC_{50}$ .  $Be^{2+}$  at 100  $\mu$ M is fairly tolerated by A172 cells even for longer periods of time (Fig 1). There is no big difference in the number of dead cells between the control and beryllium samples. Li<sup>+</sup> treatment on the other hand seems to be causing an increase in cytotoxicity especially at 48 or 72 hr.



Fig. 1a Effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells cytotoxicity at 24 hr. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 20, 30, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 10, 20, 30, 100 mM LiCl for 24 hr. Cell cytotoxicity was assessed using a fluorogenic substrate that can be cleaved by a protease associated with dead cells only. Mean intensities (+/- std. dev) are reported here. Data was analyzed using one-way ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significant) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism trial version 6.0 for Mac OS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, www.graphpad.com was used. (ns = non significant, \* =  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\* =  $P \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ ).



Fig. 1b Effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells cytotoxicity at 48 hr. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 20, 30, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 10, 20, 30, 100 mM LiCl for 48 hr. Cell cytotoxicity was assessed using a fluorogenic substrate that can be cleaved by a protease associated with dead cells only. Mean intensities (+/- std. dev) are reported here. Data was analyzed using one-way ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significant) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism trial version 6.0 for Mac OS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, www.graphpad.com was used. (ns = non significant, \* =  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\* =  $P \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ ).



Fig. 1c Effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl treatment on cells cytotoxicity at 72 hr. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 20, 30, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 10, 20, 30, 100 mM LiCl for 72 hr. Cell cytotoxicity was assessed using a fluorogenic substrate that can be cleaved by a protease associated with dead cells only. Mean intensities (+/- std. dev) are reported here. Data was analyzed using one-way ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significant) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism trial version 6.0 for Mac OS X, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, www.graphpad.com was used. (ns = non significant, \* =  $P \le 0.05$ , \*\* =  $P \le 0.01$ , \*\*\* =  $P \le 0.001$ ).

#### **Experiment 2**

A172 cells were treated with  $BeSO_4$  or LiCl for 24 hr. Bright field images of the A172 cells were captured using Nikon Inverted Microscope Eclipse TE2000-U (dia-illuminator 100W). When treated with 10-100  $\mu$ M BesO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr no major morphological changes were observed in A172 cells (Fig 2.1). When A172 cells are cultured in the presence of LiCl for 24 hr a marked change in the morphological appearance of the cells was observed (Fig. 2.2).

#### Results

Images of the A172 cells cultured in the presence of  $BeSO_4$  for 24 hr, shows that LiCl is more toxic to cells compared to  $BeSO_4$  at concentrations similar to their IC<sub>50</sub> values. A172 cells seem to be tolerating LiCl at a concentration of 10 mM (Fig 2.2b). When the LiCl concentration was increased to 20 mM or 30 mM it induced high cytotoxicity in A172 cells (Fig. 2.2 c&d). LiCl at 100 mM concentration was extrememly toxic to A172 cells at 24 hr.

A

B

control

### 10 µM BeSO4

20 µM BeSO4







D

30 µM BeSO4

100 µM BeSO4

E



Fig 2.1Be<sup>2+</sup> doesn't produce any extreme morphological changes in A172 cells at 24 hr. A172 cells were cultured in the presence of 0, 10, 20, 30 or 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 24 hr.

control

B

10 mM LiCl

20 mM LiCl







D 30 mM LiCl



Е





**Fig 2.2 Li<sup>+</sup> treatment leads to extreme morphological changes in A172 cells at 24 hr**. A172 cells were cultured in the presence of 0, 10, 20, 30 or 100 mM LiCl for 24 hr.

#### **Appendix III**

# Quatitative analysis of Ser-9 phsophorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ in A172 cells cultured in the presence of BeSO<sub>4</sub> or LiCl at 48 hr

#### Introduction

 $Li^+$  caused an increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  in A172 cells at 24 hr. However Be<sup>2+</sup> did not induce any big change in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . Here we have analyzed the effect of BeSO<sub>4</sub> or LiCl on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  of A172 cells at 48 hr via flow cytometry.

#### Flow cytometry

Cells were treated with BeSO<sub>4</sub> and LiCl for 48 hr. After the treatment period, cells were collected by trypsinization, washed with PBS and fixed with 4% paraformal dehyde. Cells were then permeabilized with methanol. Cells were blocked with starting block TBS (prod#37543, Thermo Scientific), supplemented with Halt protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (Pierce cat#78442). Fixed and blocked cells were then incubated with pSer9-GSK-3 $\beta$  rabbit monoclonal antibody (clone D85E12, cat#5558, Cell Signaling Technology) over night at 4°C, followed by FITC conjugated goat anti-rabbit secondary antibody (cat#sc-2012, Santa Cruz Biotechnology) at 0.5 µg/1x10<sup>6</sup> cells. Cells were run on a BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer recording 20,000 events per sample, and FITC channel fluorescence intensity was analyzed using CellQuest Pro Software.

#### Results

At 48 hr beryllium did not induce any clear increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  (Fig. 1a). Lithium treatment at 48 hr caused a concentration dependent increase in the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ .

#### Conclusion

This study shows that even at longer exposure time i.e. 48 hr, beryllium has little effect on the Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$ .



Fig. 1a Flow cytometric analysis of the Be<sup>2+</sup> treatment effect on Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  at 48 hr. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 30, 100 BeSO<sub>4</sub> for 48 hr. The change in the pSer-9 status of GSK-3 $\beta$  was assessed using a pSer9-GSK3 $\beta$  primary antibody and FITC conjugated secondary antibody. Each flow cytometry histograms represents the mean fluorescence per cell value obtained from independent replicates for each inhibitor used at different concentrations.



Fig. 1b Flowcytometric analysis of the Li<sup>+</sup> treatment effect on Ser-9 phosphorylation of GSK-3 $\beta$  at 48 hr. A172 cells were treated with 0, 10, 20, 30 mM LiCl for 48 hr. The change in the pSer-9 status of GSK-3 $\beta$  was assessed using a pSer9-GSK3 $\beta$  primary antibody and FITC conjugated secondary antibody. Each flow cytometry histograms represents the mean fluorescence per cell value obtained from independent replicates for each inhibitor used at different concentrations.

#### Appendix IV

# Measuring beryllium induced up regulation of p53 expression using nuclei flow analysis

#### Introduction

To confirm that effect of  $BeSO_4$  on nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin, flow-analysis of nuclei isolated from A172 cells treated with  $BeSO_4$  or LiCl was used. Along with the  $\beta$ -catenin analysis, the p53 protein levels were also tested independently in the nuclei isolated from A172 cells treated with  $BeSO_4$  or LiCl. The aim of this experiment was to validate the fact that nuclei flow analysis method can be used to quantify protein expression.

#### Result

The flow analysis of nuclei isolated from A172 cells treated with  $BeSO_4$  or LiCl for 24 hr indicate an increase in p53 levels. Beryllium treatment caused an increase in the p53 protein levels in A172 and HFL cells (Gorjala and Gary, 2010; Mudireddy et al., 2014). The nuclei flowanalysis results confirm the beryllium induced upregulation of p53 expression.

#### Discussion

The flow analysis could be used to quantify the  $Be^{2+}$  induced upregulation of p53. The ability of the flow analysis technique to successfully detect the increase in the p53 level, validates it as a reliable quantitative method to detect the up regulation or down regulation of proteins.

#### BeSO4 caused an increase in the p53 levels



Fig. 1 Detection of increase in p53 level after beryllium treatment at 24 hr in A172 cells. A172 cells were treated with 0, 100  $\mu$ M BeSO<sub>4</sub> or 20 mM LiCl for 24 hr. Stable nuclei were extracted from the Be<sup>2+</sup> or Li<sup>+</sup> treated cells. The effect of Be<sup>2+</sup> or Li<sup>+</sup> on the nuclear localization of p53 was assessed using a mouse mono clonal p53 primary antibody and an Alexa647 – conjugated secondary antibody. For each treatment, mean fluorescence per cell was determined from independent replicates and representative peak for each treatment is shown here.

#### Appendix V

#### Validation of A172 cells over expressing wt GSK-3β, GSK-3β S9A and GSK-3β K85A

#### Introduction

Mammalian cells over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$  and its mutants can serve as valuable tools in our study to characterize beryllium as a potent GSK-3 $\beta$ -inhibitor. Over expression of GSK-3 $\beta$  in A172 cells will provide a system with abundant amont of substrate protein to analyze the effect of inhibitors. A172 cells were transfected with the addgene plasmid#14753 – HA GSK-3 $\beta$  wt pcDNA3, plasmid#14754 – HA GSK-3 $\beta$  S9A pcDNA3, plasmid#14755 – HA GSK-3 $\beta$  K85A pcDNA3 as explained in the materials and methods section.

#### Results

Fig. 1 The total cell lysates extracted from these clones along with proper controls were probed for the expression of "HA – tag" using a rabbit polyclonal anti HA antibody (Thermoscientific #CAB3872).

P1B, P1C, P1D = A172 clones over expressing wt GSK- $3\beta$ ,

P2A, P2B, P2C = A172 clones over expressing GSK-3 $\beta$  S9A mutant

#### P3A, P3B = A172 over expressing GSK-3β K85A mutant

The detection of HA band in the transfected A172 cells validates the success of transfection, since only A172 cells transfected with the addgene clones will be expressing the HA-tag.

#### Discussion

Fig. 1 Expression of HA-tag in the A172 cells transfected with the addgene clones is observed indicating a successful integration and expression of the addgene plasmids in the host cells. The clones demonstrating the maximum expression of the HA-tag were selected for further analysis. The selected clones are:

A172 clones over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$  – P1B

A172 clones over expressing GSK-3β S9A mutant – P2B

A172 over expressing GSK-3β K85A mutant – P3B

The P1B clone (A172 clones over expressing wt GSK-3 $\beta$ ) was used in the confocal imaging experiment to demonstrate the effect of beryllium on the nuclear localization of  $\beta$ -catenin.



**Fig. 1 Western analysis of A172 clones expression wt GSK-3** $\beta$  and its variants. Total cell lysates from the A172 clones expressing various variants of GSK-3 $\beta$  were assessed for the expression of the "HA – tag" using a rabbit polyclonal anti HA antibody. The "date label" refers to the day the samples were extracted. Untransfected A172 along with NIH/3T3 and Caki-1cells serve the purpose of negative controls.

#### **Appendix VI**

#### DRC analysis to investigate the effect of SB216763 on NIH/3T3, A172 and Caki-1 cells

#### Introduction

SB216763 is a strong GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor (Coughlan et al., 2000). To determine the concentration suited best for inducing optimum results in different cell lines a dose response curve experiment was done using A172, NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells.

#### Materials and methods

#### Cell culture media

RPMI 1640 HEPES (cat#23400-021, Gibco) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 1x antibiotic-mycotic was used for culturing B 35, C6, Caki-1, IMR 32 and SF539 cell lines. Only for NIH/3T3 cells, RPMI 1640 was supplemented with 10% bovine growth serum (BGS) instead of FBS.

#### Dose response curve - cell counting

Cells were cultured in 60 mm CELLSTAR cell culture dishes (cat#664 160) at 37  $^{\circ}$  using a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator. Cells were dosed with culture media supplemented with appropriate concentrations of BeSO<sub>4</sub> and the dosing day was counted as Day 0. On the Day 2 the cells were collected by trypsinization using 0.5 ml trypsin (0.05% Trypsin-EDTA). The cells were collected by adding 2.5 ml of RPMI (2.5 ml RPMI + 0.5 ml trypsin = total 3 ml cell suspension). Cells were counted using a cell counter and 0.5 ml of the total cell suspension from day 2 was added to a new 60 mm culture dish. The cells were allowed to grow till day 4 and were trypsinized again,

counted in a manner similar to day 3. 0.5 ml of cells from the total 3 ml cell suspension from day 4 was added to a new 60 mm dish. The process was repeated again on Day 6 with the exception that the cells were discarded instead of re seeding.

#### Data analysis

The day 2, day 4 and day 6 cell counts were fitted onto a plot using non-linear regression. The effect of  $BeSO_4$  on the different cell lines was represented as % of control on the y-axis and the log values of  $BeSO_4$  concentration on the x-axis. GraphPad Prism v6.0c (windows) was used for curve fitting.

#### Results

Caki-1 cells are the most sensitive to SB216763 compared to A172 and NIH/3T3. A concentration of 10-30  $\mu$ M seems to be tolerated well by A172 and NIH/3T3 cells. Caki-1 cells are sensitive to SB216763 and seem to be tolerating a concentration of 10-20  $\mu$ M.



Fig. 1 Dose response curve of A172, NIH/3T3 and Caki-1 cells for SB216763. Caki-1, A172 and NIH/3T3 cells were cultured in the absence or presence of 1, 5, 10, 10 0r 100  $\mu$ M SB216763 for 24 hr.

## Appendix VII





		Band	
		Intensity	
		background	
Band	Treatment	substracted	% of control
1	20 μM SB216763 1	10600	23.55555556
2	20 μM SB216763 2	10700	23.77777778
	100 nM Insulin 60 min		
3	1	36200	80.4444444
	100 nM Insulin 60 min		
4	2	39500	87.7777778
	100 nM Insulin 30 min		
5	1	40700	90.4444444
	100 nM Insulin 30 min		
6	2	52500	116.6666667
	100 nM Insulin 15 min		
7	1	38100	84.66666667
	100 nM Insulin 15 min		
8	2	36100	80.22222222
9	20 mM LiCl 1	19500	43.33333333
10	20 mM LiCl 2	19800	44
11	100 µM BeSO4 1	28000	62.22222222
12	100 μM BeSO4 2	27800	61.7777778
13	30 µM BeSO4 1	39300	87.33333333
14	30 μM BeSO4 2	34400	76.4444444
15	20 mM KCL 1	48200	107.1111111
16	20 mM KCL 2	50200	111.5555556
17	Control 1	42000	93.33333333
18	Control 2	48000	106.6666667

Appendix VIII

Quantification of pGS bands from fig 16





r			
		Band	
		intensities	
		background	% of
Band	Treatment	substracted	controls
1	20 mM KCL 1	27000	116.63067
2	Control 1	23200	100.215983
3	30 uM Be 1	15200	65.6587473
4	100 uM Be 2	13500	58.3153348
5	20 mM Li 1	25300	109.287257
6	100 nM Insulin 1	13100	56.587473
7	SB216763 1	10500	45.3563715
8	10 uM Rott 1	23200	100.215983
9	100 uM CaCl2 1	30700	132.613391
		Band	
		intensities	
		background	% of
Band	Treatment	substracted	controls
10	20 mM KCL 2	25200	108.855292
11	Control 2	23100	99.7840173
12	30 uM Be 2	14100	60.9071274
13	100 uM Be 2	11900	51.4038877
14	20 mM Li 2	18600	80.3455724
15	100 nM Insulin 2	19100	82.5053996
16	SB216763 2	11300	48.812095
17	10 uM Rott 2	24500	105.831533
18	100 uM CaCl2 2	18600	80.3455724

## Appendix IX

## Expression of glycogen synthase isoforms in NIH/3T3 cells

pGS antibody from AbCam– tested on NIH/3	T3 samples
Product Datasheet	
kDa 1 2 250- 150- 100- 75- 50- 37- 25- 20-	All lanes : Anti-Glycogen synthase 1 (phospho S645) antibody (ab195743) at 1/500 dilution Lane 1 : PMAtreated NIH 3T3 whole cell lysate with antigen-specific peptide Lane 2 : PMAtreated NIH 3T3 whole cell lysate Lysates/proteins at 12.5 µg per lane.
Vestern blot - Anti-Glycogen synthase 1 (phospho S645) antibody (ab195743)	Predicted band size : 84 kDa



#### Appendix X

#### Validation of FRET-based kinase assay

To validate the FRET-based kinase assay, purified recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  and purified recombinant PKA (protein kinase A) proteins were treated with H-89. The aim of this experiment was to demonstrate that the FRET-based kinase assay is a robust technique and is inherently competent to exclude false positives. H-89 is a specific PKA inhibitor (Marunaka et al., 2003) and it should not have any effect on the kinase activity of the purified GSK-3 $\beta$  protein. As observed in (Fig. 2c) H-89 treatment has no effect on the kinase activity of GSK-3 $\beta$ , whereas it leads to a decrease in the activity of PKA enzyme only.



Fig 1. H-89 inhibits the in vitro kinase activity of PKA but not GSK-3 $\beta$ . Pure recombinant GSK-3 $\beta$  (*filled bars*) and PKA (*pattern bars*) proteins were used in the FRET-based kinase assay and the enzyme activity was measured in the absence (control) or in the presence of 0.1, 0.3, 1, 3 or 10  $\mu$ M H-89. Activity is expressed as the rate of formation of phosphorylated peptide substrate (mean +/- SD). Data was analyzed using one-way ANOVA (P < 0.05 considered significant compared to control) by Tukey's multiple comparison test. GraphPad Prism version 5.0 for windows, GraphPad Software, La Jolla California USA, <u>www.graphpad.com</u> was used. (ns = non significant compared to control,  $* = P \le 0.05$ ,  $** = P \le 0.01$ ,  $*** = P \le 0.001$ ,  $**** = P \le 0.001$ ).

#### REFERENCES

- Aberle, H., Bauer, A., Stappert, J., Kispert, A., & Kemler, R. (1997). Beta-catenin is a target for the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. *The EMBO Journal*, 16(13), 3797-3804. doi:10.1093/emboj/16.13.3797 [doi]
- Absher, M., Sylwester, D., & Hart, B. A. (1983). Time-lapse cinematographic analysis of beryllium-lung fibroblast interactions. *Environmental Research*, 30(1), 34-43.
- Aguirre, V., Werner, E. D., Giraud, J., Lee, Y. H., Shoelson, S. E., & White, M. F. (2002). Phosphorylation of Ser307 in insulin receptor substrate-1 blocks interactions with the insulin receptor and inhibits insulin action. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(2), 1531-1537. doi:10.1074/jbc.M101521200 [doi]
- Aitken, A., Holmes, C. F., Campbell, D. G., Resink, T. J., Cohen, P., Leung, C. T., & Williams, D. H. (1984). Amino acid sequence at the site on protein phosphatase inhibitor-2, phosphorylated by glycogen synthase kinase-3. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, 790(3), 288-291. doi:0167-4838(84)90034-7 [pii]
- Alexander, R. T., Hoenderop, J. G., & Bindels, R. J. (2008). Molecular determinants of magnesium homeostasis: Insights from human disease. *Journal of the American Society of Nephrology : JASN, 19*(8), 1451-1458. doi:10.1681/ASN.2008010098 [doi]
- Alexandre, C., Jacinto, A., & Ingham, P. W. (1996). Transcriptional activation of hedgehog target genes in drosophila is mediated directly by the cubitus interruptus protein, a member of the GLI family of zinc finger DNA-binding proteins. *Genes & Development*, 10(16), 2003-2013.
- Ali, A., Hoeflich, K. P., & Woodgett, J. R. (2001). Glycogen synthase kinase-3: Properties, functions, and regulation. *Chemical Reviews*, 101(8), 2527-2540. doi:cr0001100 [pii]
- Ali, S. H., & DeCaprio, J. A. (2001). Cellular transformation by SV40 large T antigen: Interaction with host proteins. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 11(1), 15-23. doi:10.1006/scbi.2000.0342 [doi]
- Armstrong, J. L., Bonavaud, S. M., Toole, B. J., & Yeaman, S. J. (2001). Regulation of glycogen synthesis by amino acids in cultured human muscle cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(2), 952-956. doi:10.1074/jbc.M004812200 [doi]
- Asai, A., Miyagi, Y., Sugiyama, A., Gamanuma, M., Hong, S. I., Takamoto, S., . . . Kuchino, Y. (1994). Negative effects of wild-type p53 and s-myc on cellular growth and tumorigenicity of glioma cells. *Journal of Neuro-Oncology*, 19(3), 259-268.
- Aschenbach, W. G., Suzuki, Y., Breeden, K., Prats, C., Hirshman, M. F., Dufresne, S. D., ... DePaoli-Roach, A. A. (2001). The muscle-specific protein phosphatase PP1G/R(GL)(G(M))is essential for activation of glycogen synthase by exercise. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(43), 39959-39967. doi:10.1074/jbc.M105518200 [doi]

- Atkins, R. J., Dimou, J., Paradiso, L., Morokoff, A. P., Kaye, A. H., Drummond, K. J., & Hovens, C. M. (2012). Regulation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta (GSK-3beta) by the akt pathway in gliomas. *Journal of Clinical Neuroscience : Official Journal of the Neurosurgical Society of Australasia*, 19(11), 1558-1563. doi:10.1016/j.jocn.2012.07.002 [doi]
- Avila, J., Lucas, J. J., Perez, M., & Hernandez, F. (2004). Role of tau protein in both physiological and pathological conditions. *Physiological Reviews*, 84(2), 361-384. doi:10.1152/physrev.00024.2003 [doi]
- Aza-Blanc, P., Ramirez-Weber, F. A., Laget, M. P., Schwartz, C., & Kornberg, T. B. (1997). Proteolysis that is inhibited by hedgehog targets cubitus interruptus protein to the nucleus and converts it to a repressor. *Cell*, 89(7), 1043-1053. doi:S0092-8674(00)80292-5 [pii]
- Ballou, L. M., Tian, P. Y., Lin, H. Y., Jiang, Y. P., & Lin, R. Z. (2001). Dual regulation of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta by the alpha1A-adrenergic receptor. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(44), 40910-40916. doi:10.1074/jbc.M103480200 [doi]
- Behrens, J., Jerchow, B. A., Wurtele, M., Grimm, J., Asbrand, C., Wirtz, R., . . . Birchmeier, W. (1998). Functional interaction of an axin homolog, conductin, with beta-catenin, APC, and GSK3beta. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 280*(5363), 596-599.
- Behrens, J., von Kries, J. P., Kuhl, M., Bruhn, L., Wedlich, D., Grosschedl, R., & Birchmeier, W. (1996). Functional interaction of beta-catenin with the transcription factor LEF-1. *Nature*, 382(6592), 638-642. doi:10.1038/382638a0 [doi]
- Berridge, M. J. (2005). Unlocking the secrets of cell signaling. Annu. Rev. Physiol., 67, 1-21.
- Bijur, G. N., & Jope, R. S. (2003). Glycogen synthase kinase-3β is highly activated in nuclei and mitochondria. *Neuroreport*, *14*(18), 2415-2419.
- Bilic, J., Huang, Y. L., Davidson, G., Zimmermann, T., Cruciat, C. M., Bienz, M., & Niehrs, C. (2007). Wnt induces LRP6 signalosomes and promotes dishevelled-dependent LRP6 phosphorylation. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 316(5831), 1619-1622. doi:316/5831/1619 [pii]
- Bootman, M. D. (2012). Calcium signaling. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 4(7), a011171. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a011171 [doi]
- Bos, C. L., Diks, S. H., Hardwick, J. C., Walburg, K. V., Peppelenbosch, M. P., & Richel, D. J. (2006). Protein phosphatase 2A is required for mesalazine-dependent inhibition of Wnt/betacatenin pathway activity. *Carcinogenesis*, 27(12), 2371-2382. doi:bgl071 [pii]
- Bosch, F., Gomez-Foix, A. M., Arino, J., & Guinovart, J. J. (1986). Effects of lithium ions on glycogen synthase and phosphorylase in rat hepatocytes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 261(36), 16927-16931.
- Bossenmaier, B., Strack, V., Stoyanov, B., Krutzfeldt, J., Beck, A., Lehmann, R., . . . Haring, H. U. (2000). Serine residues 1177/78/82 of the insulin receptor are required for substrate phosphorylation but not autophosphorylation. *Diabetes*, 49(6), 889-895.
- Boyle, W. J., Smeal, T., Defize, L. H., Angel, P., Woodgett, J. R., Karin, M., & Hunter, T. (1991). Activation of protein kinase C decreases phosphorylation of c-jun at sites that negatively regulate its DNA-binding activity. *Cell*, 64(3), 573-584.
- Boyle, W. J., Smeal, T., Defize, L. H., Angel, P., Woodgett, J. R., Karin, M., & Hunter, T. (1991). Activation of protein kinase C decreases phosphorylation of c-jun at sites that negatively regulate its DNA-binding activity. *Cell*, 64(3), 573-584. doi:0092-8674(91)90241-P [pii]
- Brabletz, T., Jung, A., Dag, S., Hlubek, F., & Kirchner, T. (1999). β-Catenin regulates the expression of the matrix metalloproteinase-7 in human colorectal cancer. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 155(4), 1033-1038.
- Brady, M. J., Bourbonais, F. J., & Saltiel, A. R. (1998). The activation of glycogen synthase by insulin switches from kinase inhibition to phosphatase activation during adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(23), 14063-14066.
- Brantjes, H., Barker, N., van Es, J., & Clevers, H. (2002). TCF: Lady justice casting the final verdict on the outcome of wnt signalling. *Biological Chemistry*, 383(2), 255-261. doi:10.1515/BC.2002.027 [doi]
- Briscoe, J., & Thérond, P. P. (2013). The mechanisms of hedgehog signalling and its roles in development and disease. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 14(7), 416-429.
- Browner, M. F., Nakano, K., Bang, A. G., & Fletterick, R. J. (1989). Human muscle glycogen synthase cDNA sequence: A negatively charged protein with an asymmetric charge distribution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 86(5), 1443-1447.
- Cagatay, T., & Ozturk, M. (2002). P53 mutation as a source of aberrant beta-catenin accumulation in cancer cells. *Oncogene*, 21(52), 7971-7980. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1205919 [doi]
- Carafoli, E. (2003). The calcium-signalling saga: Tap water and protein crystals. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 4(4), 326-332.
- Chalecka-Franaszek, E., & Chuang, D. M. (1999). Lithium activates the serine/threonine kinase akt-1 and suppresses glutamate-induced inhibition of akt-1 activity in neurons. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(15), 8745-8750.
- Chen, C. L., Lin, C. F., Chiang, C. W., Jan, M. S., & Lin, Y. S. (2006). Lithium inhibits ceramide- and etoposide-induced protein phosphatase 2A methylation, bcl-2 dephosphorylation, caspase-2 activation, and apoptosis. *Molecular Pharmacology*, 70(2), 510-517. doi:mol.106.024059 [pii]
- Chen, X., McMahon, E. G., & Gulve, E. A. (1998). Stimulatory effect of lithium on glucose transport in rat adipocytes is not mediated by elevation of IP1. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 275(2 Pt 1), E272-7.

- Cheng, H., Liang, H., Qin, Y., & Liu, Y. (2011). Nuclear beta-catenin overexpression in metastatic sentinel lymph node is associated with synchronous liver metastasis in colorectal cancer. *Diagnostic Pathology*, 6, 109-1596-6-109. doi:10.1186/1746-1596-6-109 [doi]
- Cheng, K., Creacy, S., & Larner, J. (1983). 'Insulin-like' effects of lithium ion on isolated rat adipocytes. I. stimulation of glycogenesis beyond glucose transport. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 56(2), 177-182.
- Chevremont, M., & Firket, H. (1951). Action of beryllium on cells cultivated in vitro; effect on mitosis. *Nature*, 167, 772.
- Choi, W. S., & Sung, C. K. (2000). Effects of lithium and insulin on glycogen synthesis in L6 myocytes: Additive effects on inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase-3. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, 1475(3), 225-230. doi:S0304-4165(00)00068-4 [pii]
- Chu, B., Soncin, F., Price, B. D., Stevenson, M. A., & Calderwood, S. K. (1996). Sequential phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase and glycogen synthase kinase 3 represses transcriptional activation by heat shock factor-1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(48), 30847-30857.
- Chubanov, V., Gudermann, T., & Schlingmann, K. P. (2005). Essential role for TRPM6 in epithelial magnesium transport and body magnesium homeostasis. *Pflügers Archiv*, 451(1), 228-234.
- Coates, S. S., Lehnert, B. E., Sharma, S., Kindell, S. M., & Gary, R. K. (2007). Beryllium induces premature senescence in human fibroblasts. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, *322*(1), 70-79. doi:jpet.106.118018 [pii]
- Coghlan, M. P., Culbert, A. A., Cross, D. A., Corcoran, S. L., Yates, J. W., Pearce, N. J., ... Holder, J. C. (2000). Selective small molecule inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3 modulate glycogen metabolism and gene transcription. *Chemistry & Biology*, 7(10), 793-803. doi:S1074-5521(00)00025-9 [pii]
- Cohen, P., & Frame, S. (2001). The renaissance of GSK3. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 2(10), 769-776.
- Cook, D., Fry, M. J., Hughes, K., Sumathipala, R., Woodgett, J. R., & Dale, T. C. (1996). Wingless inactivates glycogen synthase kinase-3 via an intracellular signalling pathway which involves a protein kinase C. *The EMBO Journal*, 15(17), 4526-4536.
- Craig, J. W., & Larner, J. (1964). Influence of epinephrine and insulin on uridine diphosphate glucose-α-glucan transferase and phosphorylase in muscle.
- Crook, T., Tidy, J. A., & Vousden, K. H. (1991). Degradation of p53 can be targeted by HPV E6 sequences distinct from those required for p53 binding and trans-activation. *Cell*, 67(3), 547-556. doi:0092-8674(91)90529-8 [pii]
- Cross, D., Alessi, D. R., Vandenheede, J., McDowell, H., Hundal, H., & Cohen, P. (1994). The inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin or insulin-like growth factor 1 in the rat

skeletal muscle cell line L6 is blocked by wortmannin, but not by rapamycin: Evidence that wortmannin blocks activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway in L6 cells between ras and raf. *Biochem.j*, 303, 21-26.

- Cross, D. A., Culbert, A. A., Chalmers, K. A., Facci, L., Skaper, S. D., & Reith, A. D. (2001). Selective small-molecule inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity protect primary neurones from death. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 77(1), 94-102.
- Cross, D. A., Alessi, D. R., Cohen, P., Andjelkovich, M., & Hemmings, B. A. (1995). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. *Nature*, 378(6559), 785-789. doi:10.1038/378785a0 [doi]
- Cross, D. A., Culbert, A. A., Chalmers, K. A., Facci, L., Skaper, S. D., & Reith, A. D. (2001). Selective small-molecule inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity protect primary neurones from death. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 77(1), 94-102.
- Cross, D. A., Watt, P. W., Shaw, M., van der Kaay, J., Downes, C. P., Holder, J. C., & Cohen, P. (1997). Insulin activates protein kinase B, inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3 and activates glycogen synthase by rapamycin-insensitive pathways in skeletal muscle and adipose tissue. *FEBS Letters*, 406(1-2), 211-215. doi:S0014579397002408 [pii]
- Cummings, K. J., Stefaniak, A. B., Virji, M. A., & Kreiss, K. (2009). A reconsideration of acute beryllium disease. *Environ Health Perspect*, 117(8), 1250-1256.
- Curtis, G. H. (1951). Cutaneous hypersensitivity due to beryllium; a study of thirteen cases. *A.M.A.Archives of Dermatology and Syphilology*, 64(4), 470-482.
- Dajani, R., Fraser, E., Roe, S. M., Young, N., Good, V., Dale, T. C., & Pearl, L. H. (2001). Crystal structure of glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta: Structural basis for phosphate-primed substrate specificity and autoinhibition. *Cell*, 105(6), 721-732. doi:S0092-8674(01)00374-9 [pii]
- Dale, T. C. (1998). Signal transduction by the wnt family of ligands. *The Biochemical Journal*, 329 (*Pt 2*)(Pt 2), 209-223.
- Damalas, A., Ben-Ze'ev, A., Simcha, I., Shtutman, M., Leal, J. F., Zhurinsky, J., . . . Oren, M. (1999). Excess beta-catenin promotes accumulation of transcriptionally active p53. *The EMBO Journal*, *18*(11), 3054-3063. doi:10.1093/emboj/18.11.3054 [doi]
- de Laeter, J. R., Böhlke, J. K., De Bièvre, P., Hidaka, H., Peiser, H., Rosman, K., & Taylor, P. (2003). Atomic weights of the elements. review 2000 (IUPAC technical report). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 75(6), 683-800.
- De Sarno, P., Li, X., & Jope, R. S. (2002). Regulation of akt and glycogen synthase kinase-3β phosphorylation by sodium valproate and lithium. *Neuropharmacology*, *43*(7), 1158-1164.
- Dent, P., Campbell, D. G., Hubbard, M. J., & Cohen, P. (1989). Multisite phosphorylation of the glycogen-binding subunit of protein phosphatase-1G by cyclic AMP-dependent protein

kinase and glycogen synthase kinase-3. *FEBS Letters*, 248(1-2), 67-72. doi:0014-5793(89)80433-8 [pii]

- DePaoli-Roach, A. A. (1984). Synergistic phosphorylation and activation of ATP-mg-dependent phosphoprotein phosphatase by F A/GSK-3 and casein kinase II (PC0.7). *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 259(19), 12144-12152.
- Desbois-Mouthon, C., Cadoret, A., Blivet-Van Eggelpoel, M. J., Bertrand, F., Cherqui, G., Perret, C., & Capeau, J. (2001). Insulin and IGF-1 stimulate the beta-catenin pathway through two signalling cascades involving GSK-3beta inhibition and ras activation. *Oncogene*, 20(2), 252-259. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1204064 [doi]
- Diehl, J. A., Cheng, M., Roussel, M. F., & Sherr, C. J. (1998). Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates cyclin D1 proteolysis and subcellular localization. *Genes & Development*, 12(22), 3499-3511.
- Ding, V. W., Chen, R. H., & McCormick, F. (2000). Differential regulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta by insulin and wnt signaling. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(42), 32475-32481. doi:10.1074/jbc.M005342200 [doi]
- Doble, B. W., & Woodgett, J. R. (2003). GSK-3: Tricks of the trade for a multi-tasking kinase. *Journal of Cell Science*, 116(Pt 7), 1175-1186.
- Dokken, B. B., Sloniger, J. A., & Henriksen, E. J. (2005). Acute selective glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibition enhances insulin signaling in prediabetic insulin-resistant rat skeletal muscle. *American Journal of Physiology.Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 288(6), E1188-94. doi:00547.2004 [pii]
- Eisenbud, M. (1955). Health hazards from beryllium. *The Metal Beryllium.Cleveland, OH: American Society of Metals,* , 1-20.
- Eldar-Finkelman, H., Argast, G. M., Foord, O., Fischer, E. H., & Krebs, E. G. (1996). Expression and characterization of glycogen synthase kinase-3 mutants and their effect on glycogen synthase activity in intact cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 93(19), 10228-10233.
- Eldar-Finkelman, H., & Krebs, E. G. (1997). Phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate 1 by glycogen synthase kinase 3 impairs insulin action. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(18), 9660-9664.
- Eldar-Finkelman, H., Schreyer, S. A., Shinohara, M. M., LeBoeuf, R. C., & Krebs, E. G. (1999). Increased glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity in diabetes- and obesity-prone C57BL/6J mice. *Diabetes*, 48(8), 1662-1666.
- Embi, N., Rylatt, D. B., & Cohen, P. (1980). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 from rabbit skeletal muscle. separation from cyclic-AMP-dependent protein kinase and phosphorylase kinase. *European Journal of Biochemistry / FEBS, 107*(2), 519-527.

- Fang, X., Yu, S., Tanyi, J. L., Lu, Y., Woodgett, J. R., & Mills, G. B. (2002). Convergence of multiple signaling cascades at glycogen synthase kinase 3: Edg receptor-mediated phosphorylation and inactivation by lysophosphatidic acid through a protein kinase Cdependent intracellular pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(7), 2099-2110.
- Fang, X., Yu, S. X., Lu, Y., Bast, R. C., Jr, Woodgett, J. R., & Mills, G. B. (2000). Phosphorylation and inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 by protein kinase A. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 97(22), 11960-11965. doi:10.1073/pnas.220413597 [doi]
- Farkas, I., Hardy, T. A., Goebl, M. G., & Roach, P. J. (1991). Two glycogen synthase isoforms in saccharomyces cerevisiae are coded by distinct genes that are differentially controlled. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(24), 15602-15607.
- Farr, G. H., 3rd, Ferkey, D. M., Yost, C., Pierce, S. B., Weaver, C., & Kimelman, D. (2000). Interaction among GSK-3, GBP, axin, and APC in xenopus axis specification. *The Journal* of Cell Biology, 148(4), 691-702.
- Ferrarese, A., Marin, O., Bustos, V. H., Venerando, A., Antonelli, M., Allende, J. E., & Pinna, L. A. (2007). Chemical dissection of the APC repeat 3 multistep phosphorylation by the concerted action of protein kinases CK1 and GSK3. *Biochemistry*, 46(42), 11902-11910. doi:10.1021/bi701674z [doi]
- Finch, G., Nikula, K., & Hoover, M. (1998). Dose-response relationships between inhaled beryllium metal and lung toxicity in C3H mice. *Toxicological Sciences*, 42(1), 36-48.
- Fiol, C. J., Mahrenholz, A. M., Wang, Y., Roeske, R. W., & Roach, P. J. (1987). Formation of protein kinase recognition sites by covalent modification of the substrate. molecular mechanism for the synergistic action of casein kinase II and glycogen synthase kinase 3. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 262(29), 14042-14048.
- Forbes, S. A., Bindal, N., Bamford, S., Cole, C., Kok, C. Y., Beare, D., . . . Futreal, P. A. (2011). COSMIC: Mining complete cancer genomes in the catalogue of somatic mutations in cancer. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 39(Database issue), D945-50. doi:10.1093/nar/gkq929 [doi]
- Forde, J. a., & Dale, T. (2007). Glycogen synthase kinase 3: A key regulator of cellular fate. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 64(15), 1930-1944.
- Frame, S., & Cohen, P. (2001). GSK3 takes centre stage more than 20 years after its discovery. *The Biochemical Journal, 359*(Pt 1), 1-16.
- Frame, S., Cohen, P., & Biondi, R. M. (2001). A common phosphate binding site explains the unique substrate specificity of GSK3 and its inactivation by phosphorylation. *Molecular Cell*, 7(6), 1321-1327. doi:S1097-2765(01)00253-2 [pii]
- Friedman, D. L., & Larner, J. (1963). Studies on UDPG- $\alpha$ -glucan transglucosylase. III. interconversion of two forms of muscle UDPG- $\alpha$ -glucan transglucosylase by a phosphorylation-dephosphorylation reaction sequence\*. *Biochemistry*, 2(4), 669-675.

- Furnsinn, C., Noe, C., Herdlicka, R., Roden, M., Nowotny, P., Leighton, B., & Waldhausl, W. (1997). More marked stimulation by lithium than insulin of the glycogenic pathway in rat skeletal muscle. *The American Journal of Physiology*, 273(3 Pt 1), E514-20.
- García-Pérez, J., Avila, J., & Díaz-Nido, J. (1998). Implication of cyclin-dependent kinases and glycogen synthase kinase 3 in the phosphorylation of microtubule-associated protein 1B in developing neuronal cells. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*, *52*(4), 445-452.
- Gibson, M., Bagga, D., Miller, C., & Maguire, M. (1991). Magnesium transport in salmonella typhimurium: The influence of new mutations conferring Co2 resistance on the CorA Mg2 transport system. *Molecular Microbiology*, *5*(11), 2753-2762.
- Gordon, T., & Bowser, D. (2003). Beryllium: Genotoxicity and carcinogenicity. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 533(1), 99-105.
- Gorjala, P., & Gary, R. K. (2010). Beryllium sulfate induces p21 CDKN1A expression and a senescence-like cell cycle arrest in susceptible cancer cell types. *Biometals : An International Journal on the Role of Metal Ions in Biology, Biochemistry, and Medicine,* 23(6), 1061-1073. doi:10.1007/s10534-010-9352-y [doi]
- Grimes, C. A., & Jope, R. S. (2001). The multifaceted roles of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta in cellular signaling. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 65(4), 391-426. doi:S0301-0082(01)00011-9 [pii]
- Grunberger, G., Lowe, W. L., Jr, McElduff, A., & Glick, R. P. (1986). Insulin receptor of human cerebral gliomas. structure and function. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 77(3), 997-1005. doi:10.1172/JCI112402 [doi]
- Gschwendt, M., Muller, H. J., Kielbassa, K., Zang, R., Kittstein, W., Rincke, G., & Marks, F. (1994). Rottlerin, a novel protein kinase inhibitor. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 199(1), 93-98. doi:S0006-291X(84)71199-5 [pii]
- Gurvich, N., & Klein, P. S. (2002). Lithium and valproic acid: Parallels and contrasts in diverse signaling contexts. *Pharmacology & Therapeutics*, 96(1), 45-66. doi:S0163725802002991 [pii]
- Hagen, T., Di Daniel, E., Culbert, A. A., & Reith, A. D. (2002). Expression and characterization of GSK-3 mutants and their effect on beta-catenin phosphorylation in intact cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(26), 23330-23335. doi:10.1074/jbc.M201364200 [doi]
- Haley, P. J., Finch, G. L., Hoover, M. D., & Cuddihy, R. G. (1990). The acute toxicity of inhaled beryllium metal in rats. *Toxicological Sciences*, 15(4), 767-778.
- Hammond, C. (2000). The elements. Handbook of Chemistry and Physics, 81
- Hanger, D. P., Hughes, K., Woodgett, J. R., Brion, J., & Anderton, B. H. (1992). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 induces alzheimer's disease-like phosphorylation of tau: Generation of paired helical filament epitopes and neuronal localisation of the kinase. *Neuroscience Letters*, 147(1), 58-62.

- Happel, N., Stoldt, S., Schmidt, B., & Doenecke, D. (2009). M phase-specific phosphorylation of histone H1.5 at threonine 10 by GSK-3. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 386(2), 339-350. doi:10.1016/j.jmb.2008.12.047 [doi]
- Hart, M. J., de los Santos, R., Albert, I. N., Rubinfeld, B., & Polakis, P. (1998). Downregulation of beta-catenin by human axin and its association with the APC tumor suppressor, betacatenin and GSK3 beta. *Current Biology : CB*, 8(10), 573-581. doi:S0960-9822(98)70226-X [pii]
- Hedgepeth, C. M., Conrad, L. J., Zhang, J., Huang, H. C., Lee, V. M., & Klein, P. S. (1997). Activation of the wnt signaling pathway: A molecular mechanism for lithium action. *Developmental Biology*, 185(1), 82-91. doi:10.1006/dbio.1997.8552 [doi]
- Hedgepeth, C. M., Deardorff, M. A., Rankin, K., & Klein, P. S. (1999). Regulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta and downstream wnt signaling by axin. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 19(10), 7147-7157.
- Henriksen, E. J., & Dokken, B. B. (2006). Role of glycogen synthase kinase-3 in insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. *Current Drug Targets*, 7(11), 1435-1441.
- Henriksson, M., Bakardjiev, A., Klein, G., & Luscher, B. (1993). Phosphorylation sites mapping in the N-terminal domain of c-myc modulate its transforming potential. *Oncogene*, 8(12), 3199-3209.
- Herencia, C., Martinez-Moreno, J. M., Herrera, C., Corrales, F., Santiago-Mora, R., Espejo, I., . . . Munoz-Castaneda, J. R. (2012). Nuclear translocation of beta-catenin during mesenchymal stem cells differentiation into hepatocytes is associated with a tumoral phenotype. *PloS One*, 7(4), e34656. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034656 [doi]
- Hmiel, S. P., Snavely, M. D., Florer, J. B., Maguire, M. E., & Miller, C. G. (1989). Magnesium transport in salmonella typhimurium: Genetic characterization and cloning of three magnesium transport loci. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 171(9), 4742-4751.
- Hmiel, S. P., Snavely, M. D., Miller, C. G., & Maguire, M. E. (1986). Magnesium transport in salmonella typhimurium: Characterization of magnesium influx and cloning of a transport gene. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 168(3), 1444-1450.
- Hoeflich, K. P., Luo, J., Rubie, E. A., Tsao, M. S., Jin, O., & Woodgett, J. R. (2000). Requirement for glycogen synthase kinase-3beta in cell survival and NF-kappaB activation. *Nature*, 406(6791), 86-90. doi:10.1038/35017574 [doi]
- Hollins, D., McKinley, M., Williams, C., Wiman, A., Fillos, D., Chapman, P., & Madl, A. (2009). Beryllium and lung cancer: A weight of evidence evaluation of the toxicological and epidemiological literature. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, 39(S1), 1-32.
- Hooper, C., Killick, R., & Lovestone, S. (2008). The GSK3 hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 104(6), 1433-1439.

- Hou, J., Li, E. M., Shen, J. H., Qing-Zhao, Wu, Z. Y., Xu, X. E., . . . Xu, L. Y. (2011). Cytoplasmic HDPR1 is involved in regional lymph node metastasis and tumor development via beta-catenin accumulation in esophageal squamous cell carcinoma. *The Journal of Histochemistry and Cytochemistry : Official Journal of the Histochemistry Society, 59*(7), 711-718. doi:10.1369/0022155411409941 [doi]
- Hsu, W., Zeng, L., & Costantini, F. (1999). Identification of a domain of axin that binds to the serine/threonine protein phosphatase 2A and a self-binding domain. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(6), 3439-3445.
- Huber, O., Korn, R., McLaughlin, J., Ohsugi, M., Herrmann, B. G., & Kemler, R. (1996). Nuclear localization of β-catenin by interaction with transcription factor LEF-1. *Mechanisms of Development*, *59*(1), 3-10.
- Hughes, K., Ramakrishna, S., Benjamin, W. B., & Woodgett, J. R. (1992). Identification of multifunctional ATP-citrate lyase kinase as the alpha-isoform of glycogen synthase kinase-3. *The Biochemical Journal*, 288 (*Pt 1*)(Pt 1), 309-314.
- Ikeda, S., Kishida, M., Matsuura, Y., Usui, H., & Kikuchi, A. (2000). GSK-3beta-dependent phosphorylation of adenomatous polyposis coli gene product can be modulated by betacatenin and protein phosphatase 2A complexed with axin. Oncogene, 19(4), 537-545. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1203359 [doi]
- Ikeda, S., Kishida, S., Yamamoto, H., Murai, H., Koyama, S., & Kikuchi, A. (1998). Axin, a negative regulator of the wnt signaling pathway, forms a complex with GSK-3beta and betacatenin and promotes GSK-3beta-dependent phosphorylation of beta-catenin. *The EMBO Journal*, 17(5), 1371-1384. doi:10.1093/emboj/17.5.1371 [doi]
- Ilouz, R., Kaidanovich, O., Gurwitz, D., & Eldar-Finkelman, H. (2002). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta by bivalent zinc ions: Insight into the insulin-mimetic action of zinc. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 295(1), 102-106. doi:S0006-291X(02)00636-8 [pii]
- Imahori, K., & Uchida, T. (1997). Physiology and pathology of tau protein kinases in relation to alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Biochemistry*, *121*(2), 179-188.
- Ingham, P. W., & McMahon, A. P. (2001). Hedgehog signaling in animal development: Paradigms and principles. *Genes & Development*, 15(23), 3059-3087. doi:10.1101/gad.938601 [doi]
- Itoh, K., Krupnik, V. E., & Sokol, S. Y. (1998). Axis determination in xenopus involves biochemical interactions of axin, glycogen synthase kinase 3 and  $\beta$ -catenin. *Current Biology*, 8(10), 591-594.
- Jamieson, C., Sharma, M., & Henderson, B. R. (2011). Regulation of β-Catenin nuclear dynamics by GSK-3β involves a LEF-1 positive feedback loop. *Traffic*, *12*(8), 983-999.
- Jia, L., Osada, M., Ishioka, C., Gamo, M., Ikawa, S., Suzuki, T., . . . Akiyama, M. (1997). Screening the p53 status of human cell lines using a yeast functional assay. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 19(4), 243-253.

- Jia, J., Amanai, K., Wang, G., Tang, J., Wang, B., & Jiang, J. (2002). Shaggy/GSK3 antagonizes hedgehog signalling by regulating cubitus interruptus. *Nature*, 416(6880), 548-552. doi:10.1038/nature733 [doi]
- Jiang, J., & Struhl, G. (1995). Protein kinase A and hedgehog signaling in drosophila limb development. *Cell*, 80(4), 563-572.
- Jonkers, J., Korswagen, H. C., Acton, D., Breuer, M., & Berns, A. (1997). Activation of a novel proto-oncogene, Frat1, contributes to progression of mouse T-cell lymphomas. *The EMBO Journal*, 16(3), 441-450. doi:10.1093/emboj/16.3.441 [doi]
- Jope, R. S. (2003). Lithium and GSK-3: One inhibitor, two inhibitory actions, multiple outcomes. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 24(9), 441-443. doi:S0165-6147(03)00206-2 [pii]
- Kao, K. R., Masui, Y., & Elinson, R. P. (1986). Lithium-induced respecification of pattern in xenopus laevis embryos.
- Keeney, S., Chang, G. J., & Linn, S. (1993). Characterization of a human DNA damage binding protein implicated in xeroderma pigmentosum E. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(28), 21293-21300.
- Keshava, N., Zhou, G., Spruill, M., Ensell, M., & Ong, T. (2001). Carcinogenic potential and genomic instability of beryllium sulphate in BALB/c-3T3 cells. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 222(1-2), 69-76.
- Kikuchi, A. (1999). Roles of axin in the wnt signalling pathway. *Cellular Signalling*, 11(11), 777-788.
- Kikuchi, A., Kishida, S., & Yamamoto, H. (2006). Regulation of wnt signaling by protein-protein interaction and post-translational modifications. *Experimental and Molecular Medicine*, 38(1), 1.
- Kim, N. H., Kim, H. S., Kim, N. G., Lee, I., Choi, H. S., Li, X. Y., . . . Weiss, S. J. (2011). p53 and microRNA-34 are suppressors of canonical wnt signaling. *Science Signaling*, 4(197), ra71. doi:10.1126/scisignal.2001744 [doi]
- Kimelman, D., & Xu, W. (2006). β-Catenin destruction complex: Insights and questions from a structural perspective. Oncogene, 25(57), 7482-7491.
- Kinzler, K. W., & Vogelstein, B. (1996). Lessons from hereditary colorectal cancer. *Cell*, 87(2), 159-170. doi:S0092-8674(00)81333-1 [pii]
- Kitagawa, M., Hatakeyama, S., Shirane, M., Matsumoto, M., Ishida, N., Hattori, K., . . . Nakayama, K. (1999). An F-box protein, FWD1, mediates ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis of β-catenin. *The EMBO Journal*, *18*(9), 2401-2410.
- Klein, P. S., & Melton, D. A. (1996). A molecular mechanism for the effect of lithium on development. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 93(16), 8455-8459.

- Knockaert, M., Wieking, K., Schmitt, S., Leost, M., Grant, K. M., Mottram, J. C., . . . Meijer, L. (2002). Intracellular targets of paullones. identification following affinity purification on immobilized inhibitor. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(28), 25493-25501. doi:10.1074/jbc.M202651200 [doi]
- Krause, U., Bertrand, L., Maisin, L., Rosa, M., & Hue, L. (2002). Signalling pathways and combinatory effects of insulin and amino acids in isolated rat hepatocytes. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, 269(15), 3742-3750.
- Krylova, O., Messenger, M. J., & Salinas, P. C. (2000). Dishevelled-1 regulates microtubule stability: A new function mediated by glycogen synthase kinase-3beta. *The Journal of Cell Biology*, 151(1), 83-94.
- Kulikov, R., Boehme, K. A., & Blattner, C. (2005). Glycogen synthase kinase 3-dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 regulates p53 abundance. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 25(16), 7170-7180. doi:25/16/7170 [pii]
- Latres, E., Chiaur, D. S., & Pagano, M. (1999). The human F box protein beta-trcp associates with the Cul1/Skp1 complex and regulates the stability of beta-catenin. *Oncogene*, *18*(4), 849-854. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202653 [doi]
- Lavastre, V., Roberge, C. J., Pelletier, M., Gauthier, M., & Girard, D. (2002). Toxaphene, but not beryllium, induces human neutrophil chemotaxis and apoptosis via reactive oxygen species (ROS): Involvement of caspases and ROS in the degradation of cytoskeletal proteins. *Clinical Immunology*, 104(1), 40-48.
- Lawrence, J. C., Jr, & Roach, P. J. (1997). New insights into the role and mechanism of glycogen synthase activation by insulin. *Diabetes*, 46(4), 541-547.
- Leclerc, S., Garnier, M., Hoessel, R., Marko, D., Bibb, J. A., Snyder, G. L., ... Meijer, L. (2001). Indirubins inhibit glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta and CDK5/p25, two protein kinases involved in abnormal tau phosphorylation in alzheimer's disease. A property common to most cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors? *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(1), 251-260. doi:10.1074/jbc.M002466200 [doi]
- Lee, D. H., & Goldberg, A. L. (1998). Proteasome inhibitors: Valuable new tools for cell biologists. *Trends in Cell Biology*, 8(10), 397-403. doi:S0962-8924(98)01346-4 [pii]
- Lehnert, N. M., Gary, R. K., Marrone, B. L., & Lehnert, B. E. (2001). Inhibition of normal human lung fibroblast growth by beryllium. *Toxicology*, *160*(1-3), 119-127. doi:S0300483X0000439X [pii]
- Leost, M., Schultz, C., Link, A., Wu, Y. Z., Biernat, J., Mandelkow, E. M., . . . Meijer, L. (2000). Paullones are potent inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta and cyclin-dependent kinase 5/p25. *European Journal of Biochemistry / FEBS*, 267(19), 5983-5994. doi:ejb1673 [pii]
- Levina, E., Oren, M., & Ben-Ze'ev, A. (2004). Downregulation of beta-catenin by p53 involves changes in the rate of beta-catenin phosphorylation and axin dynamics. *Oncogene*, 23(25), 4444-4453. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1207587 [doi]

- Li, L., Kozlowski, K., Wegner, B., Rashid, T., Yeung, T., Holmes, C., & Ballermann, B. J. (2007). Phosphorylation of TIMAP by glycogen synthase kinase-3beta activates its associated protein phosphatase 1. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 282(35), 25960-25969. doi:M703532200 [pii]
- Li, L., Yuan, H., Weaver, C. D., Mao, J., Farr, G. H., 3rd, Sussman, D. J., . . . Wu, D. (1999). Axin and Frat1 interact with dvl and GSK, bridging dvl to GSK in wnt-mediated regulation of LEF-1. *The EMBO Journal*, *18*(15), 4233-4240. doi:10.1093/emboj/18.15.4233 [doi]
- Li, M., Wang, X., Meintzer, M. K., Laessig, T., Birnbaum, M. J., & Heidenreich, K. A. (2000). Cyclic AMP promotes neuronal survival by phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 20(24), 9356-9363.
- Li, X., Yost, H. J., Virshup, D. M., & Seeling, J. M. (2001). Protein phosphatase 2A and its B56 regulatory subunit inhibit wnt signaling in xenopus. *The EMBO Journal*, 20(15), 4122-4131. doi:10.1093/emboj/20.15.4122 [doi]
- Liberman, Z., & Eldar-Finkelman, H. (2005). Serine 332 phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrate-1 by glycogen synthase kinase-3 attenuates insulin signaling. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 280(6), 4422-4428. doi:M410610200 [pii]
- Liu, C. A., Lee, G., & Jay, D. G. (1999). Tau is required for neurite outgrowth and growth cone motility of chick sensory neurons. *Cell Motility and the Cytoskeleton*, 43(3), 232-242.
- Liu, C., Kato, Y., Zhang, Z., Do, V. M., Yankner, B. A., & He, X. (1999). Beta-trcp couples betacatenin phosphorylation-degradation and regulates xenopus axis formation. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(11), 6273-6278.
- Liu, W., Nichols, A. F., Graham, J. A., Dualan, R., Abbas, A., & Linn, S. (2000). Nuclear transport of human DDB protein induced by ultraviolet light. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(28), 21429-21434. doi:10.1074/jbc.M000961200 [doi]
- Lochhead, P. A., Coghlan, M., Rice, S. Q., & Sutherland, C. (2001). Inhibition of GSK-3 selectively reduces glucose-6-phosphatase and phosphatase and phosphoenolypyruvate carboxykinase gene expression. *Diabetes*, *50*(5), 937-946.
- Lu, S. Y., Huang, Z. M., Huang, W. K., Liu, X. Y., Chen, Y. Y., Shi, T., & Zhang, J. (2013). How calcium inhibits the magnesium-dependent kinase gsk3beta: A molecular simulation study. *Proteins*, 81(5), 740-753. doi:10.1002/prot.24221 [doi]
- Lum, L., Yao, S., Mozer, B., Rovescalli, A., Von Kessler, D., Nirenberg, M., & Beachy, P. A. (2003). Identification of hedgehog pathway components by RNAi in drosophila cultured cells. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 299(5615), 2039-2045. doi:10.1126/science.1081403 [doi]
- Lustig, B., & Behrens, J. (2003). The wnt signaling pathway and its role in tumor development. *Journal of Cancer Research and Clinical Oncology*, 129(4), 199-221. doi:10.1007/s00432-003-0431-0 [doi]

- MacAulay, K., Doble, B. W., Patel, S., Hansotia, T., Sinclair, E. M., Drucker, D. J., . . . Woodgett, J. R. (2007). Glycogen synthase kinase 3α-specific regulation of murine hepatic glycogen metabolism. *Cell Metabolism*, 6(4), 329-337.
- MacAulay, K., Hajduch, E., Blair, A. S., Coghlan, M. P., Smith, S. A., & Hundal, H. S. (2003). Use of lithium and SB-415286 to explore the role of glycogen synthase kinase-3 in the regulation of glucose transport and glycogen synthase. *European Journal of Biochemistry / FEBS*, 270(18), 3829-3838. doi:3777 [pii]
- MacDonald, B. T., Tamai, K., & He, X. (2009). Wnt/β-catenin signaling: Components, mechanisms, and diseases. *Developmental Cell*, 17(1), 9-26.
- Maguire, M. E., & Cowan, J. A. (2002). Magnesium chemistry and biochemistry. *Biometals*, 15(3), 203-210.
- Mann, B., Gelos, M., Siedow, A., Hanski, M. L., Gratchev, A., Ilyas, M., . . . Hanski, C. (1999). Target genes of beta-catenin-T cell-factor/lymphoid-enhancer-factor signaling in human colorectal carcinomas. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(4), 1603-1608.
- Manoukian, A. S., & Woodgett, J. R. (2002). Role of glycogen synthase kinase-3 in cancer: Regulation by wnts and other signaling pathways. *Advances in Cancer Research*, 84, 203-229.
- Marunaka, Y., & Niisato, N. (2003). H89, an inhibitor of protein kinase A (PKA), stimulates na transport by translocating an epithelial na channel (ENaC) in fetal rat alveolar type II epithelium. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 66(6), 1083-1089.
- McMahon, A. P., & Bradley, A. (1990). The wnt-1 (int-1) proto-oncogene is required for development of a large region of the mouse brain. *Cell*, 62(6), 1073-1085. doi:0092-8674(90)90385-R [pii]
- Meijer, L., Flajolet, M., & Greengard, P. (2004). Pharmacological inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase 3. *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences*, 25(9), 471-480.
- Meijer, L., Skaltsounis, A. L., Magiatis, P., Polychronopoulos, P., Knockaert, M., Leost, M., . . . Greengard, P. (2003). GSK-3-selective inhibitors derived from tyrian purple indirubins. *Chemistry & Biology*, 10(12), 1255-1266. doi:S1074552103002552 [pii]
- Meijer, L., Thunnissen, A. M., White, A. W., Garnier, M., Nikolic, M., Tsai, L. H., . . . Pettit, G. R. (2000). Inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinases, GSK-3beta and CK1 by hymenialdisine, a marine sponge constituent. *Chemistry & Biology*, 7(1), 51-63. doi:S1074-5521(00)00063-6 [pii]
- Metcalfe, C., & Bienz, M. (2011). Inhibition of GSK3 by wnt signalling--two contrasting models. *Journal of Cell Science*, 124(Pt 21), 3537-3544. doi:10.1242/jcs.091991 [doi]

- Méthot, N., & Basler, K. (1999). Hedgehog controls limb development by regulating the activities of distinct transcriptional activator and repressor forms of cubitus interruptus. *Cell*, 96(6), 819-831.
- Methot, N., & Basler, K. (2001). An absolute requirement for cubitus interruptus in hedgehog signaling. *Development (Cambridge, England), 128*(5), 733-742.
- Mettey, Y., Gompel, M., Thomas, V., Garnier, M., Leost, M., Ceballos-Picot, I., . . . Meijer, L. (2003). Aloisines, a new family of CDK/GSK-3 inhibitors. SAR study, crystal structure in complex with CDK2, enzyme selectivity, and cellular effects. *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 46(2), 222-236. doi:10.1021/jm020319p [doi]
- Miller, J. R., & Moon, R. T. (1996). Signal transduction through beta-catenin and specification of cell fate during embryogenesis. *Genes & Development*, 10(20), 2527-2539.
- Milos, M., Schaer, J., Comte, M., & Cox, J. A. (1989). Evidence for four capital and six auxiliary cation-binding sites on calmodulin: Divalent cation interactions monitored by direct binding and microcalorimetry. *Journal of Inorganic Biochemistry*, 36(1), 11-25.
- Mirzayans, R., Scott, A., Cameron, M., & Murray, D. (2005). Induction of accelerated senescence by γ radiation in human solid tumor-derived cell lines expressing wild-type TP53. *Radiation Research*, *163*(1), 53-62.
- Miyashita, K., Nakada, M., Shakoori, A., Ishigaki, Y., Shimasaki, T., Motoo, Y., . . . Minamoto, T. (2009). An emerging strategy for cancer treatment targeting aberrant glycogen synthase kinase 3β. Anti-Cancer Agents in Medicinal Chemistry (Formerly Current Medicinal Chemistry-Anti-Cancer Agents), 9(10), 1114-1122.
- Molenaar, M., van de Wetering, M., Oosterwegel, M., Peterson-Maduro, J., Godsave, S., Korinek, V., . . . Clevers, H. (1996). XTcf-3 transcription factor mediates β-catenin-induced axis formation in xenopus embryos. *Cell*, 86(3), 391-399.
- Moomaw, A. S., & Maguire, M. E. (2008). The unique nature of mg2+ channels. *Physiology* (*Bethesda, Md.*), 23, 275-285. doi:10.1152/physiol.00019.2008 [doi]
- Moon, R. T., Brown, J. D., & Torres, M. (1997). WNTs modulate cell fate and behavior during vertebrate development. *Trends in Genetics*, 13(4), 157-162.
- Mora, A., Sabio, G., Risco, A. M., Cuenda, A., Alonso, J. C., Soler, G., & Centeno, F. (2002). Lithium blocks the PKB and GSK3 dephosphorylation induced by ceramide through protein phosphatase-2A. *Cellular Signalling*, 14(6), 557-562. doi:S0898656801002820 [pii]
- Morin, P. J. (1999). Beta-catenin signaling and cancer. BioEssays : News and Reviews in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology, 21(12), 1021-1030. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1521-1878(199912)22:1<1021::AID-BIES6>3.0.CO;2-P [pii]
- Morton, S., Davis, R. J., McLaren, A., & Cohen, P. (2003). A reinvestigation of the multisite phosphorylation of the transcription factor c-jun. *The EMBO Journal*, 22(15), 3876-3886. doi:10.1093/emboj/cdg388 [doi]

- Mudireddy, S. R., Abdul, A. R., Gorjala, P., & Gary, R. K. (2014). Beryllium is an inhibitor of cellular GSK-3beta that is 1,000-fold more potent than lithium. *Biometals : An International Journal on the Role of Metal Ions in Biology, Biochemistry, and Medicine, 27*(6), 1203-1216. doi:10.1007/s10534-014-9783-y [doi]
- Murone, M., Rosenthal, A., & de Sauvage, F. J. (1999). Hedgehog signal transduction: From flies to vertebrates. *Experimental Cell Research*, 253(1), 25-33.
- Nakayama, S., & Kretsinger, R. H. (1994). Evolution of the EF-hand family of proteins. Annual Review of Biophysics and Biomolecular Structure, 23(1), 473-507.
- Niewiadomski, P., Kong, J. H., Ahrends, R., Ma, Y., Humke, E. W., Khan, S., . . . Rohatgi, R. (2014). Gli protein activity is controlled by multisite phosphorylation in vertebrate hedgehog signaling. *Cell Reports*, *6*(1), 168-181.
- Nigro, J. M., Baker, S. J., Preisinger, A. C., Jessup, J. M., Hosteller, R., Cleary, K., . . . Devilee, P. (1989). Mutations in the p53 gene occur in diverse human tumour types. *Nature*, 342(6250), 705-708.
- Nikolakaki, E., Coffer, P. J., Hemelsoet, R., Woodgett, J. R., & Defize, L. H. (1993). Glycogen synthase kinase 3 phosphorylates jun family members in vitro and negatively regulates their transactivating potential in intact cells. *Oncogene*, *8*(4), 833-840.
- Nikoulina, S. E., Ciaraldi, T. P., Mudaliar, S., Mohideen, P., Carter, L., & Henry, R. R. (2000). Potential role of glycogen synthase kinase-3 in skeletal muscle insulin resistance of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, 49(2), 263-271.
- Nikula, K. J., Swafford, D. S., Hoover, M. D., Tohulka, M. D., & Finch, G. L. (1997). Chronic granulomatous pneumonia and lymphocytic responses induced by inhaled beryllium metal in A/J and C3H/HeJ mice. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 25(1), 2-12.
- Niles, A. L., Moravec, R. A., Hesselberth, P. E., Scurria, M. A., Daily, W. J., & Riss, T. L. (2007). A homogeneous assay to measure live and dead cells in the same sample by detecting different protease markers. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 366(2), 197-206.
- Noordhuis, M. G., Fehrmann, R. S., Wisman, G. B., Nijhuis, E. R., van Zanden, J. J., Moerland, P. D., . . . Schuuring, E. (2011). Involvement of the TGF-beta and beta-catenin pathways in pelvic lymph node metastasis in early-stage cervical cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research : An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research, 17*(6), 1317-1330. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-2320 [doi]
- Nuttall, F. Q., Gannon, M. C., Bai, G., & Lee, E. Y. (1994). Primary structure of human liver glycogen synthase deduced by cDNA cloning. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 311(2), 443-449.
- Oren, M. (2003). Decision making by p53: Life, death and cancer. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 10(4), 431-442. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4401183 [doi]

- Oren, M., Damalas, A., Gottlieb, T., Michael, D., Taplick, J., Leal, J. F., . . . Ben-Ze'ev, A. (2002). Regulation of p53: Intricate loops and delicate balances. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 64(5-6), 865-871. doi:S0006295202011498 [pii]
- Orena, S. J., Torchia, A. J., & Garofalo, R. S. (2000). Inhibition of glycogen-synthase kinase 3 stimulates glycogen synthase and glucose transport by distinct mechanisms in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(21), 15765-15772. doi:10.1074/jbc.M910002199 [doi]
- Orford, K., Crockett, C., Jensen, J. P., Weissman, A. M., & Byers, S. W. (1997). Serine phosphorylation-regulated ubiquitination and degradation of beta-catenin. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(40), 24735-24738.
- Ozawa, T., Sasaki, K., & Umezawa, Y. (1999). Metal ion selectivity for formation of the calmodulin-metal-target peptide ternary complex studied by surface plasmon resonance spectroscopy. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Protein Structure and Molecular Enzymology*, 1434(2), 211-220.
- Palty, R., Ohana, E., Hershfinkel, M., Volokita, M., Elgazar, V., Beharier, O., . . . Sekler, I. (2004). Lithium-calcium exchange is mediated by a distinct potassium-independent sodiumcalcium exchanger. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(24), 25234-25240. doi:10.1074/jbc.M401229200 [doi]
- Park, C. H., Lee, B. H., Ahn, S. G., Yoon, J. H., & Oh, S. H. (2013). Serine 9 and tyrosine 216 phosphorylation of GSK-3beta differentially regulates autophagy in acquired cadmium resistance. *Toxicological Sciences : An Official Journal of the Society of Toxicology*, 135(2), 380-389. doi:10.1093/toxsci/kft158 [doi]
- Parker, P. J., Caudwell, F. B., & Cohen, P. (1983). Glycogen synthase from rabbit skeletal muscle; effect of insulin on the state of phosphorylation of the seven phosphoserine residues in vivo. *European Journal of Biochemistry / FEBS*, 130(1), 227-234.
- Patapoutian, A., & Reichardt, L. F. (2000). Roles of wnt proteins in neural development and maintenance. *Current Opinion in Neurobiology*, 10(3), 392-399. doi:S0959-4388(00)00100-8 [pii]
- Patel, S., Doble, B., & Woodgett, J. R. (2004). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 in insulin and wnt signalling: A double-edged sword? *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 32(Pt 5), 803-808. doi:BST0320803 [pii]
- Pei, J. J., Braak, E., Braak, H., Grundke-Iqbal, I., Iqbal, K., Winblad, B., & Cowburn, R. F. (1999). Distribution of active glycogen synthase kinase 3beta (GSK-3beta) in brains staged for alzheimer disease neurofibrillary changes. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 58(9), 1010-1019.
- Pei, J. J., Tanaka, T., Tung, Y. C., Braak, E., Iqbal, K., & Grundke-Iqbal, I. (1997). Distribution, levels, and activity of glycogen synthase kinase-3 in the alzheimer disease brain. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 56(1), 70-78.

- Peifer, M., Pai, L., & Casey, M. (1994). Phosphorylation of the drosophila adherens junction protein armadillo: Roles for wingless signal and zeste-white 3 kinase. *Developmental Biology*, 166(2), 543-556.
- Peifer, M., & Polakis, P. (2000). Wnt signaling in oncogenesis and embryogenesis--a look outside the nucleus. Science (New York, N.Y.), 287(5458), 1606-1609.
- Peter, J. R., Anna, A., Thomas, D. H., & Vincent, S. T. (2012). Glycogen and its metabolism: Some new developments and old themes. *Biochemical Journal*, 441(3), 763-787.
- Petersen, O. H., Michalak, M., & Verkhratsky, A. (2005). Calcium signalling: Past, present and future. *Cell Calcium*, 38(3), 161-169.
- Picton, C., Woodgett, J., Hemmings, B., & Cohen, P. (1982). Multisite phosphorylation of glycogen synthase from rabbit skeletal muscle. phosphorylation of site 5 by glycogen synthase kinase-5 (casein kinase-II) is a prerequisite for phosphorylation of sites 3 by glycogen synthase kinase-3. *FEBS Letters*, 150(1), 191-196. doi:0014-5793(82)81332-X [pii]
- Pittet, P. A., Elbaze, G., Helm, L., & Merbach, A. E. (1990). Tetrasolventoberyllium (II): Highpressure evidence for a sterically controlled solvent-exchange mechanism crossover. *Inorganic Chemistry*, 29(10), 1936-1942.
- Plattner, F., Angelo, M., & Giese, K. P. (2006). The roles of cyclin-dependent kinase 5 and glycogen synthase kinase 3 in tau hyperphosphorylation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(35), 25457-25465. doi:M603469200 [pii]
- Plyte, S. E., Hughes, K., Nikolakaki, E., Pulverer, B. J., & Woodgett, J. R. (1992). Glycogen synthase kinase-3: Functions in oncogenesis and development. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, 1114(2-3), 147-162. doi:0304-419X(92)90012-N [pii]
- Polakis, P. (2000). Wnt signaling and cancer. Genes & Development, 14(15), 1837-1851.
- Prats, C., Helge, J. W., Nordby, P., Qvortrup, K., Ploug, T., Dela, F., & Wojtaszewski, J. F. (2009). Dual regulation of muscle glycogen synthase during exercise by activation and compartmentalization. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(23), 15692-15700. doi:10.1074/jbc.M900845200 [doi]
- Price, M. A., & Kalderon, D. (2002). Proteolysis of the hedgehog signaling effector cubitus interruptus requires phosphorylation by glycogen synthase kinase 3 and casein kinase 1. *Cell*, 108(6), 823-835. doi:S0092867402006645 [pii]
- Puisieux, A., & Magaud, J. P. (1999). Mechanisms of BTG2 activity, a transcriptional target of p53: Evidences and hypothesis. [Mecanismes d'action de BTG2, gene cible de p53: donnees acquises et hypotheses] *Bulletin Du Cancer*, 86(4), 358-364.
- Ratcliffe, M. J., Itoh, K., & Sokol, S. Y. (2000). A positive role for the PP2A catalytic subunit in wnt signal transduction. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 275(46), 35680-35683. doi:10.1074/jbc.C000639200 [doi]

- Ray, W. J., Jr, Szymanki, E. S., & Ng, L. (1978). The binding of lithium and of anionic metabolites to phosphoglucomutase. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta*, 522(2), 434-442.
- Rimm, D. L., Caca, K., Hu, G., Harrison, F. B., & Fearon, E. R. (1999). Frequent nuclear/cytoplasmic localization of beta-catenin without exon 3 mutations in malignant melanoma. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 154(2), 325-329. doi:S0002-9440(10)65278-9 [pii]
- Roach, P. J. (1990). Control of glycogen synthase by hierarchal protein phosphorylation. FASEB Journal : Official Publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology, 4(12), 2961-2968.
- Robles-Frias, A., Gonzalez-Campora, R., Martinez-Parra, D., Robles-Frias, M. J., Vazquez-Cerezuela, T., Otal-Salaverri, C., & Almeida-Gonzalez, C. (2006). Robinson cytologic grading in invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast: Correlation with E-cadherin and alpha-, beta- and gamma-catenin expression and regional lymph node metastasis. *Acta Cytologica*, 50(2), 151-157.
- Romani, A. (2007). Regulation of magnesium homeostasis and transport in mammalian cells. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, 458(1), 90-102.
- Romani, A. M., & Maguire, M. E. (2002). Hormonal regulation of Mg2 transport and homeostasis in eukaryotic cells. *Biometals*, 15(3), 271-283.
- Ros, S., Garcia-Rocha, M., Dominguez, J., Ferrer, J. C., & Guinovart, J. J. (2009). Control of liver glycogen synthase activity and intracellular distribution by phosphorylation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 284(10), 6370-6378. doi:10.1074/jbc.M808576200 [doi]
- Rossig, L., Badorff, C., Holzmann, Y., Zeiher, A. M., & Dimmeler, S. (2002). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 couples AKT-dependent signaling to the regulation of p21Cip1 degradation. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(12), 9684-9689. doi:10.1074/jbc.M106157200 [doi]
- Rouault, J. P., Falette, N., Guehenneux, F., Guillot, C., Rimokh, R., Wang, Q., . . . Puisieux, A. (1996). Identification of BTG2, an antiproliferative p53-dependent component of the DNA damage cellular response pathway. *Nature Genetics*, 14(4), 482-486. doi:10.1038/ng1296-482 [doi]
- Rubinfeld, B., Albert, I., Porfiri, E., Fiol, C., Munemitsu, S., & Polakis, P. (1996). Binding of GSK3beta to the APC-beta-catenin complex and regulation of complex assembly. *Science* (*New York*, *N.Y.*), 272(5264), 1023-1026.
- Rylatt, D. B., Aitken, A., Bilham, T., Condon, G. D., Embi, N., & Cohen, P. (1980). Glycogen synthase from rabbit skeletal muscle. amino acid sequence at the sites phosphorylated by glycogen synthase kinase-3, and extension of the N-terminal sequence containing the site phosphorylated by phosphorylase kinase. *European Journal of Biochemistry / FEBS*, 107(2), 529-537.
- Ryves, W. J., Dajani, R., Pearl, L., & Harwood, A. J. (2002). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 inhibition by lithium and beryllium suggests the presence of two magnesium binding sites.

*Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 290(3), 967-972. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2001.6305 [doi]

- Ryves, W. J., & Harwood, A. J. (2001). Lithium inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3 by competition for magnesium. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, 280(3), 720-725. doi:10.1006/bbrc.2000.4169 [doi]
- Sadot, E., Conacci-Sorrell, M., Zhurinsky, J., Shnizer, D., Lando, Z., Zharhary, D., . . . Geiger, B. (2002). Regulation of S33/S37 phosphorylated beta-catenin in normal and transformed cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, 115(Pt 13), 2771-2780.
- Sadot, E., Conacci-Sorrell, M., Zhurinsky, J., Shnizer, D., Lando, Z., Zharhary, D., . . . Geiger, B. (2002). Regulation of S33/S37 phosphorylated beta-catenin in normal and transformed cells. *Journal of Cell Science*, 115(Pt 13), 2771-2780.
- Sadot, E., Geiger, B., Oren, M., & Ben-Ze'ev, A. (2001). Down-regulation of beta-catenin by activated p53. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 21(20), 6768-6781. doi:10.1128/MCB.21.20.6768-6781.2001 [doi]
- Saito, Y., Vandenheede, J., & Cohen, P. (1994). The mechanism by which epidermal growth factor inhibits glycogen synthase kinase 3 in A431 cells. *Biochem.J*, 303, 27-31.
- Saksela, K., Makela, T. P., Hughes, K., Woodgett, J. R., & Alitalo, K. (1992). Activation of protein kinase C increases phosphorylation of the L-myc trans-activator domain at a GSK-3 target site. *Oncogene*, 7(2), 347-353.
- Salic, A., Lee, E., Mayer, L., & Kirschner, M. W. (2000). Control of β-catenin stability: Reconstitution of the cytoplasmic steps of the wnt pathway in xenopus egg extracts. *Molecular Cell*, 5(3), 523-532.
- Schepers, G. (1961). Neoplasia experimentally induced by beryllium compounds. *Progr.Exptl.Tumor Res.*, 2
- Schlingmann, K. P., & Gudermann, T. (2005). A critical role of TRPM channel-kinase for human magnesium transport. *The Journal of Physiology*, *566*(2), 301-308.
- Schlingmann, K. P., Weber, S., Peters, M., Nejsum, L. N., Vitzthum, H., Klingel, K., . . . Dinour, D. (2002). Hypomagnesemia with secondary hypocalcemia is caused by mutations in TRPM6, a new member of the TRPM gene family. *Nature Genetics*, 31(2), 166-170.
- Schmitz, C., Perraud, A., Johnson, C. O., Inabe, K., Smith, M. K., Penner, R., . . . Scharenberg, A. M. (2003). Regulation of vertebrate cellular mg 2 homeostasis by TRPM7. *Cell*, 114(2), 191-200.
- Sears, R., Nuckolls, F., Haura, E., Taya, Y., Tamai, K., & Nevins, J. R. (2000). Multiple rasdependent phosphorylation pathways regulate myc protein stability. *Genes & Development*, 14(19), 2501-2514.

- Seeling, J. M., Miller, J. R., Gil, R., Moon, R. T., White, R., & Virshup, D. M. (1999). Regulation of beta-catenin signaling by the B56 subunit of protein phosphatase 2A. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 283(5410), 2089-2091.
- Seidensticker, M. J., & Behrens, J. (2000). Biochemical interactions in the wnt pathway. *Biochimica Et Biophysica Acta, 1495*(2), 168-182. doi:S0167-4889(99)00158-5 [pii]
- Sharpe, C., Lawrence, N., & Martinez Arias, A. (2001). Wnt signalling: A theme with nuclear variations. *BioEssays : News and Reviews in Molecular, Cellular and Developmental Biology*, 23(4), 311-318. doi:10.1002/bies.1045 [pii]
- Shaw, M., Cohen, P., & Alessi, D. R. (1997). Further evidence that the inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta by IGF-1 is mediated by PDK1/PKB-induced phosphorylation of ser-9 and not by dephosphorylation of tyr-216. *FEBS Letters*, 416(3), 307-311. doi:S0014-5793(97)01235-0 [pii]
- Shtutman, M., Zhurinsky, J., Simcha, I., Albanese, C., D'Amico, M., Pestell, R., & Ben-Ze'ev, A. (1999). The cyclin D1 gene is a target of the beta-catenin/LEF-1 pathway. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 96(10), 5522-5527.
- Siegfried, E., Chou, T., & Perrimon, N. (1992). Wingless signaling acts through zeste-white 3, the drosophila homolog of glycogen synthase kinase-3, to regulate engrailed and establish cell fate. *Cell*, *71*(7), 1167-1179.
- Siemens, H., Neumann, J., Jackstadt, R., Mansmann, U., Horst, D., Kirchner, T., & Hermeking, H. (2013). Detection of miR-34a promoter methylation in combination with elevated expression of c-met and beta-catenin predicts distant metastasis of colon cancer. *Clinical Cancer Research : An Official Journal of the American Association for Cancer Research*, 19(3), 710-720. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-1703 [doi]
- Skurat, A. V., & Dietrich, A. D. (2004). Phosphorylation of Ser640 in muscle glycogen synthase by DYRK family protein kinases. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(4), 2490-2498. doi:10.1074/jbc.M301769200 [doi]
- Skurat, A. V., Wang, Y., & Roach, P. J. (1994). Rabbit skeletal muscle glycogen synthase expressed in COS cells. identification of regulatory phosphorylation sites. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269(41), 25534-25542.
- Skurk, C., Maatz, H., Rocnik, E., Bialik, A., Force, T., & Walsh, K. (2005). Glycogen-synthase Kinase3beta/beta-catenin axis promotes angiogenesis through activation of vascular endothelial growth factor signaling in endothelial cells. *Circulation Research*, 96(3), 308-318. doi:01.RES.0000156273.30274.f7 [pii]
- Smalley, M. J., & Dale, T. C. (1999). Wnt signalling in mammalian development and cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Reviews*, 18(2), 215-230.
- Smith, D. G., Buffet, M., Fenwick, A. E., Haigh, D., Ife, R. J., Saunders, M., . . . Ward, R. W. (2001). 3-anilino-4-arylmaleimides: Potent and selective inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3). *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry Letters*, 11(5), 635-639. doi:S0960894X00007216 [pii]

- Smith, R. L., Kaczmarek, M. T., Kucharski, L. M., & Maguire, M. E. (1998). Magnesium transport in salmonella typhimurium: Regulation of mgtA and mgtCB during invasion of epithelial and macrophage cells. *Microbiology (Reading, England)*, 144 (Pt 7)(Pt 7), 1835-1843.
- Smith, R. L., Thompson, L. J., & Maguire, M. E. (1995). Cloning and characterization of MgtE, a putative new class of Mg2+ transporter from bacillus firmus OF4. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 177(5), 1233-1238.
- Smith, S. A., Cawthorne, M. A., Levy, A. L., & Simson, D. L. (1983). Defective activation by glucose of hepatic glycogen synthesis in the obese hyperglycaemic mouse. *The Biochemical Journal*, 216(2), 491-494.
- Snavely, M. D., Miller, C. G., & Maguire, M. E. (1991). The mgtB Mg2+ transport locus of salmonella typhimurium encodes a P-type ATPase. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266(2), 815-823.
- Soutar, M. P., Kim, W. Y., Williamson, R., Peggie, M., Hastie, C. J., McLauchlan, H., . . . Sutherland, C. (2010). Evidence that glycogen synthase kinase-3 isoforms have distinct substrate preference in the brain. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 115(4), 974-983. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2010.06988.x [doi]
- Staal, F. J., Noort Mv, M., Strous, G. J., & Clevers, H. C. (2002). Wnt signals are transmitted through N-terminally dephosphorylated beta-catenin. *EMBO Reports*, 3(1), 63-68. doi:10.1093/embo-reports/kvf002 [doi]
- Stambolic, V., & Woodgett, J. R. (1994). Mitogen inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta in intact cells via serine 9 phosphorylation. *Biochem.J*, 303, 701-704.
- Stambolic, V., Ruel, L., & Woodgett, J. R. (1996). Lithium inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity and mimics wingless signalling in intact cells. *Current Biology : CB*, 6(12), 1664-1668. doi:S0960-9822(02)70790-2 [pii]
- Stevens, F. C. (1983). Calmodulin: An introduction. Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology, 61(8), 906-910.
- Strupp, C. (2011). Beryllium metal I. experimental results on acute oral toxicity, local skin and eye effects, and genotoxicity. *The Annals of Occupational Hygiene*, 55(1), 30-42. doi:10.1093/annhyg/meq071 [doi]
- Su, Y., Fu, C., Ishikawa, S., Stella, A., Kojima, M., Shitoh, K., . . . Liu, B. (2008). APC is essential for targeting phosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin to the SCF  $\beta$ -TrCP ubiquitin ligase. *Molecular Cell*, 32(5), 652-661.
- Summers, S. A., Kao, A. W., Kohn, A. D., Backus, G. S., Roth, R. A., Pessin, J. E., & Birnbaum, M. J. (1999). The role of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta in insulin-stimulated glucose metabolism. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(25), 17934-17940.

- Sutherland, C. (2011). What are the bona fide GSK3 substrates? *International Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 2011, 505607. doi:10.4061/2011/505607 [doi]
- Sutherland, C., & Cohen, P. (1994). The alpha-isoform of glycogen synthase kinase-3 from rabbit skeletal muscle is inactivated by p70 S6 kinase or MAP kinase-activated protein kinase-1 in vitro. FEBS Letters, 338(1), 37-42. doi:0014-5793(94)80112-6 [pii]
- Tabata, I., Schluter, J., Gulve, E. A., & Holloszy, J. O. (1994). Lithium increases susceptibility of muscle glucose transport to stimulation by various agents. *Diabetes*, 43(7), 903-907.
- Tanji, C., Yamamoto, H., Yorioka, N., Kohno, N., Kikuchi, K., & Kikuchi, A. (2002). A-kinase anchoring protein AKAP220 binds to glycogen synthase kinase-3beta (GSK-3beta) and mediates protein kinase A-dependent inhibition of GSK-3beta. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(40), 36955-36961. doi:10.1074/jbc.M206210200 [doi]
- Tasdemir, D., Mallon, R., Greenstein, M., Feldberg, L. R., Kim, S. C., Collins, K., . . . Ireland, C. M. (2002). Aldisine alkaloids from the philippine sponge stylissa massa are potent inhibitors of mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase-1 (MEK-1). *Journal of Medicinal Chemistry*, 45(2), 529-532. doi:jm0102856 [pii]
- Terruzzi, I., Allibardi, S., Bendinelli, P., Maroni, P., Piccoletti, R., Vesco, F., . . . Luzi, L. (2002). Amino acid-and lipid-induced insulin resistance in rat heart: Molecular mechanisms. *Molecular and Cellular Endocrinology*, 190(1), 135-145.
- Tetsu, O., & McCormick, F. (1999). Beta-catenin regulates expression of cyclin D1 in colon carcinoma cells. *Nature*, *398*(6726), 422-426. doi:10.1038/18884 [doi]
- Thakur, R., & Mishra, D. P. (2013). Pharmacological modulation of beta-catenin and its applications in cancer therapy. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine*, *17*(4), 449-456. doi:10.1111/jcmm.12033 [doi]
- Thomas, G. M., Frame, S., Goedert, M., Nathke, I., Polakis, P., & Cohen, P. (1999). A GSK3binding peptide from FRAT1 selectively inhibits the GSK3-catalysed phosphorylation of axin and beta-catenin. *FEBS Letters*, 458(2), 247-251. doi:S0014-5793(99)01161-8 [pii]
- Thornton, C. S. (1949). Beryllium inhibition of regeneration. I. morphological effects of beryllium on amputated fore limbs of larval amblystoma. *Journal of Morphology*, 84(3), 459-493.
- Thotala, D. K., Hallahan, D. E., & Yazlovitskaya, E. M. (2008). Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta attenuates neurocognitive dysfunction resulting from cranial irradiation. *Cancer Research*, *68*(14), 5859-5868. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-6327 [doi]
- Turenne, G. A., & Price, B. D. (2001). Glycogen synthase kinase3 beta phosphorylates serine 33 of p53 and activates p53's transcriptional activity. *BMC Cell Biology*, *2*, 12.
- Valenta, T., Hausmann, G., & Basler, K. (2012). The many faces and functions of beta-catenin. *The EMBO Journal*, *31*(12), 2714-2736. doi:10.1038/emboj.2012.150 [doi]

- Van Meir, E. G., Polverini, P. J., Chazin, V. R., Huang, H. S., de Tribolet, N., & Cavenee, W. K. (1994). Release of an inhibitor of angiogenesis upon induction of wild type p53 expression in glioblastoma cells. *Nature Genetics*, 8(2), 171-176.
- van Noort, M., Meeldijk, J., van der Zee, R., Destree, O., & Clevers, H. (2002). Wnt signaling controls the phosphorylation status of beta-catenin. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(20), 17901-17905. doi:10.1074/jbc.M111635200 [doi]
- Viatour, P., Dejardin, E., Warnier, M., Lair, F., Claudio, E., Bureau, F., . . . Chariot, A. (2004). GSK3-mediated BCL-3 phosphorylation modulates its degradation and its oncogenicity. *Molecular Cell*, 16(1), 35-45. doi:S1097276504005222 [pii]
- Von Ohlen, T., Lessing, D., Nusse, R., & Hooper, J. E. (1997). Hedgehog signaling regulates transcription through cubitus interruptus, a sequence-specific DNA binding protein. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(6), 2404-2409.
- Wagoner, J. K., Infante, P. F., & Bayliss, D. L. (1980). Beryllium: An etiologic agent in the induction of lung cancer, nonneoplastic respiratory disease, and heart disease among industrially exposed workers. *Environmental Research*, 21(1), 15-34.
- Wakasugi, M., Kawashima, A., Morioka, H., Linn, S., Sancar, A., Mori, T., . . . Matsunaga, T. (2002). DDB accumulates at DNA damage sites immediately after UV irradiation and directly stimulates nucleotide excision repair. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 277(3), 1637-1640. doi:10.1074/jbc.C100610200 [doi]
- Wang, H., & MacNaughton, W. K. (2005). Overexpressed beta-catenin blocks nitric oxideinduced apoptosis in colonic cancer cells. *Cancer Research*, 65(19), 8604-8607. doi:65/19/8604 [pii]
- Wang, J. S., Wang, C. L., Wen, J. F., Wang, Y. J., Hu, Y. B., & Ren, H. Z. (2008). Lithium inhibits proliferation of human esophageal cancer cell line eca-109 by inducing a G2/M cell cycle arrest. World Journal of Gastroenterology : WJG, 14(25), 3982-3989.
- Wasielewski, M., Elstrodt, F., Klijn, J. G., Berns, E. M., & Schutte, M. (2006). Thirteen new p53 gene mutants identified among 41 human breast cancer cell lines. *Breast Cancer Research* and Treatment, 99(1), 97-101.
- Watcharasit, P., Bijur, G. N., Song, L., Zhu, J., Chen, X., & Jope, R. S. (2003). Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta (GSK3beta) binds to and promotes the actions of p53. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(49), 48872-48879. doi:10.1074/jbc.M305870200 [doi]
- Welsh, G. I., & Proud, C. G. (1993). Glycogen synthase kinase-3 is rapidly inactivated in response to insulin and phosphorylates eukaryotic initiation factor eIF-2B. *The Biochemical Journal*, 294 (Pt 3), 625-629.
- Werness, B. A., Levine, A. J., & Howley, P. M. (1990). Association of human papillomavirus types 16 and 18 E6 proteins with p53. *Science (New York, N.Y.), 248*(4951), 76-79.

- Willert, K., Shibamoto, S., & Nusse, R. (1999). Wnt-induced dephosphorylation of axin releases beta-catenin from the axin complex. *Genes & Development*, 13(14), 1768-1773.
- Winkler, G. S. (2010). The mammalian anti-proliferative BTG/Tob protein family. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 222(1), 66-72.
- Winston, J. T., Strack, P., Beer-Romero, P., Chu, C. Y., Elledge, S. J., & Harper, J. W. (1999). The SCFbeta-TRCP-ubiquitin ligase complex associates specifically with phosphorylated destruction motifs in IkappaBalpha and beta-catenin and stimulates IkappaBalpha ubiquitination in vitro. *Genes & Development*, 13(3), 270-283.
- Winston, J. T., Strack, P., Beer-Romero, P., Chu, C. Y., Elledge, S. J., & Harper, J. W. (1999). The SCFbeta-TRCP-ubiquitin ligase complex associates specifically with phosphorylated destruction motifs in IkappaBalpha and beta-catenin and stimulates IkappaBalpha ubiquitination in vitro. *Genes & Development*, 13(3), 270-283.
- Wodarz, A., & Nusse, R. (1998). Mechanisms of wnt signaling in development. Annual Review of Cell and Developmental Biology, 14(1), 59-88.
- Woodgett, J. R. (1990). Molecular cloning and expression of glycogen synthase kinase-3/factor A. *The EMBO Journal*, *9*(8), 2431-2438.
- Woods, Y. L., Cohen, P., Becker, W., Jakes, R., Goedert, M., Wang, X., & Proud, C. G. (2001). The kinase DYRK phosphorylates protein-synthesis initiation factor eIF2Bepsilon at Ser539 and the microtubule-associated protein tau at Thr212: Potential role for DYRK as a glycogen synthase kinase 3-priming kinase. *The Biochemical Journal*, 355(Pt 3), 609-615.
- Woods, Y. L., Cohen, P., Becker, W., Jakes, R., Goedert, M., Wang, X., & Proud, C. G. (2001). The kinase DYRK phosphorylates protein-synthesis initiation factor eIF2Bepsilon at Ser539 and the microtubule-associated protein tau at Thr212: Potential role for DYRK as a glycogen synthase kinase 3-priming kinase. *The Biochemical Journal*, 355(Pt 3), 609-615.
- Xu, G. W., Mymryk, J. S., & Cairncross, J. G. (2005). Inactivation of p53 sensitizes astrocytic glioma cells to BCNU and temozolomide, but not cisplatin. *Journal of Neuro-Oncology*, 74(2), 141-149. doi:10.1007/s11060-004-6601-3 [doi]
- Yamaguchi, H., Ishiguro, K., Uchida, T., Takashima, A., Lemere, C. A., & Imahori, K. (1996). Preferential labeling of alzheimer neurofibrillary tangles with antisera for tau protein kinase (TPK) I/glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta and cyclin-dependent kinase 5, a component of TPK II. Acta Neuropathologica, 92(3), 232-241.
- Yamamoto, H., Kishida, S., Kishida, M., Ikeda, S., Takada, S., & Kikuchi, A. (1999). Phosphorylation of axin, a wnt signal negative regulator, by glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates its stability. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274(16), 10681-10684.
- Yamamoto, H., Kishida, S., Uochi, T., Ikeda, S., Koyama, S., Asashima, M., & Kikuchi, A. (1998). Axil, a member of the axin family, interacts with both glycogen synthase kinase 3beta and beta-catenin and inhibits axis formation of xenopus embryos. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 18(5), 2867-2875.

- Yang, J., Wu, J., Tan, C., & Klein, P. S. (2003). PP2A:B56epsilon is required for Wnt/betacatenin signaling during embryonic development. *Development (Cambridge, England)*, 130(23), 5569-5578. doi:10.1242/dev.00762 [doi]
- Yang, J., Zhang, W., Evans, P. M., Chen, X., He, X., & Liu, C. (2006). Adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) differentially regulates beta-catenin phosphorylation and ubiquitination in colon cancer cells. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 281(26), 17751-17757. doi:M600831200 [pii]
- Yang, S. D., Song, J. S., Yu, J. S., & Shiah, S. G. (1993). Protein kinase FA/GSK-3 phosphorylates tau on Ser235-pro and Ser404-pro that are abnormally phosphorylated in alzheimer's disease brain. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 61(5), 1742-1747.
- Yi, F., Sun, J., Lim, G. E., Fantus, I. G., Brubaker, P. L., & Jin, T. (2008). Cross talk between the insulin and wnt signaling pathways: Evidence from intestinal endocrine L cells. *Endocrinology*, 149(5), 2341-2351. doi:10.1210/en.2007-1142 [doi]
- Yokoyama, N., & Malbon, C. C. (2007). Phosphoprotein phosphatase-2A docks to dishevelled and counterregulates Wnt3a/beta-catenin signaling. *Journal of Molecular Signaling*, 2, 12. doi:1750-2187-2-12 [pii]
- York, J. D., Guo, S., Odom, A. R., Spiegelberg, B. D., & Stolz, L. E. (2001). An expanded view of inositol signaling. *Advances in Enzyme Regulation*, 41, 57-71. doi:S006525710000025X [pii]
- Yost, C., Farr, G. H., 3rd, Pierce, S. B., Ferkey, D. M., Chen, M. M., & Kimelman, D. (1998). GBP, an inhibitor of GSK-3, is implicated in xenopus development and oncogenesis. *Cell*, 93(6), 1031-1041. doi:S0092-8674(00)81208-8 [pii]
- Yost, C., Torres, M., Miller, J. R., Huang, E., Kimelman, D., & Moon, R. T. (1996). The axisinducing activity, stability, and subcellular distribution of beta-catenin is regulated in xenopus embryos by glycogen synthase kinase 3. *Genes & Development*, 10(12), 1443-1454.
- Zeng, L., Fagotto, F., Zhang, T., Hsu, W., Vasicek, T. J., Perry, W. L., . . . Costantini, F. (1997). The mouse fusedlocus encodes axin, an inhibitor of the wnt signaling pathway that regulates embryonic axis formation. *Cell*, *90*(1), 181-192.
- Zhang, F., Phiel, C. J., Spece, L., Gurvich, N., & Klein, P. S. (2003). Inhibitory phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 (GSK-3) in response to lithium. evidence for autoregulation of GSK-3. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(35), 33067-33077. doi:10.1074/jbc.M212635200 [doi]
- Zhang, W., DePaoli-Roach, A. A., & Roach, P. J. (1993). Mechanisms of multisite phosphorylation and inactivation of rabbit muscle glycogen synthase. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 304(1), 219-225. doi:S0003986183713421 [pii]

### **CURRICULUM VITAE**

**Graduate College** 

University of Nevada, Las Vegas

#### Ata ur Rahman Mohammed Abdul

# **Degrees:**

Bachelor of Science, Microbiology, Botany and Chemistry, 2001 Kakatiya University, India

Master of Science, Biotechnology, 2004 College of Science, Osmania University, India

### **Publications:**

**Abdul AR,** Gary RK, "Differential regulation of glycogen synthase and  $\beta$ -catenin by beryllium" (working title) (manuscript in preparation).

Mudireddy SR, Abdul AR, Gorjala P, Gary RK (2014) Beryllium is an inhibitor of cellular GSK-3 $\beta$  that is 1,000-fold more potent than lithium Biometals. 2014 Dec; 27(6):1203-16.

Goyal A, Saxena P, **Rahman A**, Singh PK, Kasbekar DP, Gokhale RS, Sankaranarayanan R. Structural insights into biosynthesis of resorcinolic lipids by a type III polyketide synthase in *Neurospora crassa*. J Struct Biol. 2008 Jun; 162(3):411-21

# **Dissertation Title:**

Beryllium is a potent and unique GSK-3 $\beta$  inhibitor with potential to differentially regulate glycogen synthase and  $\beta$ -catenin

### **Dissertation Examination Committee:**

Chairperson, Ronald K. Gary Ph.D Committee Member, Bryan L. Spangelo Ph.D Committee Member, Ernesto Abel-Santos Ph.D Committee Member, Balakirishnan Naduvalath Ph.D Graduate Faculty Representative, Helen Wing Ph.D